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vision

mission

values

Post Danmark’s vision is to become the
most excellent postal service provider in
Europe, i.e.:

Post Danmark’s mission is to provide basic
postal services to all customers in Denmark
– senders and recipients alike. These postal
services must be the best in Europe measured in terms of service level, quality and
price combined.

Post Danmark’s values are to be:

REVENUE 2007

NUMBER OF STAFF MEMBERS

by product

BY EMPLOYMENT AREA as a percentage, 2007

· to produce results at level with the best
· t o provide Europe’s best postal customer
services to all senders and recipients in
Denmark
· to make a profit from the letter segment –
despite a considerable decline in volumes
· t o successfully develop and provide new
customer services to senders and
recipients
· t o gain market shares in competing
markets
· t o develop the most skilled and
committed postal workforce in Europe.

· Trustworthy
· Competent
· Ready for change
· Adding value.

LETTERS, MONOPOLY
OTHER

OTHER

NEWSPAPERS ETC.
AND UNADDRESSED MAIL

PRIVATE CUSTOMERS (POST OFFICES)

PARCELS
LETTERS, COMPETITION

LETTER PRODUCTION
AND TRANSPORT
DISTRIBUTION (POSTMEN)

HIGHLIGHTS AND RATIOS

2007

2006

2005

2004

2003

11,718
(10,065)

11,462
(9,778)

11,295
(9,492)

10,648
(9,263)

1,653
(588)
1,065
168
(46)
1,187
(295)
892

1,684
(560)
1,124
(9)
(82)
1,033
(295)
738

1,803
(597)
1,206
(20)
(40)
1,146
(357)
789

1,385
(847)
538
(40)
(32)
466
(169)
297

14
9
34

15
10
30

16
11
36

13
5
15

AMOUNTS IN DKKM

INCOME STATEMENT
Income
12,082
Operating expenses
(10,636)
Profit before depreciation, amortisation and
impairment losses (EBITDA)
1,446
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses
(598)
Operating profit (EBIT)
848
Profits/(losses) of associates and joint ventures
88
Other financials
(35)
Profit before tax
901
Tax on profit for the year
(188)
Profit for the year
713
RATIOS
EBITDA margin, per cent
EBIT margin (Operating profit margin), per cent
Return on equity, per cent

12
7
26

The accounting figures for 2004, 2005, 2006 and 2007 have been calculated in accordance with IFRS, see the description in note 1. Comparative figures for 2003 are not restated to reflect
the changed accounting policies on transition to presentation of financial statements under IFRS but have been prepared in accordance with the previous accounting policies based on the
provisions of the Danish Financial Statements Act and the Danish accounting standards. If comparative figures for 2003 were to be calculated under IFRS, the most important adjustments
would concern the following:
Cessation of goodwill amortisation, reassessment of the residual values of property, plant and equipment and the depreciation basis, reclassification of properties to assets held for sale,
recognition and measurement of liabilities, including discounting of liabilities. The nature of the changes is described in detail in the Annual Report for 2005.
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PREFACE
2007 was a year of financial decline for Post
Danmark. Profit for the year after tax was DKK
713 million against the previous year’s record
profit of DKK 892 million. Adjusted for non-recurring terms, the decline in performance was
even larger. There are several reasons to account
for this; changes in regulatory conditions, volume falls and operational challenges in addition
to costs of an early retirement programme in the
Belgian De Post – La Poste, in which Post Danmark has a 25 per cent ownership interest. The
negative profit performance was not satisfactory
even though it was partially caused by activities
that will improve future earnings.
At the beginning of 2007, the Danish Government changed the subsidy scheme, under which
subsidies are paid for the distribution of daily
newspapers. Previously, Post Danmark received a
subsidy for each distributed daily newspaper under a special calculation model. In 2006, the total subsidy amounted to DKK 396 million. From
2007, the subsidy is paid directly to the publishers of daily newspapers. As a result of this
change of the subsidy scheme, a large number
of publishers took over distribution themselves,
causing Post Danmark to suffer a substantial loss
of volume and revenue.
In 2007, the labour market was dominated by
an increasingly difficult recruitment environ-

ment, with growing staff turnover and sick absence rates. As a result, operational challenges
increased, leading to delays in planned efficiency
improvements. Lastly, the renewal of collective
agreements and the labour market situation resulted in higher pay rises than expected. Overall,
the result was higher expenses.
In response to the stagnant revenue and the rising expenses, Post Danmark initiated a series of
actions. The effect of these actions was established already in the second half of 2007.
For many years, the Danish market for postal
services – i.e. distribution of letters, parcels, magazines etc. – has been undergoing liberalisation,
and more than two-thirds of Post Danmark’s revenue is already generated in open competition.
All that remains of the original monopoly is the
distribution of letters weighing up to 50 grams.
As a result, competition is heavy – especially for
parcels, unaddressed mail and magazine mail
where both international and national enterprises are already established. In 2007, Norway Post
set up a new distribution business in the letters
market, which commenced distribution of letters
and magazine mail from major senders, who can
undertake parts of the sorting work themselves.
As this new business only offers distribution in
densely populated areas a limited number of
days a week, leaving the most costly part of the
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FRITZ H. SCHUR, CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

distribution to Post Danmark, an apparently attractive pricing is offered in subareas.
When competition gets stronger and stronger –
especially for major customers – it also means
that any imbalance between prices and expenses
will be utilised. In 2007, respecting the present
concession, Post Danmark announced the introduction of a new business letter service which
offers a reduced service level to senders who can
undertake a large part of the presorting work
themselves and hand in large volumes. Owing
to significantly lower production expenses, it is
possible to set prices for this product at a more
attractive level, whilst ordinary mail with a requirement for overnight delivery and significantly higher production expenses has experienced a
price increase, so that the price to a greater extent reflects the service level and the derived production expenses.
In this light, Post Danmark has emphasised that it
is important, with the forthcoming liberalisation
of the postal market, to adjust the arrangements
that ensure the maintenance of a nationwide
distribution system for all mail senders and recipients. This requires that the provision of postal
services is accompanied by a licence and requirements of a well-defined service area, service obligations, quality requirements etc. for all postal
service providers. By requiring that postal operators intending to operate in the letters market

hold a licence, a high level of service is ensured
for customers in addition to a level playing field
for all postal operators in the market.
It is an important social task that is handled by
Post Danmark within Danish society. A task we
have performed for nearly 400 years. To be able
to proceed with the central components of this
task, such as being able to distribute mail to all
Danes throughout the country six days a week,
it is necessary that the financial basis is not removed because of dissimilar competitive conditions. However, Post Danmark trusts that this will
be taken into account in the further liberalisation efforts.
For Post Danmark, 2007 was a year of change;
a year when major changes were decided. Post
Danmark is therefore strongly positioned to meet
customer needs and demands based on a broad
platform of products. In the coming years, there
will be focus on the continued development of
the existing business. However, we will also take
a forward-oriented approach and adapt costs to
changing market conditions, optimise our core
business and search the market for potential
business partners who can help generate growth
and support our visions.
The great changes implemented by the enterprise have been well received by Post Danmark’s
employees. We are convinced that the changes

5

HELGE ISRAELSEN, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

will help to make Post Danmark a better, stronger and safer place to work than it is today. This is
our main focus, which together with teamwork
will ensure that Post Danmark remains competitive in the years ahead.
ENJOY THE READING!
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INCOME
DKKBN

12.1
EBITDA
DKKBN

THE POST DANMARK GROUP
AT A GLANCE

1.4
EBIT
DKKBN

0.8
profit before tax
DKKBN

0.9
NUMBER OF FULL-TIME EMPLOYEES

21,163

7

P O S T D A N M A R K A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 07
MANAGEMENT’S REVIEW

HIGHLIGHTS AND RATIOS
AMOUNTS IN DKKM

2007

2006

2005

2004

2003

12,082
(10,636)
1,446
(598)
848
88
(35)
901
(188)
713

11,718
(10,065)
1,653
(588)
1,065
168
(46)
1,187
(295)
892

11,462
(9,778)
1,684
(560)
1,124
(9)
(82)
1,033
(295)
738

11,295
(9,492)
1,803
(597)
1,206
(20)
(40)
1,146
(357)
789

10,648
(9,263)
1,385
(847)
538
(40)
(32)
466
(169)
297

5,329
2,477
7,806
2,772
1,789
3,245
5,034
7,806

5,424
2,263
7,687
2,731
2,010
2,946
4,956
7,687

4,910
2,115
7,025
2,471
1,700
2,854
4,554
7,025

4,839
2,483
7,322
2,519
1,726
3,077
4,803
7,322

4,245
2,436
6,681
2,080
1,874
2,727
4,601
6,681

978
(368)
(581)
29

1,226
(1,154)
(127)
(55)

1,304
(696)
(1,088)
(480)

1,402
(999)
(154)
249

1,415
(939)
(261)
215

12
7
26
36
60
29
21.50
110
21,163

14
9
34
36
56
36
26.75
109
21,511

15
10
30
35
53
30
22.00
99
21,539

16
11
36
34
26
32
11.96
101
21,838

13
5
15
31
32
12
5.96
83
21,847

9
88
2

19
552
12

19
471
11

19
470
11

18
317
10

INCOME STATEMENT

Income
Operating expenses
Profit before dep., amort. and imp. losses (EBITDA)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses
Operating profit (EBIT)
Profits/(losses) after tax of associates and joint ventures
Other financials
Profit before tax
Tax on profit for the year
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
BALANCE SHEET

Non-current assets
Current assets
TOTAL ASSETS
EQUITY
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
CASH FLOWS

Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
CHANGE IN CASH and cash equivalents
RATIOS

EBITDA margin, per cent
EBIT margin / Operating profit margin, per cent
Return on equity, per cent
Solvency ratio
Dividend as a percentage of profit before tax *)
Earnings per share for the year (EPS) *)
Dividend per share *)
Net asset value per share (book value)
Number of full-time employees
ECONOMIC VALUE ADDED

Return on invested capital (ROIC)
Economic value added
Economic value added, per cent

The accounting figures for 2004, 2005, 2006 and 2007 have been calculated in accordance with IFRS, see the description in note 1. Comparative figures for 2003 are not restated to reflect the changed accounting
policies on transition to presentation of financial statements under IFRS but have been prepared in accordance with the previous accounting policies based on the provisions of the Danish Financial Statements Act and the
Danish accounting standards. If comparative figures for 2003 were to be calculated under IFRS, the most important adjustments would concern the following:
Cessation of goodwill amortisation, reassessment of the residual values of property, plant and equipment and the depreciation basis, reclassification of properties to assets held for sale, recognition and measurement of
liabilities, including discounting of liabilities. The nature of the changes is described in detail in the Annual Report for 2005.
*) The extraordinary dividend of DKK 451 million paid in 2005 is not included in the figures.
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THE YEAR 2007
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In 2007, the Post Danmark Group achieved a
profit after tax of DKK 713 million against DKK
892 million in 2006. Consolidated results were
at the level stated in the Interim Report for the
Third Quarter of 2007. The profit performance is
not satisfactory.

profit before tax
DKKM
1,400
1,200
1,000
800
600
400
200
0
		

2004

2005

financial statements

2006

2007
ADJUSTED FOR NONRECURRING EFFECTs

Post Danmark’s primary earnings have dropped
significantly in recent years as a consequence of
falling letters volume, increasing depreciation
and amortisation charges and growing operating expenses. Profit before tax for the year of
DKK 901 million was positively affected by DKK
175 million income and costs of a non-recurring
nature.
The increase in income for the year was in particular the result of growth in revenue from parcels.
This growth mainly reflects the addition of Transportgruppen A/S, of which Post Danmark acquired 51 per cent at the beginning of 2007. To
this can be added large gains realised from sales
of properties. The properties were sold as part of
the general efforts to adapt the organisation.
Income for the year was also positively affected by the sale of Kommuneforsikring A/S to
the Norwegian insurance company Gjensidige.
Kommuneforsikring was owned by Foreningen
til Begrænsning af Skadeudgifter i kommuner og
regioner f.m.b.a. (Association for Limitation of
Claims Expenses in Municipalities and Regions),
of which Post Danmark was a member. The association will be dissolved as part of the sale and
Post Danmark has therefore recognised major
proceeds from the sale.
Income was adversely affected by the change of
the previous subsidy scheme concerning distribution of newspapers, etc. as well as the loss of
a major customer.
Operating expenses rose moderately, mainly as a
consequence of the addition of Transportgruppen. The increase was moreover attributable
to higher transport expenses as a result of the
growing volume of cost-intensive products. In
addition, increased expenses derived from strong
growth in the activities of several subsidiaries.
Staff costs rose during the financial year under
review. The increase was primarily driven by pay

9

rises under collective agreements and the addition of Transportgruppen. Staff costs were furthermore positively affected by a non-recurring amount reflecting partly a reduction in the
Group’s pension adjustment obligations and
partly an additional provision for holiday pay.
The total staff number, converted into full-time
employees, was 21,163 against 21,511 in 2006.
Adjusted for the addition of Transportgruppen,
the real fall was 476 full-time employees.
The profits/(losses) of associates and joint ventures were adversely affected by a non-recurring
cost in De Post – La Poste. The non-recurring
cost, which concerns a three-year early retirement programme, is expected to be offset by
future savings on wages, salaries etc. The cost
is recognised under profits/(losses) of associates
and joint ventures.
The economic value added in Post Danmark
(EVA) was DKK 88 million compared with DKK
552 million in 2006. The decrease mainly reflects
that major reversals for pension adjustment obligations, gains from sales of properties and income relating to the sale of Kommuneforsikring
are not included in the economic value added
for 2007.
Of the profit for the year, it is recommended
that DKK 538 million be paid as dividend to the
shareholders and that DKK 177 million be transferred to equity. The proposed dividend of DKK
21.50 per share is in accordance with Post Danmark’s dividend policy.
Post Danmark’s level of on-time delivery rates for
letters fell compared with 2006. For 2007, the
on-time delivery rate was 93.2 per cent against
94.1 per cent in 2006. The on-time delivery rate
for non-priority mail was 97.6 per cent against
98.0 per cent in 2006. The rate is higher than the
rate of 93 per cent required by the Concession.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The Annual Report contains forward-looking statements. These statements are based on current
plans, estimates and expectations, and they are therefore subject to some uncertainty. No statement is a guarantee of future performance. Factors which may affect future performance include
the development of wages and salaries in society, operational disturbances, unexpected notice
of termination of contracts, launches of competing products, amendments to legislation and
unexpected increases in expenses.

EXPECTATIONS
LONGTERM
EXPECTATIONS
The liberalisation of the Danish market for postal services is expected to continue in the coming years. The European Parliament has passed
a resolution concerning full liberalisation of the
postal sector in the EU. This implies that the market for letters weighing up to 50 grams will be
open to competition in 2011 at the latest. On
the other hand, the liberalisation of the postal
sector does not affect the maintenance of a universal service obligation, which guarantees the
provision of basic postal services to all citizens in
the EU at least five days a week.
This means that, in future, competition in the
market for postal services may be expected to be
further intensified. So far competition has mainly
been in the parcels market, the market for magazine mail and the market for unaddressed mail,
in which markets both international and national enterprises are established. In 2007, Norway
Post established a new distribution business in
the Danish letters market, which commenced
distribution of letters and magazine mail from
major senders, who can undertake parts of the

sorting work themselves. As this new business
only offers distribution in densely populated areas a limited number of days a week, leaving the
most costly part of the distribution to Post Danmark, an apparently attractive pricing is offered
in subareas.
Post Danmark’s expectations depend on how the
future framework conditions will be fixed.
Post Danmark has launched a number of activities
in order to be ready for liberalisation and growing competition. In 2008, a new letter product
– the Business Letter – will be introduced, and
its main objective will be to meet business demand and to pass on saved production expenses
through lower prices. Combined with changed
conditions for local weeklies, unaddressed mail
and handling cash within distribution, Post Danmark may change the production and distribution of mail. From 2008, a new distribution
model has been introduced, under which some
consignments – unaddressed mail, local weeklies
and the business letter – are distributed over two
days. This will reduce peak demands on production and distribution capacity and lead to significant cost reductions as a result.
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EXPECTATIONS FOR 2008
				
DKKBN

Income
Expenses incl. deprec. and amort.
Operating profit (EBIT)
Profit before tax

EXPECTATIONS 2008
Post Danmark’s expectations for 2008 are:
TOTAL INCOME is expected to be at the prioryear level in 2008. The ongoing development of
electronic communications will continue to put
pressure on the market for physical letters, and
competition will have grown in the letters market. The fall in letters volume is expected to continue, while growth is expected for parcels. Income is expected to be positively affected by
sales of properties.
TOTAL EXPENSES, inclusive of depreciation
and amortisation charges, are expected to be
lower than in 2007. Savings are achievable despite pay increases because of the implementation of a new distribution model in 2008, which,
among other things, will result in significant cost
reductions.
OPERATING PROFIT is expected overall to
show a handsome increase due mainly to lower expenses.

EXPECTED 2007, SEE

EXPECTED 2008

ANNUAL REPORT 2007

ANNUAL REPORT 2006

11.9 – 12.2
11.0 – 11.2
0.9 – 1.0
1.0 – 1.1

12.1
11.3
0.8
0.9

11.7 – 11.8
10.8 – 10.9
0.9 – 1.0
1.0 – 1.1

SHARE OF PROFIT OR LOSS FROM NET FINANCIALS INCLUDING ASSOCIATES AND
JOINT VENTURES is expected to rise sharply,
due mainly to the positive results of De Post –
La Poste.
PROFIT BEFORE TAX is expected overall to be
somewhat higher than in 2007.
THE DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE EXPECTATIONS PUBLISHED IN THE 2006 ANNUAL REPORT AND ACTUAL FIGURES IN 2007
are mainly due to higher pay rises under collective agreements than expected, the addition of
Transportgruppen in 2007, higher expenses as
well as a high sick absence rate. To this can be
added a number of non-recurring items with primarily an opposite effect.

12

POST DANMARK A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 0 7
MA N A GEMEN T’S R E V IE W

POST DANMARK’S VISION, MISSION,
VALUES AND STRATEGY
vision

mission

values

Post Danmark’s vision is to become the most
excellent postal service provider in Europe,
i.e.:

Post Danmark’s mission is to provide basic
postal services to all customers in Denmark
– senders and recipients alike. These postal
services must be the best in Europe measured
in terms of service level, quality and price
combined.

Post Danmark’s values:

· t o produce results at level with the best
· t o provide Europe’s best postal customer
services to all senders and recipients in
Denmark
· t o make a profit from the letter segment –
despite a considerable decline in volumes
· t o successfully develop and provide new
customer services to senders and recipients
· t o gain market shares in competing
markets
· t o develop the most skilled and committed
postal workforce in Europe.

TRUSTWORTHY: a vital value when the core
business is to carry other people’s messages
and goods. To be trustworthy means that we
all live up to our responsibility and are worthy
of our customers’ trust. We are trustworthy
when we are honest and professional in our
relationships with customers, the public and
colleagues.
COMPETENT: means first and foremost that
we are masters of our trades. To be competent is also to work energetically to improve
all processes and to share knowledge and
develop. We are competent when we study
matters that we are working on and ensure
that all decisions are based on facts.
READY FOR CHANGE: is a necessary condition to survive as markets, technology and
other framework conditions develop. We are
ready for change if we are developing actively
and enthusiastically. We are ready for change
if we take the initiative in making changes
ourselves and implement them openly and
respectfully, relying on all stakeholders.
ADDING VALUE: is to generate value for
customers, shareholders, staff and society.
Adding value is a prerequisite for sustainable development of the enterprise. We add
value when we set ourselves high targets and
achieve them.
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STRATEGIC FOCUS AREAS

Post Danmark’s strategic focus areas are:
·E fficiency improvements and market
adaptation
·D
 evelopment of new services for both
senders and recipients
· International cooperation
· F ocus on and acceleration of staff
development.
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INCOME 2007
by business unit

International post

BUSINESS AREAS
Post Danmark offers its customers a number of
products based on the basic postal service provided. In this way, it meets many of the customers’ needs for transport of messages and goods.
The main products are:

In 2007, revenue from local weeklies and other unaddressed mail amounted to DKK 897 million (DKK 1,031 million in 2006). The decreasing
trend was primarily attributable to the loss of a
major customer.

· L etters, magazine mail, newspapers, magazines
and periodicals
· Parcels
· Local weeklies and unaddressed mail.

Post Danmark operates a branch network which
is a sales channel for Post Danmark products as
well as a drop-off and delivery location and provides other services as a supplement. In recent
years, Post Danmark has offered new types of
services such as internal mail handling (Facility
Services) and electronic communication solutions, all originating from Post Danmark’s core
area – letters.

Letters, magazine mail and newspapers, magazines and periodicals account for 66 per cent of
revenue (70 per cent in 2006). In recent years, the
volume of letters has gone down, and the composition of the product portfolio has changed towards an increase in non-individualised mail (Direct Mail and magazine mail).
In addition to letters, Post Danmark offers transport of parcels and express mail, which account
for 15 per cent of revenue (14 per cent in 2006).

Even though the basic service is the same, the
needs of the various groups of customers vary
greatly. Customer responsibility is therefore divided into four customer-oriented business units:

BUSINESS UNIT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AMOUNTS IN DKKM2006

Total income
Expenses, incl. depreciation and amortisation
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT)
Assets
Liabilities

COURIER, EXPRESS,
PARCELS
PRIVATE CUSTOMERS
BUSINESS CUSTOMERS

· Business Customers
· Private Customers
· Courier, Express, Parcels
· International Post.
Each business unit prepares financial statements
and the results from the business unit financial
statements are consolidated in the segment financial statements. The four customer-oriented
business units’ draws on resources from production-oriented business units (Letter Production
and Transport, Distribution, Internal Production
and Service, Post Danmark Information Technology) are allocated by means of transfer pricing.
In addition, there are some activities which are
not attributable to customer-oriented segments.
These activities primarily concern support and
staff functions.
The segment financial statements are based on a
model subject to continuous updating. In 2007,
updating of the model concerned in particular

BUSINESS CUSTOMERS

PRIVATE CUSTOMERS

2007

2006

2007

2006

6,436
(5,261)
1,175
2,769
1,104

6,631
(5,200)
1,431
2,892
1,207

2,087
(2,113)
(26)
1,154
569

2,149
(2,075)
74
1,179
605
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LETTERS, MAGAZINE MAIL, NEWSPAPERS,

UNADDRESSED MAIL AND LOCAL

MAGAZINES AND PERIODICALS
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the method for the allocation of costs linked to
preparation of mail before commencement of
distribution as well as the methods for the allocation of transport expenses in relation to collection from business customers and special delivery to recipients. Method improvements have
been made to, among other things, capture the
effect of falling volumes for daily, weekly and
monthly papers as well as changes in transport
structures involved in Post Danmark’s use of
Transportgruppen.
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pers as well as the impact from the continued
decline in letters volume.
The continued fall in the number of incoming
payments as well as higher expenses relating
to handling and transport of parcels, including
postal parcels, affected the profit performance
of Private Customers negatively.

Post Danmark’s overall negative profit performance generally affected all business areas.

Courier, Express, Parcels experienced a neutral development compared with 2006. Clear
growth was seen in the business area’s revenue
from, among other things, Transportgruppen,
which also affected the level of expenses. The
unsatisfactory performance level of the business
area reflects that the parcels and logistics market
is subject to fierce competition.

The decline in performance for Business Customers in 2007 was driven in particular by the
substantial fall in the volume of daily newspa-

The negative operating performance of Courier, Express, Parcels was in significant part attributable to production and distribution of parcels

Comparative figures for 2006 have been restated accordingly.
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comprised by the universal service obligation,
which to a very large extent cannot be delivered
to recipients in connection with distribution and
therefore must be held for collection at a post
office.
International Post experienced a minor decrease in performance despite minor growth in
revenue.
‘Unallocated and elimination’ showed minor growth in income, mainly gains from sales
of properties, which is not related to the business areas. At the same time, unallocated loss
dropped for 2007 as a result of further allocation
of costs to business areas.

UNALLOCATED
COURIER, EXPRESS, PARCELS

international Post

AND ELIMINATION

POST DANMARK TOTAL

2007

2006

2007

2006

2007

2006

1,772
(2,039)
(267)
1,205
483

1,310
(1,578)
(268)
1,103
492

1,589
(1,445)
144
1,132
707

1,529
(1,360)
169
1,229
726

198
(376)
(178)
1,546
2,171

99
(440)
(341)
1,284
1,926

2007

12,082
(11,234)
848
7,806
5,034

2006

11,718
(10,653)
1,065
7,687
4,956
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BUSINESS CUSTOMERS

POST DANMARK’S BUSINESS AREAS

Business Customers is responsible for sales to
Post Danmark’s large and medium-sized business customers, operating through its sales
organisation as this customer group’s gate to
Post Danmark’s total product portfolio, including parcels and courier shipments. Business
Customers’ own product portfolio ranges from
classical business mail, magazines, daily newspapers and local weeklies to advertising media
like Direct Mail and unaddressed mail as well as
products developed to satisfy customer wishes
for electronic communications (e-communications) and outsourcing of operating tasks (Facility Services). Business Customers is responsible
for the continued development and adaptation
of these products so that Post Danmark’s solutions always meet its customers’ needs.
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PRIVATE CUSTOMERS

The Private Customers
Erhvervskunder
har forretningsansvaret
business unit is responfor salg
af indenlandske
sible
for sales of produkter
domestic products
til Post Danmarks
to small
store og mellemstore
business
customers and
erhvervskunder
private customers.
samt salgsPriansvar
vate
Customers
for pakkeristilalso
ind-responsible
og udland samt
for the
internaoptionale brevforsendelser.
eration
of Post Danmark’s branch network. The
solutions offered to the customers are mainly
standard solutions, which are primarily offered
in the branch network and via the Internet.
The Private Customers business unit also includes design, production and sales of stamps
and philatelic products.

COURIER, EXPRESS, PARCELS

The Courier, Express,
Erhvervskunder
har forretningsansvaret
Parcels business unit
for salg
is
af indenlandske
responsible
for domestic
produkter
courier,
til Post
express
Danmarks
and
store ogsolutions
parcel
mellemstore
for large
erhvervskunder
and medium-sized
samt salgsansvar for customers
business
pakker til indwith
og udland
a business
samt agreeinternationaleCourier,
ment.
brevforsendelser.
Express, Parcels is also responsible for sorting at Post Danmark’s two parcel
sorting centres.
At the beginning of 2007, Post Danmark acquired 51 per cent of the shares in Transportgruppen A/S, for which Courier, Express,
Parcels is responsible. The business unit’s responsibility also includes the subsidiary Budstikken Transport A/S.
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international post

The Internationalhar
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of Post Danmark’s international
mail centre at the Copenhagen Airport.
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BUSINESS UNIT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AMOUNTS IN DKKM2

Total income
Expenses, incl. depreciation and amortisation
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT)
Assets
Liabilities

2007

2006

6,436
(5,261)
1,175
2,769
1,104

6,631
(5,200)
1,431
2,892
1,207

THE BUSINESS CUSTOMERS
BUSINESS UNIT
PROFIT PERFORMANCE IN 2007
· In 2007, Business Customers reported income of DKK 6,436 million (DKK 6,631 million in 2006),
or 53 per cent of Post Danmark’s total income
· The lower income is primarily related to decreasing revenue from daily newspapers
· Daily newspapers showed falling income as a result of the change of the subsidy scheme which
has led to a sharp fall in the volume of daily newspapers compared with 2006.

BUSINESS
DESCRIPTION
Business Customers is responsible for sales to Post
Danmark’s large and medium-sized business customers, operating through its sales organisation
as this customer group’s gate to Post Danmark’s
total product portfolio, including parcels and courier shipments. Business Customers’ own product
portfolio ranges from classical business mail, magazines, daily newspapers and local weeklies to advertising media like Direct Mail and unaddressed
mail as well as products developed to satisfy customer wishes for electronic communications (ecommunications) and outsourcing of operating
tasks (Facility Services). Business Customers is responsible for the continued development and adaptation of these products so that Post Danmark’s
solutions always meet its customers’ needs.

MARKET AND
COMPETITIVE
CONDITIONS
In recent years, the Danish market for business
mail has been subject to falling demand and increased competition, reflecting partly that the
total volume of letters continues to fall as a result of customers’ increased use of digital media
in communications and the public sector’s digitisation plans, and partly that customers’ negotiating position is strengthened because of the
growing number of competitors in the market
for distribution of physical mail.
While most of Business Customers’ submarkets
have been subject to competition for several
years, competition intensified for Post Danmark’s
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core business in 2007 when Norway Post set up
in the Danish market through the company City
Mail. City Mail focuses on the parts of the postal market which can be serviced by simple solutions and low-cost distribution. City Mail can
therefore operate at lower unit costs for these
products than Post Danmark, which so far has
provided the same service no matter from where
and no matter when the letter is sent. At 1 January 2008, Post Danmark introduced the Business Letter, which offers customers with large
volumes the choice of obtaining lower prices by
undertaking parts of the presorting work themselves and by accepting slower distribution. This
will enable Post Danmark to optimise further its
production and distribution. However, its customers still have the choice of sending mail as
conventional and more expensive priority and
non-priority letters if they prefer these product
profiles or are unable to fulfil the conditions attached to using the Business Letter.

Competition on the distribution of unaddressed
mail (household-distributed advertising mail) is
very intensive both in relation to direct competitors and in relation to other mass marketing media – including TV commercials and advertising in
daily newspapers and various kinds of free newspapers. The number of registered ‘No ads please’
went up from 12 per cent in 2006 to 18 per cent
in 2007. However, the remaining consumers are
still very positive towards unaddressed mail, 96
per cent reading or dipping into one or more unaddressed mail items every week.
In addition to meeting competition, Post Danmark’s aim is to move into new areas. Hence,
Post Danmark has today become a significant
player in the market for digitisation of documents. This is a market developing in line with
the new opportunities that technology offers for
distribution and storage of documents.
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»Competition on most of our submarkets is at present
getting stronger and stronger, but a structured sales
effort and new product offerings will help us retain our
very strong position also in future«
Anders Due, DEPUTY EXECUTIVE RESPONSIBLE FOR BUSINESS CUSTOMERS

STRATEGIC
INITIATIVES AND
EXPECTATIONS FOR
2008
In response to the increased competition in the
postal market, it is necessary to introduce new
strategic initiatives, which generate growth and
development in place of a generally lower letters volume in the market. This constantly makes
new demands on Business Customers. The strategic aim of the sales organisation is therefore to
develop and expand a competent and effective
sales force with focus on solution sales, i.e. sales
of value-adding customer solutions rather than
sales of individual products.
Further, it is essential to ensure that the continued product development process is based on the
requirements and needs of the market and customers. To ensure focus on developments within
all segments, Business Customers’ responsibility
is distributed on a number of small units.

BUSINESS MAIL
Post Danmark has previously announced that
differentiated prices is one way to meet competition on the terms now set by competitors. With
the new ‘Business Letter’ product, Post Danmark

has a direct, low-cost product which to a greater extent can match the price pressure from the
competitor. However, it is essential to continue
the product development process based on an
increasingly large and complex communications
market. Thus, volumes are large for mail by series, which includes mail like statements of account, financial messages and other relatively
impersonal letters because they are usually not
signed, and, for example, for distribution mail,
which contains goods bought on the Internet.
Post Danmark seeks to help business customers
maximise their gain by offering total solutions.
Post Danmark strives to make interaction with
major senders as easy as possible having regard
to technology, economy – and not least – the
short period from handing in to distribution. This
work is being continued, including the constant
task of ensuring a sufficiently good quality of
distribution.

MAGAZINE MAIL,
DAILY NEWSPAPERS
AND LOCAL
WEEKLIES
The market for magazines, daily newspapers
and local weeklies is significantly affected by
increased competition and changed criteria for
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granting State subsidy to publishers of daily
newspapers, which in certain cases has led to restrictions on the publication frequency and transition to electronic publication. For the physical
media, which continue to be distributed during daytime, a high distribution quality and low
prices will continue to play a significant role. A
cheaper distribution product – packed magazine
mail – was therefore introduced in late 2007.

MEDIA MARKET
To strengthen its position in the media market, Post Danmark has developed new products, including Segmented Unaddressed Mail
and Household Directed Unaddressed Mail (Husstands Direct), which improve customers’ possibility of increasing the number of target hits,
thereby increasing the impact from more targeted distribution based on an analysis of demographic information and impact measurements.
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FACILITY SERVICEs

eCOMMUNICATIONS

Post Danmark continues to expand its product
portfolio within office support in order to increase the attractiveness of its product. In the
office support market, the largest restriction remains enterprises that are reluctant to outsource
these functions. The market growth is driven by
two factors in particular:

The eCommunications unit develops and sells
solutions for electronic processing, distribution
and filing of letters (mainly items such as invoices, statements of account and pay slips) to
business customers. eCommunications is experiencing a high growth rate from many new customers and the development of existing customer relationships. Its customers are enterprises or
public authorities with a need to communicate
with large groups of private customers or they
are enterprises, municipalities, regions and central government, who have chosen to offer their
employees the choice of receiving electronic pay
slips for easy storage and further electronic use.

· increased focus on core competencies in the individual enterprises
· increased focus of the customers on own core
businesses.
In the last few years, Post Danmark has encountered growing competition from other facility
management companies. In 2007, in response
to this competition, Post Danmark and four other large facility services suppliers established the
company Facility Network, which develops and
sells total facility management solutions to major enterprises.

With eCommunications’ IT based services, business customers are offered a total solution for
handling electronic and physical communications. The business customer can deliver the total data base of the mailing to eCommunications, which processes and distributes the letters
by electronic means to recipients based on the
information given by them at the electronic post
office, ePosthuset. The electronic mail items are
distributed on the selected channels, e.g. e-Boks
or by e-mail. The rest of the mail is sent as physical letters.
To ensure a value-adding solution, Post Danmark
identifies the customer’s needs, designing on
this basis a solution to ensure correct receipt of
data, preparation of documents and handling of
conversion, quality control, distribution as well
as delivery and monitoring of operations.

eposthuset

ePosthuset is an online service for private customers at Post Danmark’s website at www.postdanmark.dk. ePosthuset features a self-service option for receipt of electronic letters, including
registration of electronic letters from, for example, local authorities, an online option to change
address in addition to other postal services.
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BUSINESS UNIT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AMOUNTS IN DKKM2

Total income
Expenses, incl. depreciation and amortisation
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT)
Assets
Liabilities

2007

2006

2,087
(2,113)
(26)
1,154
569

2,149
(2,075)
74
1,179
605

THE PRIVATE CUSTOMERS
BUSINESS UNIT
PROFIT PERFORMANCE IN 2007
· In 2007, Private Customers reported income of DKK 2,087 million (DKK 2,149 million in 2006),
or 17 per cent of Post Danmark’s total income
· The segment financial statements of Private Customers show an operating performance for
2007 which was somewhat lower than in 2006, due mainly to decreasing income
· Income showed a moderate decline, which is primarily related to a decrease in the revenue from
sales of branch products and the bank product.

BUSINESS
DESCRIPTION
The Private Customers business unit is responsible for sales of domestic products to small business customers and private customers. Private
Customers is also responsible for the operation
of Post Danmark’s branch network. The solutions offered to the customers are mainly standard solutions, which are primarily offered in the
branch network and via the Internet.
The Private Customers business unit also includes
design, production and sales of stamps and philatelic products.

MARKET AND
COMPETITIVE
CONDITIONS
The market for Private Customers is significantly
affected by the rapidly falling volume of stampfranked letters. Furthermore, the volume of parcels posted at post offices and in post shops in
2007 showed stagnation. The fall in revenue in
the private market is to some extent offset by
growing revenue from small business customers.
This applies especially to BtC parcels. Part of this
development is the result of Private Customers’
targeted efforts aimed at small business custom-
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REVENUE 2007
BY PR0DUCT AREA
STAMPS FOR FRANKING
PHILATELY AND other branch PRODUCTS
PAYMENT HANDLING
PARCEL MAIL OF PRIVATE CUSTOMERS
SMALL AND MEDIUM-SIZED
BUSINESS CUSTOMERS

INCOME 2007
BY BUSINESS UNIT

PRIVATE CUSTOMERS

»We work intensively towards adapting our service
offerings to the customers’ needs. These adaptations
have led to conversions of post offices into post shops
concurrently with the development of electronic
solutions«
Søren ravn jensen, DEPUTY EXECUTIVE RESPONSIBLE FOR PRIVATE CUSTOMERS
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ers at post offices. These efforts were made in
campaigns with the magazine Post og Pakker,
in which connection the target group in 2007
was expanded by 30,000 small business customers without a customer agreement with Post
Danmark.
The most important competition in the private
market comes from electronic media on the letter side. The public sector in particular has actively requested customers to use the Internet
or key-in-data yourself solutions so that communications between citizens and the public administration increasingly take place by electronic
means.
The maintenance of a nationwide network of
branches is a central requirement in Post Danmark’s Concession. The nationwide network consists partly of post offices operated by Post Danmark and partly of post shops operated by shop
owners. All branches are full-service outlets. At
the end of 2007, the branch network comprised
768 branches, including 153 operated by Post

Danmark. In the private market, Post Danmark
is mainly competing for services like payment
handling and parcels. Competition for payment
handling comes from net banks and the Danish
bankers’ payments system PBS. Competition for
CtC parcels has grown as a result of a competitor’s establishment of 400 drop-off and delivery
points in Denmark. So far, however, this has only
had a modest impact on Post Danmark’s revenue. As a countermove, Post Danmark has enhanced the service level of the post shops, and,
in 2007, an agreement was made with a number
of post shops extending delivery of parcels until
7pm in order to improve customer service.
The market for small business customers is mainly subject to competition on parcels from other parcel distributors and courier firms. In 2007,
Post Danmark launched four major campaigns
aimed at small business customers using the
magazine Post og Pakker. All four campaigns
were run with an overperformance on the sales
targets. Post Danmark expects to have retained
its market share in this segment.
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INCOMING AND OUTGOING PAYMENTS
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COMPANY-OPERATED POST OFFICES

In the past two years, Post Danmark has given
further training to employees servicing small
business customers in order to improve their
ability to understand and meet customer needs.

STRATEGIC
INITIATIVES AND
EXPECTATIONS
FOR 2008
Adaptation of the branch network is an important focus area for Private Customers. The aim
is to reduce the costs of operating the branch
network while at the same time maintaining a
satisfactory level of service and availability. The
replacement of post offices with post shops continues and operations are continuously undergoing efficiency improvement. Self-service options
at www.postdanmark.dk and in the form of the
‘PostSelv’ self-service station, ‘Pakkepostkassen’

and automated pick-up and drop-off stations for
parcels (‘Døgnposten’) increasingly offer the customers the choice of carrying out postal business
at times that are convenient to the customer and
reduce the need to go to a post office or post
shop.
In 2008, conditions for delivery of mail which
cannot be put into the recipient’s letter box will
be further improved.
Existing postal products and services are being
continuously adapted to make it easy to be a
customer and to increase the value of the services to the customer.

700

800
POST SHOPS
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BUSINESS UNIT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AMOUNTS IN DKKM2

Total income
Expenses, incl. depreciation and amortisation
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT)
Assets
Liabilities

2007

2006

1,772
(2,039)
(267)
1,205
483

1,310
(1,578)
(268)
1,103
492

THE COURIER, EXPRESS,
PARCELS BUSINESS UNIT
PROFIT PERFORMANCE IN 2007
· In 2007, Courier, Express, Parcels reported income of DKK 1,772 million (DKK 1,310 million in
2006), or 15 per cent of Post Danmark’s total income
· The business unit realised an operating loss on a par with 2006
· Growth in revenue and volume was recorded for parcels and light goods as a result of, among
other things, the purchase af Transportgruppen
· Expenses rose relative to 2006 as a result of higher volumes and rising transport expenses.

BUSINESS
DESCRIPTION
The Courier, Express, Parcels business unit is responsible for domestic courier, express and parcel solutions for large and medium-sized business
customers with a business agreement. Courier,
Express, Parcels is also responsible for sorting at
Post Danmark’s two parcel sorting centres.
At the beginning of 2007, Post Danmark acquired 51 per cent of the shares in Transportgruppen A/S, for which Courier, Express, Parcels is responsible. The business unit’s responsibility also
includes the subsidiary Budstikken Transport A/S.
Revenue and expenses for Courier, Express, Parcels showed a relatively large increase as a result

of the purchase of shares in Transportgruppen
at the beginning of 2007. Overall, the subsidiaries Budstikken and Transportgruppen have a
positive impact on the operating performance of
Courier, Express, Parcels.

MARKET AND
COMPETITIVE
CONDITIONS
The high level of activity in Denmark generates
a heavy demand for transport services to ensure
that production is kept going and that the finished products reach their buyers. The Danish
parcels market is characterised by intensive competition from several parcel distributors belong-

ing to international networks with Post Danmark
as one of the leading enterprises.
In both the BtB and the BtC parcels markets,
demand on information and data exchange as
well as supplementary services in relation to the
parcel product continues to grow. The option to
combine various types of mail and include the
provision of special services is greatly appreciated by many customers, who increasingly choose
to enter into agreements on purchase of customised services. This increases demand on Post
Danmark to continue to develop its product offerings to ensure that they are also capable of
handling shipments that are larger and heavier than parcels. As a result of the acquisition of
Transportgruppen, Post Danmark can now offer
a range of services within groupage.
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STRATEGIC
INITIATIVES AND
EXPECTATIONS
FOR 2008
As groupage makes other demands on production and distribution than ordinary parcels, Post
Danmark has sought a solution which separates
groupage from parcel production without customers finding it necessary to contact several
suppliers to have their needs covered. That is
why Post Danmark chose to become a shareholder in Transportgruppen and in this way ensure the capacity and efficient production needed to be able to meet customers’ demand for
pallet goods and groupage services.
Post Danmark has developed and implemented various initiatives to make it easier to send
and receive parcels for private households. This
part of the market is growing rapidly, reflecting
growing Internet trade, which has a direct positive impact on this development. In response to
this development, Post Danmark provides services such as:
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· Optional point of collection – if the sender
sends BtC parcels without delivery, the sender
can offer the recipient the choice of collection
point for the parcel, e.g. a post office located
near to the workplace
· Flexible delivery – by agreement with the sender, the parcel messenger may deliver the parcel
even if the recipient is not at home – by way of
example, the parcel can be placed at the front
door or in the carport
REVENUE 2007

· SMS notification service – the recipient receives
an SMS that a parcel is on its way. The SMS
states that a parcel is on its way and the date
when the parcel will be distributed. If the recipient of the parcel is not at home when the
parcel messenger rings at the door, a new SMS
will be sent in which the recipient is informed
that the parcel can be picked up at the nearest
post office.

BY PR0DUCT AREA

In recent years, Budstikken has recorded significant improvement in revenue in the wake of
consolidation of the network through the acquisition of franchise partners and the development
of the company’s IT platform, which has simplified the booking process for the benefit of both
customers and Budstikken.

INCOME 2007

COURIER AND EXPRESS PARCELS
PARCELS, groupage ETC.

BY BUSINESS UNIT

COURIER, EXPRESS, PARCELS

»The purchase of Transportgruppen A/S in early 2007
has strengthened Post Danmark’s position as the most
complete logistics provider on the Danish market«
Carsten dalbo pedersen, DEPUTY EXECUTIVE RESPONSIBLE FOR
COURIER, EXPRESS, PARCELS
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BUSINESS UNIT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AMOUNTS IN DKKM2

Total income
Expenses, incl. depreciation and amortisation
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT)
Assets
Liabilities

2007

2006

1,589
(1,445)
144
1,132
707

1,529
(1,360)
169
1,229
726

THE INTERNATIONAL POST
BUSINESS UNIT
PROFIT PERFORMANCE IN 2007
· In 2007, International Post reported income of DKK 1,589 million (DKK 1,529 million in 2006),
or 13 per cent of Post Danmark’s total income
· Operating profit for the year showed a minor decline compared with 2006
· International Post experienced a small increase in revenue. The growing revenue mainly reflects
an increase in the volume of outgoing international letters and higher payment from PNL on
account of a higher volume of international parcels
· Expenses rose correspondingly, due mainly to the increase in the expense of international settlements for outgoing international letters.

BUSINESS
DESCRIPTION
The International Post business unit is responsible for international products and for cooperation with international partners in all product areas. International Post is also responsible for the
operation of Post Danmark’s international mail
centre at the Copenhagen Airport.

MARKET AND
COMPETITIVE
CONDITIONS
Post Danmark is a market leader in the market
for international letters, outgoing as well as incoming. Being under pressure from electronic communications, the volume of letters from
Denmark to international destinations is expected to show, like the rest of the letters market, a
declining trend in the coming years.
Post Danmark retains its strong position in the
market for international letters, outgoing as
well as incoming, but its competitors, which are
mainly enterprises specialised in handling inter-
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REVENUE 2007
BY PR0DUCT AREA

OTHER PRODUCTS
INTERNATIONAL PARCELS
INTERNATIONAL LETTERS

INCOME 2007
BY BUSINESS UNIT

International post

»It is our aim to retain a strong position in the market
by providing a high quality, offering a good range of
products and targeting our sales efforts«
Finn yde-andersen, INTERNATIONAL GENERAL MANAGER
RESPONSIBLE FOR INTERNATIONAL POST

national mail, have tried to increase their market
share by focusing on price and in this way gain a
foothold in Denmark.
Post Danmark’s letter quality remains one of the
best as far as international letters in Europe are
concerned. 96.7 per cent of all letters sent from
Denmark to other countries arrive on time and
96.0 per cent of all letters sent to Denmark from
other countries arrive on time. External quality
measurements show that letters sent by Post
Danmark to international destinations reach
their destinations much faster than letters sent
by its competitors.
Post Danmark’s company for handling cross-border parcels, PNL owned jointly with Norway Post,
is in stiff competition with other parcel distrib-

utors owned by postal operators in other countries. These operators have for many years endeavoured to build up international networks for
parcel distribution by acquiring and integrating
parcel distributors who previously operated on a
national basis within Europe. Thanks to the establishment of these networks, the distribution
of parcels from other countries is handled by the
international networks’ own companies, and the
struggle to ensure sufficient volume for profitable operations has generated sharp competition
on prices and supplementary services. PNL meets
this competition by entering into agreements
with the best distributors on the local markets,
including PNL’s owners in Denmark and Norway.

STRATEGIC
INITIATIVES AND
EXPECTATIONS
FOR 2008
It is International Post’s aim to retain a strong position in the market by providing a high quality,
offering a good range of products and targeting
our sales efforts.
Cooperation with PNL on outgoing and incoming parcels will remain our main focus.
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»Post Danmark has got far with the modernisation
of the Danish postal service. I am convinced that
the Danish experience will prove useful to De Post –
La Poste«
johan vande lanotte, former belgian VICE-PRIME MINISTER FOR BUDGET AND
PUBLIC ENTERPRISES

DE POST – LA POSTE
Post Danmark holds jointly with CVC Capital
Partners 50 per cent less one share of the share
capital of the Belgian postal service, De Post –
La Poste.
De Post – La Poste is the national postal operator in Belgium. The enterprise offers a full range
of postal solutions to the approx. 4.5 million
households and approx. 1 million enterprises in
Belgium.
De Post – La Poste wanted to modernise and develop its enterprise and saw a solution to this
through close cooperation with Post Danmark,
whose status as one of the world’s most efficient high-technology postal service providers is
widely recognised. Prior to the acquisition of the
shares, detailed discussions were held with management of De Post – La Poste and the Belgian

State concerning a five-year development plan,
which aims to turn De Post – La Poste into a topclass modern enterprise.
Since the start of cooperation in 2006, Post Danmark has moreover assisted De Post – La Poste in
developing the enterprise by loaning experts and
by maintaining other forms of regular contact.
This has contributed to realising the development
plan and improving the financial results. Already
in the first year, 2006, De Post – La Poste has contributed a share of profit of DKK 161 million to
Post Danmark’s financial results. In 2007, De Post
– La Poste contributed a share of profit of DKK
70 million after deduction of provisions for early
retirement pension costs, which affect Post Danmark’s share of profit negatively by DKK 125 million. These restructurings are expected to bring
down the expense level in the coming years.
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The company’s activities are divided into three
main business areas:
· P ostal products (letters, parcels, magazines/
newspapers, unaddressed mail etc.)
·B
 ranch network (sales channel for postal products, payment handling and bank and insurance services for Banque de La Poste)
· Postal solutions (business-oriented activities
and subsidiaries providing services within courier transport, advertising mail, facility service as
well as electronic communications).
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POSTAL PRODUCTS

BRANCH NETWORK

The postal product is De Post – La Poste’s largest
business area, comprising domestic collection,
sorting and distribution of letters, small parcels
(weighing up to 5 kg), magazines/newspapers
and advertising mail. De Post – La Poste’s international business, which comprises both postal products and parcels, is organisationally connected with the business area postal products.

The branch network operates as a sales channel
for both postal products and financial services.
The branch network distributes bank and insurance services for Banque de La Poste, which is a
bank owned jointly with the insurance and banking business Fortis. The branch network also provides a number of services such as payment handling on behalf of the Belgian State. The approx.
1,300 branches are marketing a wide range of
services.

De Post – La Poste has to a lesser extent than
Post Danmark experienced pressure on the market for physical letters as a result of the electronic development.

POSTAL SOLUTIONS
Postal solutions include services within courier
transport, unaddressed mail, facility service and
electronic communications.
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PRODUCTION
AND PROCESSES
Post Danmark is a high-technology enterprise
whose production of letters and parcels takes
place at four national letter sorting centres, an
international mail centre and two parcel sorting
centres. Production is planned to optimise the
level of automation so that the distribution can
be done quickly and rationally with a minimum
of consumption and hard work for the employees. Thus, a number of efficiency improvements
have been implemented in recent years with a
view to reducing the time spent by the postmen
on preparation before distribution starts. This is
done by delivering a large amount of the postman’s mail in order of distribution to a route determined according to the quantity of mail on a
given day and based on a geographical information system.

LETTER PRODUCTION
In recent years, Post Danmark’s letter production has undergone a series of changes in order
to achieve higher levels of automation and optimal use of its machines. Letter production is optimised on a continuous basis through the introduction of new technology and streamlining of
the sorting and distribution processes.

Before sorting, letters are collected from Post
Danmark’s countrywide network of nearly
10,000 letter boxes and from the country’s nearly 800 branches, after which they are transported to one of Post Danmark’s four national letter
sorting centres. Post Danmark’s branches play an
important role as contact points where private
customers and small business customers can
hand in and pick up their mail either at the counter or from their own post office box. Senders of
large letter volumes drop off their letters at one
of Post Danmark’s letter sorting centres or have
their letters picked up by special agreement.
Once received by one of Post Danmark’s letter
sorting centres, letters are sorted by distribution point. In recent years, investment has been
made in new sorting equipment for mechanical
reading of addresses and sorting of standard letters by order of distribution, while large letters,
which represent a small part of the letters volume, are sorted into one of Post Danmark’s approx. 6,400 distribution routes, after which the
postman does the sorting by order of distribution himself. The sorting requires that a database
containing names and addresses of all mail recipients in Denmark is maintained so that letters are
delivered to the intended recipient also in many
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of those cases where the sender has stated a
wrong or inadequate address.
Post Danmark was a pioneer of the introduction
of these technologies and therefore had to carry
out much development work in cooperation with
suppliers to ensure and increase the efficiency of
the systems. As a result of this ongoing development work, a growing proportion of letters have
been sorted year by year, untouched by human
hands, before ending up in the postman’s bag.
In 2007, just over 80 per cent of standard letters were sorted into order of distribution for the
postman’s bag.
Simultaneously with the introduction of new
machinery, the processes at the letter sorting
centres have been examined and simplified in
accordance with Lean manufacturing principles
so that wasteful practices have been eliminated
and production procedures optimised.

The introduction of new technology and processes has increased the capacity of the letter sorting centres while at the same time the
number of letters has fallen. To ensure the best
possible utilisation of machines and buildings,
several letter sorting centres have been closed in
recent years and production brought together at
fewer centres.
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LETTER AND PARCEL SORTING CENTRES

letter sorting
centres
parcel sorting
centres

århus

Besides handling of their letters, Post Danmark’s
customers demand distribution of other types of
mail such as magazines, local newspapers, unaddressed mail (household-distributed advertising mail), urgent mail (courier), parcels and
groupage. To meet customer wishes, utilise advantages from joint operations and to fulfil Post
Danmark’s obligation to deliver parcels weighing
up to 20 kg, literature for the blind etc., Post
Danmark also offers to handle such mail.

taulov

fredericia

brøndby

copenhagen

ringsteed

34

POST DANMARK A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 0 7
MA N A GEMEN T’S R E V IE W

PRODUCTION OF
UNADDRESSED MAIL
Since 2004, the production of unaddressed mail
has gradually been transferred to the business
partner Distribution Services A/S, which uses
specialised production facilities to wrap the mail
in one cover per household. The cooperation
with Distribution Services has been expanded to
include a number of experiments with address
printing on the covers and packing of unaddressed mail with selected types of addressed
mail so that the postmen get a bundle kept together by a cover for each household instead of
having to sort the various mail items before the
day’s route is started or at each letter box.

PARCEL
PRODUCTION
Parcels are sorted at two parcel sorting centres,
one in Jutland and one on Zealand. In addition
to the two parcel sorting centres, four distribution centres are used in Jutland and on Funen for
the handling of parcels and groupage. Post Danmark’s parcel sorting centres use advanced technology and a high level of automation enabling
each of them to sort 12-15,000 parcels per hour.

Thus, at the parcel sorting centres, 90 per cent
of the parcels are sorted mechanically. 60 per
cent are sorted electronically and increasingly
based on information supplied on an electronic file from the customer. Production at the parcel sorting centres is planned in accordance with
Lean manufacturing principles and the employees have lifting equipment available for handling
parcels which require special handling.

called triangle region comprising 8 local authorities in Jutland and on Funen), it has been difficult to obtain sufficient labour. Opportunities
for other employment together with a changed
product profile resulting in fewer light mail items
and more heavier items has made mail distribution physically more demanding. This has led to
stagnant productivity, lower quality levels and reduced employee satisfaction.

DISTRIBUTION

To address the situation, Post Danmark has taken the radical decision of changing the conditions for mail distribution. The changes combine
adjustments to product profiles, adaptations of
the delivery of mail from the letter sorting centres and changes in the daily work procedures
within distribution, with increased standardisation of the individual work operations as special
key areas.

After sorting, letters and parcels are transported
to Post Danmark’s 303 distribution centres, from
which they are distributed to the customers together with other types of mail (for example, local weeklies, unaddressed mail and magazines)
by approx. 13,000 postmen. Approx. 3 million
physical delivery points are serviced by approx.
6,400 letter and rural routes as well as approx.
1,000 separate parcel routes.
At the distribution centres, the postmen are
working in nearly 800 self-supporting teams of
6-18 employees each, who organise the tasks
among themselves.
In 2007, distribution felt, to a greater extent than
previously, the impact of the low unemployment
rate in Denmark. In certain parts of the country
(particularly in the metropolitan area and the so-

For customers, the most significant change will
be that mail in respect of which overnight delivery is not required will be distributed to the
individual drop-off locations every second day
so that, in principle, half the country’s recipients
will get non time-sensitive mail on Mondays,
Wednesdays and Fridays while the remaining
recipients will get this mail on Tuesdays, Thursdays and Saturdays – the socalled XY distribution model.
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LETTER QUALITY
PER CENT
2007
2006
2005
2004
2003
0

92

93

94

95

NON-PRIORITY LETTERS

This change offers a better opportunity to plan
the daily production and helps to ensure a more
uniform spread of work on the individual days
and hence provides the basis for a more appropriate use of the employees.
Agreements have been entered into with the staff
organisations concerning ‘guaranteed closing
time’ / ’going-home guarantee’, which guarantees the employees against involuntary overtime
and introduces new and more flexible forms of
employment, which are intended to help improve
the chances of being in a better position to handle unforeseen changes in the distribution work.
The changes have several main purposes:
·M
 ake it easier to be a postman – especially a
new postman – in order to retain more employees in their jobs
· Improve productivity and hence help improve
the enterprise’s financial performance
· Improve the level of quality.
The changes in the distribution pattern together with increased focus on working environment
conditions involve a growing need to adapt both
buildings and equipment to the new task. These
challenges are being addressed through a combination of: introduction of new equipment, introduction of new working methods and relocation of distribution from out-of-date production

premises – often in central parts of towns – to
more up-to-date premises in the industrial areas of towns.
In certain cases, the combination of and the desire for increased productivity and improvement
of production conditions entail a merger of small
distribution centres into large units where it will
to a greater extent be possible to use economiesof-scale and supplementary auxiliary production
equipment.
Post Danmark uses state-of-the art technology in
its planning of the distribution task. An IT-based
order recording system and a geographical route
planning system improve the planning and the
organisation of the individual distribution routes.
Post Danmark has also started introducing SmartPhones within distribution – these are a combination of a mobile phone and an advanced scanner with interactive information options.

DISTRIBUTION OF
EXPRESS MAIL AND
GROUPAGE
Courier/express mail is handled by the subsidiary Budstikken, which has built up its own organisation with branches in several towns and a

96
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100

PRIORITY LETTERS

network consisting of 121 independent couriers
and 30 bicycle messengers.
The handling of groupage and pallet goods shipments has to a great extent been transferred to
independent hauliers attached to Transportgruppen, of which Post Danmark has owned 51 per
cent of its shares since the beginning of 2007.
The collection of groupage is also done by Post
Danmark’s internal transport unit in those cases
where the groupage can be picked up together
with other mail at the sender’s address. International shipments are collected and distributed by
business partners all over the world. The work
on parcels is coordinated through PNL, while
international letters are transported through a
number of multilateral and bilateral cooperation
agreements with postal service providers all over
the world.
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OTHER GROUP
COMPANIES

GROUP
PARENT
POST DANMARK A/S

SUBSIDIARIES

100 per cent

BUDSTIKKEN TRANSPORT A/S

100 per cent

DATA SCANNING A/S

100 per cent

POST DANMARK LEASING A/S

51 per cent

ASSOCIATES AND

50 per cent

Transportgruppen A/S

PAN NORDIC LOGISTICS AB

JOINT VENTURES
33 1/3 per cent

20 per cent

50 per cent

e-BOKS A/S

facility network A/S

MIE GROUP S.A.
100 per cent

POST INVEST EUROPE S.A.R.L.
50 per cent

DE POST N.V. / LA POSTE S.A.

P O S T D A N M A R K A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 07
MANAGEMENT’S REVIEW

37

BUDSTIKKEN TRANSPORT A/S
Post Danmark’s courier service activities are
consolidated in the wholly-owned subsidiary
Budstikken Transport A/S.
Budstikken provides courier service everywhere in Denmark and abroad and has its
base in four strong regional branches, all with
a broad local, regional, national and international radius of action. With a wide network
of business partners, Budstikken is able to
perform all imaginable courier and transport
tasks from registered letters to hanging offthe-peg clothes and PC installation.
Budstikken has developed a flexible customer-friendly business concept. Online booking
and Web invoices make it easy for customers. Unmanageable paper forms have been
replaced by modern hand-held terminals at
the couriers. The characteristic yellow cars are
controlled by GPS satellite monitoring, which
ensures rapid and effective handling, and in
Copenhagen the cars are supplemented by

Budstikken’s yellow-dressed bicycle messengers. An advanced track-and-trace system
makes it possible to give customers precise
information about the whereabouts of their
shipments at any time.
A special top competence at Budstikken is
its total solutions comprising the supply and
installation of all kinds of electronic devices,
which are performed by specially trained
couriers. It may typically be delivery and installation of complete home workstations
at a large number of the employees of an
enterprise. This service gives the customers
the advantage of quick, reliable and uniform
rolling-out of new technological solutions.
In recent years, the Øresund Bridge has generated a rising need for safe and fast delivery
across the Sound. With its own vehicles in
South Sweden, Budstikken’s express couriers offer same-day delivery of all shipments
to South Sweden from Gothenburg to the

north to Ystad to the south. Other international courier services are provided in cooperation with big recognised courier companies
so that the customers may rest assured that
their shipments will reach their destination as
quickly as possible.
Budstikken cooperates with Post Danmark
Business Customers on servicing major customers in the Facility Service area. Consequently, customers need only apply to one
place to get a total customised solution for
all tasks involving handling and transport of
incoming and outgoing shipments of any
kind.
The company is undergoing very strong
growth. Revenue in 2007 was DKK 170 million against DKK 131 million in 2006. Profit
before tax was DKK 8 million (2006: DKK 5
million), and equity amounted to DKK 21 million (2006: DKK 15 million).
revenue	

2005

2006

2007

115

131

170

DKKM

DATA SCANNING A/S
The company is wholly-owned by Post Danmark.
Data Scanning A/S is Denmark’s leading provider within scanning and registration of all
kinds of paper-based data for electronic media.
Data Scanning has three regional scanning
centres located in Fredericia, Århus and Copenhagen, respectively. Data Scanning’s head
office is in Copenhagen.
Today, approx. 160 employees are engaged
in scanning information from paper to electronic form, after which they make the various data ready for further processing.
Data Scanning performs work for small and
large enterprises within letter scanning, invoice scanning, data scanning, file scanning
and data-entry services. Data Scanning has
been certified in accordance with the Quality
Standard, DS/EN ISO 9001:2000 and IT Safety Standard I DS 484:2005 and provides a
Read-in service for the digitisation of invoices
to public authorities.

Common to all Data Scanning customers is
that they receive customised solutions covering their specific needs with a combination of
safety and reliability. This is achieved by a very
thorough quality assurance process and also
through various safety measures relative to
employees, the physical frameworks, the logistics and, of course, the whole IT part with
both hardware and software.
The tasks are performed on modern equipment which is renewed in line with the electronic development and customer needs. As
part of the close dialogue with customers,
Data Scanning develops in cooperation with
the customers systems which ensure optimum scanning and data processing quality.
The scanning of Dankort payment cards and
credit card notes and of invoices for public
authorities has so far been Data Scanning’s
largest business area. This market is now declining and is expected to continue to fall.
The company has therefore changed its focus
to the markets for invoice, letter, file and data
scanning.

The company’s total solutions in these areas
are of value to enterprises, which wish to receive invoices, letters and forms through data
communications. In this way, the enterprises
can obtain full integration of the physical
mail flow in their electronic case processing
systems.
A new business area in which Data Scanning
has established itself with great success is the
scanning of files with subsequent electronic
storage of the scanned documents. Demand
for digital solutions to file tasks is increasingly
found among public authorities and institutions in particular. Some tasks are so large
that Data Scanning performs them in consortium with other players in the market.
The company is undergoing extremely strong
growth. Revenue in 2007 was DKK 164 million against DKK 79 million in 2006. Profit
before tax was DKK 18 million (2006: DKK
4 million), and equity amounted to DKK 23
million (2006: DKK 9 million).

revenue	

2005

2006

2007

62

79

164

DKKM
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POST DANMARK LEASING A/S
The company is wholly-owned by Post Danmark.
Post Danmark Leasing A/S operates as an internal administration company for the Post
Danmark Group’s nearly 5,000 cars and lorries. The company handles the purchases and

running of these motor vehicles. In recent
years, the central administration in Hvidovre
has built up an advanced database with information about the car running accounts etc.,
which is available to employees throughout
the country.

The company’s revenue in 2007 was DKK
196 million against DKK 188 million in 2006.
Profit before tax was DKK 75 million (2006:
DKK 90 million), and equity amounted to
DKK 230 million (2006: DKK 221 million).

TRANSPORTGRUPPEN A/S
On 4 January 2007, Post Danmark purchased
51 per cent of the company. The remaining
49 per cent of the shares are owned by a
number of independent hauliers, who also
operate as distributors in the company. The
purchase of the shares in Transportgruppen
A/S has given Post Danmark access to a finemeshed and efficient countrywide network
for cargo distribution.
The company undertakes transport of parcels
and groupage throughout Denmark and has
also warehouse facilities at various locations.

Transportgruppen is today composed of approx. 20 major Danish hauliers, with 1,100
employees and with more than 900 rolling
units servicing the whole of Denmark every
day.
The activities are carried out through two
large central cargo centres at Brøndby and
Taulov, 17 regional cargo centres and more
than 80,000 sq.m warehouse facility area in
Copenhagen and Århus.

Post Danmark and Transportgruppen believe
that synergy effects can be achieved from the
new cooperation agreement. This applies, for
example, to the sales area and in the utilisation of the strengths of the two enterprises in
various fields within parcels and cargo.
The company’s revenue in 2007 was DKK 347
million. Profit before tax was DKK (3) million,
and equity amounted to DKK 30 million.

PAN NORDIC LOGISTICS AB
The company is owned by Post Danmark and
Norway Post in equal shares.
Pan Nordic Logistics (PNL) is the leading logistics enterprise in the Nordic parcels market. PNL offers unique logistics solutions to
companies with specific transport needs for
parcels and pallets to and from the Nordic
countries. PNL cooperates closely with postal

service providers in Estonia, Finland, Faroe
Islands, Greenland, Iceland, Poland and Sweden as well as with business partners in the
rest of the world.
State-of-the-art technology has been developed for parcel and logistics solutions as well
as courier products to ensure end-to-end
control.

The headquarters are located in Stockholm.
The company’s revenue in 2007 was DKK
1,236 million (2006: DKK 1,047 million).
Profit before tax was DKK 43 million (2006:
DKK 34 million), and equity amounted to
DKK 83 million (2006: DKK 74 million), including subordinate loan capital.
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e-BOKS A/S
The company is owned by Post Danmark,
KMD and PBS in equal shares.
The idea behind e-Boks is to improve the efficiency of shipment of mail between enterprises and private mail recipients, who wish
to make use of electronic communications
and storage. Electronic mail is supplied and
stored by the company for more than 1.5 million users.

With the necessary presorting, e-Boks offers
senders to obtain delivery of letters in the
recipients’ safe electronic e-Boks. Thus, it is
possible to obtain delivery of, for example,
statements of account, annual tax statements, pay slips etc. directly to a personal
electronic post office box.

In 2007, e-Boks achieved substantial growth,
the number of users rising by 0.5 million to
1.5 million.
In 2007, revenue was DKK 33 million against
DKK 25 million in 2006. Profit before tax was
DKK 13 million (2006: DKK 4 million), and
equity amounted to DKK 37 million (2006:
DKK 30 million).

FACILITY NETWORK A/S
Post Danmark owns 20 per cent of Facility
Network A/S. The company was established
in 2007. The remaining ownership interest is owned in equal shares by Forenede
Service A/S, Dansikring A/S, Glenco A/S and
HedeDanmark A/S.

and the associated administration and management of agreements such as helpdesk/
call centre, reporting and invoicing as well as
optimisation of operations and quality assurance so that the customer needs only concentrate on his core activities.

Facility Network is a joint administration
company within Facility Management. The
company provides management functions

On behalf of the shareholders, Facility Network offers a complete package of services
but also a large measure of flexibility so that

the individual services can be chosen and/or
not chosen depending on the customer’s actual needs. By creating synergies across services, the company can offer solutions, which
are both cheaper and better.
In 2007, revenue was DKK 1 million. Profit
before tax was DKK (2) million, and equity
amounted to DKK 1 million.

MIE GROUP S.A.
The company is the parent of a group which
since the beginning of 2006 owns 50 per cent
less one share of the share capital of the Belgian postal service, De Post – La Poste. MIE
Group S.A. is owned by Post Danmark and
PIE Group (an enterprise in the CVC Capital
Partners Group) in equal shares. This structure
means in fact that Post Danmark has a 25 per
cent ownership interest in De Post – La Poste.

Prior to the acquisition of the shareholding
in De Post – La Poste, Post Danmark, the
Belgian State and CVC Capital Partners have
thoroughly discussed and adjusted a fiveyear development plan. The aim is radically
to modernise and develop the enterprise into
a top-class modern postal service provider.

of De Post – La Poste: Revenue was DKK
8,307 million compared with DKK 8,149 million in 2006. Profit before tax was DKK 269
million (2006: DKK 466 million), and equity
amounted to DKK 448 million (2006: DKK
486 million).
De Post – La Poste is described on page 30.

Financial and operating data for the holding
group, inclusive of proportional recognition
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»Using the Excellence Model is not only printed words,
but something that employees and managers comply
with in their everyday lives«
Helge israelsen, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

EMPLOYEES AND
MANAGEMENT
Post Danmark is one of Denmark’s largest enterprises in terms of number of employees, and
in 2007 more than 25,000 people were employed, or just under 1 per cent of Denmark’s
total workforce.
The direct customer contact is especially handled
by postmen and post office employees. However, the work to get mail delivered on time also
involves a large group of other employees. These
are specialised employees in production as well
as highly trained engineers, lawyers and economists etc., who maintain production, control and
management tools.
Employee relations are a significant item on Post
Danmark’s agenda because Post Danmark must
demonstrate that it is an attractive enterprise
with focus on attracting and retaining competent and committed employees and maintaining its commitment to social responsibility. At
the overall level, the Excellence Model, Post Danmark’s management model, ensures together
with our focus on the enterprise’s core values
that we are working towards the same goal. Additionally, Post Danmark has prepared a number
of policies and action plans and carried out local activities, all with the object of drawing attention to recruitment, employee retention, the
working environment and social responsibility.

THE EXCELLENCE
VALUES IN PRACTICE
MODEL AS A
The interaction between the anchoring of the Excellence Model throughout the organisation and
MANAGEMENT TOOL the basis of Post Danmark’s values ensures that
Since 1998, Post Danmark has used the Excellence Model from the European Foundation for
Quality Management as the enterprise’s basic
management model, convinced that the longterm use of a structured management model
will produce the best results. The model calls for
a systematic description of the target areas: leadership, policy and strategy, people, partnerships
and resources as well as processes.
It also requires the enterprise to measure employee and customer satisfaction, society results
and key results (financial and non-financial). The
results from the measurements are used actively
throughout the enterprise to identify target areas. Self-assessment in the form of extensive and
systematic reviews at regular intervals of activities and results at all levels in the enterprise is an
important tool.

our core values are not only printed words, but
something that employees and managers comply with in their everyday lives across teams and
units. The values help create a personal commitment in relation to the enterprise’s targets and
results and are reflected in the employees’ daily
actions.

RECRUITMENT
A large part of Post Danmark’s employees are
postmen and production staff.
Due to the great demand for labour in Denmark,
it has been necessary to take other routes to attract labour, and throughout 2007 employees
were recruited in both Sweden and Germany.
Within distribution, approx. 200 German and
Swedish postmen are employed.
In Denmark, postmen and production staff are
primarily recruited through notices on Post Danmark’s website and through advertisements in,
for example, the daily press.
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NUMBER OF STAFF
BY EMPLOYMENT TYPE, 2007

PAID BY THE HOUR

PAID BY THE MONTH

NUMBER OF STAFF
BY EMPLOYMENT AREA as a percentage, 2007

other
PRIVATE CUSTOMERS (POST OFFICES)
LETTER PRODUCTION
AND TRANSPORT
DISTRIBUTION (POSTMEN)

POST DANMARK’S TEN RULES OF CONDUCT

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

NUMBER OF FULL-TIME EQUIVALENTS

Leadership must be exercised coherently to ensure success
Objectives and expectations must be based on facts and dialogue
Results must be visible and form the basis for ongoing improvements
All units, teams and staff must know that quality is important for their customers
Continuous improvements can only be achieved by involving everyone
The staff’s knowledge and skills must be continuously maintained and developed
Knowledge of best practice must be shared with colleagues and units at all levels
All employees should take responsibility for identifying and satisfying customer needs
All employees must be fully briefed on Post Danmark’s situation
Self-supporting teams are a central element in Post Danmark’s organisation.

In May 2007, Post Danmark held together with
DONG Energy and Novo Nordisk a network event
on Global Risk Management, in which 100 experienced economists participated. The purpose
was to bring together specialists in their respective fields to give them professional inspiration,
networking, and to increase the knowledge of
employment areas in Post Danmark.

Danmark’s many opportunities, including the
one-year trainee course.

TRAINEES

During the trainee course, it is ensured that the
newly trained attendants get an overall knowledge of the enterprise and its interdisciplinary
processes and specialise in their specific professional fields, e.g. logistics, finance or HR. During the course, trainees get the opportunity to
build up a strong professional and social network across the organisation.

A number of channels are used to communicate
Post Danmark’s job and career opportunities to
the potential labour market. Through active participation in, for example, career fairs, the attention of newly trained people is drawn to Post

Post Danmark has focused on newly trained academic workers since 1996, and was one of the
first enterprises in Denmark to offer a trainee
course.
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sponsorships

Post Danmark is one of the leading Danish enterprises using sports sponsorships. Post Danmark
is, for example, a main sponsor of the cycle race ‘Post Danmark Rundt’.

FOCUS ON
COMPETENCY
DEVELOPMENT
AND CAREER
Post Danmark is working actively on the core values: competent and ready for change. This requires employees who are competent in their
respective fields and that the enterprise is developed and improved as external factors, resources
and objectives change.

MANAGEMENT DEVELOPMENT
Good leadership is a prerequisite for the generation of good business results, which in the final
analysis add value to the enterprise. Therefore,
Post Danmark needs the best possible managers. Clear initiatives are taken for both present
and potential team leaders and managers. Management courses are offered across the enterprise, ranging from pre-manager to merit certificate courses.

Since 1993, Post Danmark has strived to get
more women into management and there is still
focus on creating a more equal balance in the division of sexes by manager profile type. Female
employees are motivated to seek jobs at management level, e.g. through the holding of seminars
on the subject ‘Sex and Management’, the establishment of networks, mentor schemes etc.
The requirements for business, professional and
personal competencies are being increased because Post Danmark is facing considerable challenges. Therefore, steps taken by Post Danmark
include competency development of managers
through participation in, for example, certificate
courses, which form part of the MBA study.

TALENT BANK
Post Danmark has established a talent bank,
which helps to ensure that there are qualified
candidates for vacant managerial positions. Employees with a manager potential are admitted
to the Talent Bank and go through individual development processes which help develop the individual employee to handle a managerial position. In this way, Post Danmark ensures that

employees are developed. At the same time, career openings are made visible and career wishes met.

POST DANMARK AS
A WORKPLACE
To attract and retain the right employees, investments are made in, for example, team development and focus on the employees’ physical and
mental working environment.

ORGANISATION IN SELFSUPPORTING TEAMS
Self-supporting teams (SST) is a central word in
the daily job done by employees. Working in
self-supporting teams is based on the philosophy that each individual human has something
special to offer and that all employees prefer a
challenging job. It is also based on the conviction
that a team as a whole can get more done than
a group consisting of individual employees. To
motivate our staff to maintain focus on the SST
work, Post Danmark has since 2001 awarded
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prizes to the best teams within distribution, post
offices, sales, production and administration.

MQW – WE LISTEN TO OUR
EMPLOYEES
Post Danmark uses Measurement of Quality in
Working Life (MQW) to evaluate the employees’
opinion on the working environment. The annual MQW studies result in a number of measurements of satisfaction at various levels and are
used in the daily work to improve employee satisfaction on a continuous basis.
MQW measurements of 1,400 teams consisting
of between 4-20 employees are carried out every year. The measurements ensure that the individual employees’ points of view are taken seriously and that action can be taken in response to
these. Each team receives a report with feedback

on team results, which subsequently are used at
compulsory local dialogue meetings in the individual teams. In this way, the reports become a
tool for team development and improvement of
the elements highlighted by MQW.

MQW
2007
2006
2005
2004
2003

MQW 2007 shows a slight fall in overall satisfaction and in the modules Work, Workplace and
Immediate Superior. The response rate, which
remains high, can be seen as an expression of
the great interest among the employees to help
improve the enterprise. The fall should therefore
be seen in light of the challenges of the previous year in the form of increased competition
and much talk about liberalisation, which has
helped to create uncertainty about the employees’ future.
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IN 2007, FOCUS WAS PLACED ON:

Year	

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

				target	target

· Lifts
· Work postures and design of workstations
· Use of transport equipment
· Falls and stumbles
· Behaviour in traffic
· Mental working environment.

Accidents at work with absence

1,258

BALANCE BETWEEN WORK AND
LEISURE TIME
Post Danmark is working actively to make the
workplace more inclusive for the employees,
e.g.:
· care days after giving birth
· senior schemes for elderly employees
· part-time employment
· flexible jobs
· job centre
· focus on health and safety at work.

WORKING
ENVIRONMENT
The employees’ working environment is composed of several elements, and the enterprise
considers it important that the working environment is formed in a symbiosis of working life and
private life. Post Danmark wishes to be a workplace which pays attention to the physical and
mental working environment. This is achieved by
being conscious of Post Danmark’s social responsibility and by preparing a number of policies and
guidelines to help obtain a working day for the

1,480

1,467

950

850

employees which is as little stressful as possible
and compatible with their private lives.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND
SAFETY CERTIFICATION
Post Danmark wishes to produce the best possible working environment for the employees. Post
Danmark’s occupational health and safety efforts
are therefore planned on the basis of OHSAS
18001, which is an international standard for occupational health and safety management.
Post Danmark’s occupational health and safety efforts are documented by an occupational health and safety certification, and steps are
taken to ensure that the activities of the occupational health and safety management system
specification are targeted.

TAKE CARE OF YOUR HEALTH
Many of Post Danmark’s employees perform
physical work. To ensure that these employees
are protected from physical and psychological
damage in their work, workplace assessments
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»The past year at Post Danmark was a year marked by
changes. The new distribution model with adaptations
of the delivery of mail has made the postman’s job
easier«
Brian Riedel, POSTMAN

RETENTION

At the end of 2007, an agreement was entered into with 1,150 Post Danmark employees on an
individual agreement. The individual agreements cover both temporary and permanent solutions,
including reduced working time, reassignment to a different job, flexible jobs, senior employee
agreements etc.

are used to identify and optimise the employees’
workstations.
Focus is also placed on bringing down the
number of accidents at work to improve the
working environment. Post Danmark has set targets for this effort. Whilst several areas have succeeded in bringing down the number of accidents at work, unfortunately, there has been an
increase in other areas. The efforts to reduce the
number of accidents at work will therefore be
intensified in the coming years. These efforts include various elements, not least increasing the
attention to potential accident situations. New
employees will be given instruction regarding exposed areas, and various information campaigns
will be launched such as the slippery road campaign to increase employees’ attention.

and guidance on occupational psychology as
well as on social and staff conditions. In addition,
an occupational psychologist has been engaged
to give guidance and provide consultant’s assistance in cases of cooperation difficulties.
To promote employee welfare, Post Danmark
supports various health initiatives such as an exercise room, stop smoking courses, ergonomics
and physiotherapy.

SICK ABSENCE

EMPLOYEE WELFARE

In 2007, Post Danmark recorded an increase
in the sick absence rate of 6.5 per cent on last
year. This is not satisfactory, and action to prevent and handle sick absence is one of Post Danmark’s most important action areas. For the period from 2007-2010, a target has been set for
reduction of the sick absence rate from 7.4 per
cent in 2007 to 5.9 per cent in 2010.

A good mental working environment is also a
matter of employees’ health and well-being.
For employees with special problems, Post Danmark’s Staff Advisory Function provides advice

Post Danmark focuses on preventive efforts to
obtain the largest possible reduction in the sick
absence rate. Prevention is principally a matter of

ensuring that the planning of work and the daily
challenges at the workplace function in such a
way that they do not give rise to absenteeism.
Post Danmark is also doing a good job in retaining employees with temporarily or permanently
reduced working capacity. Examples of retention
can be initiatives that ensure employees are reassigned after accidents at work or long-term sick
absence.
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»As one of the largest Danish enterprises, Post Danmark
has a considerable social responsibility. We do our utmost
to live up to it«
Lars kaspersen, HEAD OF COMMUNICATIONS

SOCIETY AND
THE ENVIRONMENT
Responsibility for the surrounding society form
an integral part of the Post Danmark Group’s
business method.
Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) is defined
by Post Danmark as:
CSR covers activities voluntarily implemented by
Post Danmark to develop and utilise our core
competencies for the benefit of Danish society,
the company’s finances, and its image as a company with a large social commitment.
The basic CSR activities that characterise the Post
Danmark Group are the following:
· a sound and well-operated company
· active action for the environment
· a good working environment and an inclusive
workplace
· support of organisations
· sports and cultural sponsorships
· training offers for children and young people
· openness and dialogue.

POST DANMARK’S
SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY
At Post Danmark, we are working systematically
to increase social responsibility. This is an active
part of our staff policy. Post Danmark wishes to
attract, retain and develop competent employees
regardless of sex, ethnicity, age, religion, handicap or sexual orientation. Post Danmark has established partnerships with a number of local
authorities to help weak groups into work. Like
many other enterprises, Post Danmark has ascertained that it is getting more and more difficult
to recruit staff, particularly production staff in
Letter Production and Transport and in Courier,
Express, Parcels. In the efforts to obtain labour,
the individual units have made a large amount of
work towards and been very successful in integrating marginalised groups as part of their staff
retention efforts.

taking alternative routes like the DR job bus and
‘fra bænk til banen’ projects, the efforts to attract
energetic employees who would otherwise not
have found their way to Post Danmark have been
successful.
In addition, the Copenhagen Parcel Centre use
mentors and welfare coordinators to support
marginalised groups, and it is considered very
important to involve employees with different
ethnic backgrounds in the Danish work culture
through a dialogue with the Confederation of
Danish Industries.
The plan is to spread the positive experience
from the Copenhagen Parcel Centre throughout the organisation so that other units can be
inspired by the alternative ways of recruitment
used at the Copenhagen Parcel Centre.

CHRISTMAS SEAL HOUSES

THE COPENHAGEN PARCEL
CENTRE

The work of the Christmas Seal Houses, which is
financed by the income from the sale of annual
Christmas Seals, helps to signal that high priority
is given by Post Danmark to our responsibility for
fellow human beings and society.

The Copenhagen Parcel Centre is one of the places that has gone a long way towards integrating
otherwise marginalised groups and giving them
an opportunity to return to the labour market. By

Every year, it is possible to send approx. 700 children aged between 6 and 14 who have a troubled everyday life to stay at one of the coun-
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try’s four Christmas Seal Houses. Experienced
teachers and educators are employed to listen
to and talk with the children and help them recover cheerfulness and self-confidence. By far
most of the children are doing better than before when they get back home into their usual
environment.

duce and set targets for its impact on the environment. The development of its most significant
impacts on the environment is being monitored.

CLIMATIC CHANGES

Environmentally responsible decisions take
account of the enterprise’s impact on the
environment.

The most significant impact on the environment
is the greenhouse effect caused by CO2. It has
been documented that the emission of CO2 may
contribute to creating climatic changes. This is
therefore a special focus area for Post Danmark.

Post Danmark aims to operate as an environmentally conscious and respected transport and
distribution enterprise and business partner. The
enterprise is therefore striving to be able to produce effective documentation of its impact on
the environment and enters into a dialogue on
environmental issues. It also works systematically with environmental control throughout the
enterprise.

The total CO2 impact of Post Danmark has increased slightly in recent years. During the past
period, on the other hand, transport, among other things, has contributed to reducing the emission of other substances. A reduced CO2 impact
in the coming years is expected to be achieved
through renewed energy savings efforts, better
route planning and capacity utilisation and the
use of modular road trains.

Post Danmark is not a heavy polluter but has
nonetheless taken a number of initiatives to re-

Targets have been set for the enterprise’s overall
environmental efficiency, which expresses its im-

ENVIRONMENTALLY RESPONSIBLE
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pact on the environment relative to the number
of mail items. From Post Danmark’s first preparation of green accounts for 1996, the environmental efficiency has been improved by 43 per
cent until 2007.
Post Danmark’s work on introducing environmental improvements on a continuous basis
makes the choice of Post Danmark as supplier
a good choice from an environmental point of
view. Fundamentally, the enterprise’s logistics
chain with consolidation of shared transport of
mail is efficient and environmentally friendly.
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»Risk management in a large complex enterprise
like Post Danmark is an important focus area for
Management«
Bjarne wind, MEMBER OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD

RISK MANAGEMENT
AT POST DANMARK
The overall objective of risk management is to
develop and apply methods that limit the risk
and extent of losses, threats and operational
disturbances that may hit Post Danmark. This
is done by drawing attention to and creating a
general overview of the enterprise’s risks and describing the many different ways in which risks
may affect the enterprise. In addition, stand-by
measures are prepared which can handle specific risks before, during and after any event. The
control of this work has been formalised through
a number of policies and guidelines. By way of
example can be mentioned IT security policy, a
compliance manual, guidelines for physical security and the finance policy, each of which in their
own specific field helps to reduce the risks that
Post Danmark is exposed to.
Since 2005, Post Danmark has worked on developing and implementing an Enterprise Risk
Management (ERM) programme in addition to
and as a link between the existing risk management activities.
Post Danmark’s ERM programme has been developed in an ongoing dialogue with external
partners from the consultants industry, the world
of research and other enterprises.
A highly prioritised objective of Post Danmark’s
ERM activities has been for the activities per-

formed to add value to the enterprise rather
than to be passively recording or status-giving
activities. The influence from standards such as
COSO have therefore been inspiring rather than
controlling.
Given this objective, it has been vital for Post
Danmark to ensure that the ERM activities increase the organisation’s consciousness of the
risks that it encounters. Great importance has
therefore been attached to involving the enterprise’s various business units and functions in the
work of identifying and assessing risks. This has
required that tools and guidelines be developed
for the employees involved in order to ensure a
uniform approach to risk management throughout the organisation and acceptance of the fact
that the implementation of ERM in Post Danmark is a process in which patience is required
in order that everybody involved can learn from
the experience gained before new targets are
introduced.
Thus, since the introduction of an ERM policy in
2005, Post Danmark’s business units have therefore carried out three local risk identifications.
The business units have subsequently assessed
relevant risks in terms of their probabilities and
consequences as well as the possibilities of making a more profitable risk identification effort.
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The ERM policy requires that the business units
initially prepare lists of their own risks and discuss these internally in order to spread the
knowledge of the business units’ own risks. This
also implies a request for local action based on
the higher risk awareness, which is one of the
main purposes of the ERM work.
The use of standardised risk assessment models
has made it possible to consolidate the risk assessments at group level in a list of the Group’s
major risks. This was first presented to and discussed by the enterprise’s top management (the
Executive Board and the managements of the
business units).
The overall conclusions from the risk identification and assessment work were then gathered in
a risk map as illustration of the enterprise’s risk
exposure and presented to the enterprise’s Board
of Directors for approval. The placing of individual risks in this risk map also determines the priority given to special action in relation to the individual risk. Thus, more detailed analyses will be
conducted to identify risks which are believed to
have a high total probability and consequence
combined with good possibilities for making a
more profitable risk identification effort.
The plans for further development of Post Danmark’s ERM programme include more frequent

reports from the business units. These reports
will be incorporated into the existing financial reports to ensure that risk management is
viewed in connection with the general financial
management.
The ultimate objective of the ERM work is to create a continuous process of identifying, assessing, reporting and handling the enterprise’s most
significant risks.
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to reduce the staff turnover rate. In addition, various measures are taken to increase employee and
job satisfaction. Elements of this work include:
· staff appraisal interviews
· employee benefits
· training
· career opportunities
· dialogue meetings
· focus on occupational health and safety.

ABSENCE

STRATEGIC RISKS
To put it briefly, Post Danmark’s challenges in the
near future are:

The retention and recruitment efforts are also
believed to have a positive impact on sick absence and are regarded as essential elements to
reduce absence, a challenge that Post Danmark
has in common with large parts of the rest of the
labour market.

RETENTION AND RECRUITMENT
A good many Post Danmark employees are only
employed for a brief period. By way of example,
Post Danmark has a large number of Saturday
postmen, for whom the job is a temporary one,
e.g. students who will quit their jobs when they
have completed their studies. To this can be added the general development in the labour market where competition for labour is heavy. This
implies costs of instructing new employees and a
lack of knowledge base and experience.

Sick absence represents a loss to both the employee and the enterprise. In 2007, therefore,
Post Danmark implemented a special action plan
with the clear objective of reducing the level of
absence.

Therefore, Post Danmark carries out regular examinations to identify what efforts can be taken

A sudden sharp fall in volume may be due to increased electronic substitution and deregulation

For a review of employee conditions, see the relevant section.

COMPETITION / MARKET
SITUATION
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of the market, which cannot be compensated
for in due time by adjusting expenses or by developing new products.
The establishment of a competing company for
distribution of letters in the most densely populated areas of the country is one example of
increased competition. This intensifies the competition that Post Danmark’s core business, distribution of physical mail, is exposed to.
Post Danmark is watching market trends closely in order to provide a basis for the implementation of the necessary measures as early as
possible.

POLITICAL RISKS / CONCESSION
Post Danmark is governed by the Post Danmark
Act and the associated Concession setting out
rights and obligations.
If these conditions are changed politically, Post
Danmark’s market conditions will change correspondingly. It is already a well-known fact that
Post Danmark’s monopoly of distributing letters
weighing up to 50 grams will be abolished by
2011 at the latest.

centres are overall found to be low. The reason
for this must be found in consistent work during
many years with focus on creating security for
the employees and secure frameworks for valuables sent through Post Danmark and thus entrusted to its care. Thus, post offices, distribution centres and letter and parcel sorting centres
as well as Post Danmark’s transports are duly secured based on specific assessments.
With Post Danmark’s wide extension with many
physical locations throughout the country, we
cannot avoid, for example, burglaries despite
our extensive security work. A burglary especially represents a loss to the citizens or enterprises
which have, for example, sent a parcel by Post
Danmark. In that connection, Post Danmark has
established a customer centre, which is the customer’s direct entry to Post Danmark so that the
customer is exposed to as little inconvenience as
possible as a result of the events aimed at the citizens’ mail while in the care of Post Danmark.

RATIONALISATION PROJECTS

Post Danmark’s investment in De Post – La Poste
depends on the political conditions and market
trends in Belgium.

Failure to meet on-time delivery rates or to perform rationalisation projects can represent a risk
if Post Danmark’s ability to adjust expenses is delayed. These risks are handled through improved
project control, focus on benchmarks and best
practice and through development of incentive
programmes.

IMAGE

RISK PREPAREDNESS

The public takes an interest in Post Danmark, so
from time to time the company is the subject of
comment in the national media.

Detailed risk analyses have been performed for
the vital parts of Post Danmark’s production facilities (letter and parcel sorting centres). They
ensure that Post Danmark is capable of handling the crisis situation that will arise if a letter
or parcel sorting centre is unable to sort mail for
a short or long period of time.

Changes in the price structure, post office structure and changes in the organisation of distribution routes, which are changes necessary to improve the business basis and customer service,
are continually subject to debate in the press.
It is Post Danmark’s objective that the employees
should be proud of their workplace and the role
that Post Danmark plays in Danish society – both
as a big workplace and as a supplier of postal
services to both the business community and individuals. Post Danmark is therefore jealous of its
image and its values.

OPERATIONAL RISKS
Post Danmark has conducted several analyses
and assessments of the enterprise’s total operational risks as well as specific operational risks.
The overall conclusion is that Post Danmark has
a high security level and that operational risks
such as destructions of letter and parcel sorting

In recent years, Post Danmark’s letter and parcel production has undergone centralisation
and automation. This increases its vulnerability
to events that might affect Post Danmark’s production facilities because mail of a same scope is
now being sorted at few locations. At the same
time, sorting is more dependent on electronics
and IT.
The risk analyses contain detailed descriptions of
the security level, the level of preparedness before, during and after an event and a plan setting out how to handle the situation if the centre
is put out of service for up to several years.

age or claims for compensation or compulsory
insurances.
Post Danmark has taken out insurance on real
and personal property through an all risks insurance which covers all properties, equipment and
personal property.
Post Danmark has also taken out an extra expense insurance, by which Post Danmark is guaranteed compensation if, for example, a centre or
part of it is put out of service as a result of events
covered by the insurance.
Post Danmark has furthermore taken out an insurance which covers extra expenses incurred by
Post Danmark if a vital subsupplier is unable to
supply the agreed services.
The insurances have been taken out with a high
excess. Some of the reasons for this are Post
Danmark’s size, loss experience and claims predictability for ordinary types of claims relating to
operations.
In addition, Post Danmark has taken out all statutory insurances.
Post Danmark’s insurance connections are carefully selected, and the insurances are placed on the
basis of an overall financial assessment of the risk.

OTHER RISKS
SUPPLIERS
Post Danmark reduces dependence on a few
suppliers by using a number of suppliers to supply machines and technology in connection with
new investment in the production apparatus.
In certain areas, the number of suppliers is relatively modest. This risk is reduced by using wellconsolidated enterprises and by ensuring they
possess a high level of professional competence
within the enterprise in relation to the technology supplied.

IT
In recent years, the IT risk has grown as a result
of the increased use of IT as a part of Post Danmark’s processes and production. The associated risk is dealt with by continuously focusing on
and developing IT security policies and controls
and by using analysis tools and business continuity management.

INSURABLE RISKS
Post Danmark uses risk analyses and calculation
models when it takes out insurances, whether
insurances against unexpected property dam-

Business critical central IT systems and data are
mirrored on servers in different physical locations
with their own emergency power supply.
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PENSION
Post Danmark’s pension liabilities are funded
through external pension agreements. An agreement concerning payment of a current contribution of 12 per cent of the pensionable pay paid
has been entered into with the State to cover
the State’s pension liability towards civil servants
and staff employed by Post Danmark on special
collective agreement terms. The current pension contribution is based on the assumption of
a specified age on retirement and an assumed
final pay on retirement. The agreement is based
on two per cent of employees leaving Post Danmark every year before retirement. The pension
cost is subject to adjustment in case of changes
in the mentioned assumptions. This adjustment
obligation is calculated on a continuous basis
and provided for in the financial statements. The
present value of this obligation was calculated at
DKK 176 million at year-end 2007.
In 2002, the current rate of contribution was reduced from the 20 per cent originally fixed to
12 per cent against a non-recurring payment of
DKK 1,738 million. According to the agreement,
both the State and Post Danmark are under an
obligation to carry out subsequent adjustments
to the payment for the reduction of pension liability if the assumptions relating to the reduction
of staff are changed.

ACCOUNTING PROCESS
Post Danmark has established systems and procedures for monitoring and securing the effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls in relation
to hedging of accounting risks. Management
carries out tests of the internal controls on a current basis, just as accounting risks as well as the
risk of fraud are reassessed by Management.

FINANCIAL RISKS
Post Danmark’s business activities expose the
enterprise to a number of risks that may affect
the enterprise’s financial position, for example interest rate risks and currency fluctuations
arising on payments and balance sheet items
in connection with mail exchanged with other
countries and the resulting settlements. Financial risks, including the raising of capital and investment of surplus liquidity, are managed at
central level in accordance with instructions and
guidelines approved by the Executive Board and
the Board of Directors. It is Post Danmark’s policy only to use derivative financial instruments
to hedge risks.

LIQUIDITY RISK
The enterprise’s financial resources are evaluated on a continuous basis and include binding
loan commitments and cash reserves. With the

present financial resources there is not believed
to be any risk of liquidity problems.

INTEREST RATE RISK
The interest rate risk is primarily concerned with
interest-bearing debt since the enterprise’s cash
is mainly held as short-term money-market deposits and cash balances at post offices. The total portfolio of loans amounted to DKK 1,636
million at year-end against DKK 1,561 million at
year-end 2006. 57 per cent of the loan portfolio
is comprised of fixed-rate loans. The interest rate
risk totalled DKK 28 million at year-end 2007,
calculated as the change of the market value of
Post Danmark’s loan portfolio on a one per cent
change of the interest rate. The average duration before tax of the entire loan portfolio is 1.2
years.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK
Post Danmark’s foreign currency risk arises mainly on amounts paid for mail exchanged with other countries and the raising of loans in Swedish kroner, British pounds and euros. The raising
of loans in Swedish kroner and British pounds is
hedged via derivative financial instruments. Purchases of goods and services from other countries are mostly paid for in Danish kroner. The total net currency risk is modest. Hedging is done
by using forward exchange contracts, which are
renewed on a current basis by approximately
one month at a time. The euro risk is not hedged
because of the Danish fixed-rate policy in relation to the euro.

CREDIT RISK
Credit risk covers trade receivables, bank deposits and financial instruments. Losses on receivables arising from credit sales are minimal owing
to high diversification of receivables and lack of
credit concentration. It is the enterprise’s policy
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to carry out a systematic credit assessment of
customers and only to cooperate with financial
business partners with a high credit rating. The
credit risk is therefore considered insignificant.
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ANNOUNCEMENTS TO THE DANISH COMMERCE AND COMPANIES AGENCY IN 2007

4 January
29 January
8 February
14 March
28 March
16 April
3 May
25 May
27 August
1 October
22 November

Post Danmark acquires 51 per cent of Transportgruppen A/S
Financial calendar 2007
Post Danmark withdraws from Morgendistribution Danmark
Announcement of Financial Statements
Notice of Annual General Meeting
Summary of Annual General Meeting
Minutes of Annual General Meeting
Interim Financial Statements for the Period 1 January – 31 March 2007
Interim Financial Statements for the Period 1 January – 30 June 2007
Announcement of new product, cash-free delivery and adjustment of prices
Interim Financial Statements for the Period 1 January – 30 September 2007

FINANCIAL CALENDAR

Annual General Meeting: 16 April 2008
Expected publication of announcements of financial statements and interim financial statements:
Annual Report 2007
14 March
Interim Financial Statements for the Period 1 January – 31 March 2008
23 May
Interim Financial Statements for the Period 1 January – 30 June 2008
29 August
Interim Financial Statements for the Period 1 January – 30 September 2008
20 November

SHAREHOLDER
INFORMATION
Post Danmark’s share capital is DKK 500 million,
corresponding to 25 million shares of DKK 20
each. Each share carries one vote. The shares are
unlisted.

dinary events during a year, such as a new large
sale of shares or significant changes in Post Danmark’s financial performance, the price will be
changed to reflect the new value.

The largest shareholders in Post Danmark A/S
are:

This price fixing model reflects the fact that Post
Danmark is not subject to regular valuations as
it would be if the company were listed on the
stock exchange.

The Danish State holding 75 per cent
CVC Capital Partners holding 22 per cent.
Of the remaining 3 per cent, 2.4 per cent were
sold on favourable terms to approx. 11,000 employees. 0.24 per cent is included in a management incentive programme and the rest (0.36
per cent) is made up of own portfolio. The management incentive programme comprises partly the selling of shares in 2006 and partly the
granting of share options. The sale in 2006 was
made at market price. The options are exercisable at the same price from 31 March 2009 to
31 March 2011.
In connection with the sale of employee shares,
Post Danmark has committed itself to repurchasing shares purchased by the employees.
The price at which the shares can be resold to
Post Danmark is usually fixed once a year by Post
Danmark’s financial adviser, based on Post Danmark’s profit performance and developments in
the Danish share market. In case of any extraor-

DIVIDEND
It is Post Danmark’s policy to pay dividend at the
rate of 75 per cent of profit after tax provided
that Post Danmark’s solvency ratio does not drop
below 30 per cent.
In the year under review, dividend paid for 2006
amounted to DKK 669 million.
The Board of Directors recommends to the general meeting that a total dividend of DKK 538
million be paid for the financial year 2007, equal
to a dividend of DKK 21.50 per share.
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2006

AMOUNTS IN DKKM 			

INCOME			

		statement	terms	

EFFECTS	statement	terms	

INCOME

				
STATEMENT			
STATEMENT
			
NONADJUSTED FOR		
NONADJUSTED FOR
		
income
RECURRING	non-RECURRING	income
RECURRING	non-RECURRING

Revenue
11,809		
Other operating income
273
(236)
Total income
12,082
(236)
External operating expenses
(3,728)		
Staff costs
(6,908)
(64)
Profit/(loss) before deprec., amort. and imp. losses (EBITDA) 1,446
(300)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses
(598)		
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT)
848
(300)
Profits/(losses) of associates and joint ventures
88
125
Other financials
(35)		
Profit/(loss) before tax
901
(175)

11,809
37
11,846
(3,728)
(6,972)
1,146
(598)
548
213
(35)
726

11,648		
70
(26)
11,718
(26)
(3,342)		
(6,723)		
1,653
(26)
(588)		
1,065
(26)
168		
(46)		
1,187
(26)

EFFECTS

11,648
44
11,692
(3,342)
(6,723)
1,627
(588)
1,039
168
(46)
1,161

FINANCIAL REVIEW
INCOME STATEMENT
The consolidated financial statements consolidate the financial statements of Post Danmark
A/S and its subsidiaries Post Danmark Leasing
A/S, Transportgruppen A/S, Budstikken Transport
A/S and Data Scanning A/S.
Profit before tax was DKK 901 million. The profit,
equivalent to a return on equity of 26 per cent, is
in line with the expectations expressed in the Announcement of Interim Financial Statements for
the Third Quarter of 2007. The performance was
affected by a number of non-recurring terms.
Adjusted for non-recurring terms, the decline
in performance was 37 per cent, which is not
satisfactory. Profit after tax was DKK 713 million
compared with DKK 892 milllion in 2006.
Total income amounted to DKK 12,082 million,
up DKK 364 million on 2006. The increase in revenue for the year was in particular the result of
growth in revenue from parcels as well as the
consolidation of Transportgruppen (acquired in
2007) which affected income positively by approx. DKK 290 million. To this can be added an
accounting profit of DKK 157 million realised
from sales of properties. Expenses in relation to
the sale totalled DKK 39 million and a net gain
of DKK 118 million is therefore recognised under other operating income. The properties were

sold as part of the general efforts to adapt the
organisation by restructuring the business and
disposing of the properties concerned.
Total income for the year was also affected
positively by the distribution of DKK 118 million in connection with the sale of Kommuneforsikring to the Norwegian insurance company
Gjensidige.
External operating expenses rose moderately, due
mainly to the consolidation of Transportgruppen
which affected operating expenses by approx.
DKK 245 million. The rise can moreover be explained by higher transport expenses as a result of
the growing volume of cost-intensive products. In
addition, increased expenses derived from strong
growth in the activities of several subsidiaries.
Staff costs rose during the financial year under
review. The increase was primarily driven by pay
rises under collective agreements and the addition of Transportgruppen which caused staff
costs to climb by approx. DKK 48 million. Staff
costs were furthermore affected by an additional holiday pay provision of DKK 70 million. The
provision was caused by an interpretation of the
international accounting standard IAS 19. Pursuant to this standard, holiday pay must also be
provided for in respect of pension contributions
of the employer. Staff costs were reduced by a

DKK 100 million income recognition in 2007 by
reason of a reassessment of the Group’s pension
adjustment obligations as well as adjustments
in relation to the Group’s provisions for infirmity
pension, DKK 24 million, and a Jobbørs provision, DKK 10 million.
Profits/(losses) of associates and joint ventures
showed a profit of DKK 88 million compared
with DKK 168 million in 2006. De Post – La Poste
represents the most important activity. The company continues to develop very satisfactorily.
In 2007, De Post – La Poste’s management implemented a three-year early retirement programme which will entail future savings on
wages, salaries etc. The programme involved
a non-recurring cost, of which Post Danmark’s
share was approx. DKK 125 million, in 2007. The
cost is recognised under profits/(losses) of associates and joint ventures.
The operating profit (EBIT) amounted to DKK
848 million, which is 20 per cent lower than the
operating profit of DKK 1,065 million reported
in 2006. If adjusted for non-recurring effects of
DKK 300 million in 2007 and DKK 26 million in
2006, EBIT dropped from DKK 1,039 million in
2006 to DKK 548 million in 2007, corresponding
to a fall of 47 per cent.
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2006

The non-recurring effects are composed as
shown below.
The main items of the financial statements are
analysed in the following.

the Danish State paid a portion of the publishers’
expenses in relation to the distribution of daily
newspapers. In 2007, magazine mail showed a
minor decline in both revenue and volume, primarily due to enhanced competition from other
suppliers.

REVENUE
Total revenue grew slightly in 2007 compared
with 2006, mainly reflecting the consolidation
of Transportgruppen. Within the largest business segment, letters, revenue was on a par
with 2006, while volume showed a minor fall
compared with 2006. The Business Mail segment continued to be mostly affected by the fall
in volume due to electronic substitution and a
changed pattern of distribution among several
major customers.
Parcels revenue and volume showed handsome growth from 2006 to 2007. Thus, revenue grew by 28 per cent and volume by 5 per
cent. This performance should be seen in the
light of the strong position held by Post Danmark in the parcels market. To this can be added that comfortable growth was seen in revenue
for Post Danmark’s subsidiaries, Budstikken and
Transportgruppen.
In 2007, daily newspapers showed a substantial
fall in both revenue and volume as a result of
the abolition of the previous subsidy scheme for
the distribution of daily newspapers etc., where

Unaddressed mail (advertising mail etc.) showed
a sharp fall in both revenue and volume, reflecting in particular the loss of a major customer and
that the share of households registered with the
‘No ads, please’ scheme rose to 18 per cent.

OTHER OPERATING INCOME
Other operating income, which includes external rental income, a net gain on disposal of assets and income from the sale of Kommuneforsikring, totalled DKK 273 million in 2007, which
is significantly above the prior-year level (DKK 70
million).
The properties were sold at an accounting profit of DKK 157 million. Selling expenses totalled
DKK 39 million, and a net gain of DKK 118 million is therefore recognised under other operating income. The properties were sold as part of
the general efforts to adapt the organisation by
restructuring the business and disposing of the
properties concerned.

sulting from the sale of Kommuneforsikring to
the Norwegian insurance company Gjensidige.
Kommuneforsikring was owned by Foreningen
til Begrænsning af Skadeudgifter i kommuner og
regioner f.m.b.a. (Association for Limitation of
Claims Expenses in Municipalities and Regions),
of which Post Danmark was a member. The association will be dissolved as part of the sale of
Kommuneforsikring and Post Danmark has recognised the proceeds from the sale.
The remaining DKK 37 million, which are recognised under other operating income, relate to income from renting of the Group’s properties and
disposal of assets.

EXTERNAL OPERATING EXPENSES
External operating expenses amounted to DKK
3,728 million, up DKK 386 million on 2006.
The rise in expenses reflects expenses in connection with the consolidation of Transportgruppen, which affected expenses by approx. DKK
245 million, as well as a 61 per cent increase in
transport expenses. The rise in transport expenses was attributable to increased volumes of light
goods consignments and parcels as well as recruitment challenges in Post Danmark Transport,
which led to enhanced use of external hauliers.

In addition, other operating income for the year
was affected positively by DKK 118 million re-

NON-RECURRING ITEMS

2007

Proceeds from the sale of Kommuneforsikring
Sales of properties
Expenses relating to sales of properties
Additional holiday pay provision
Adjustment of pension adjustment obligation
Adjustment of infirmity pension provision
Adjustment of Jobbørs provision
Non-recurring items in EBITDA and EBIT
Effect of pension provision in De Post – La Poste
Non-recurring items in profit/(loss) before tax

118
157
(39)
(70)
100
24
10
300
(125)
175

2006

26

26
26
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STAFF COSTS

OPERATING PROFIT (EBIT)

Staff costs amounted to DKK 6,908 million in
2007 compared with DKK 6,723 million in 2006,
up DKK 185 million or 3 per cent. This development should be seen in the light of the DKK
70 million rise in holiday pay obligations, which
was, however, offset by a DKK 100 million reduction (income recognition) in the Group’s pension adjustment obligations as a result of changes in the pension pattern as well as adjustments
in relation to the Group’s provisions for infirmity
pension, DKK 24 million, and a Jobbørs provision, DKK 10 million.

Post Danmark’s primary earnings have dropped
significantly in recent years as a consequence of
falling letters volume, increasing depreciation
and amortisation charges and growing operating expenses. Operating profit for the year (EBIT)
of DKK 848 million was positively affected by
DKK 300 million income of a non-recurring nature as a result of which earnings from operating
activities actually dropped by 47 per cent from
2006 to 2007.

The development can moreover be explained
by general pay increases and the consolidation
of Transportgruppen, which affected staff costs
by DKK 48 million. Staff costs accounted for 62
per cent of total expenses, which is a lower rate
compared with the year before (63 per cent).
The number of staff, translated into full-time
equivalents, was 21,163, a reduction of 348
full-time equivalents from the 21,511 full-time
equivalents the year before. The number of fulltime equivalents for the year was affected positively by the inclusion of Transportgruppen as
a result of which the real fall was 476 full-time
equivalents, corresponding to a fall of approx.
2 per cent.

FINANCIALS
The share of profit or loss in associates and joint
ventures was DKK 88 million in 2007 compared
with an income of DKK 168 million in 2006. The
share of profit or loss was in particular affected by a non-recurring cost of approx. DKK 125
million in De Post – La Poste. The non-recurring
cost, which concerns a three-year early retirement programme, is expected to be offset by
future savings on wages, salaries etc. The cost
is recognised under profits/(losses) of associates
and joint ventures.
Financial income and expenses showed a net expense of DKK 35 million in 2007 compared with
DKK 46 million in 2006.

TAX ON PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
Tax on profit for 2007 was DKK 188 million,
equivalent to an effective tax rate of 21 per cent

OPERATING PROFIT (EBIT)

profit before tax

DKKM

DKKM

1,400
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0
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financial statements
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55

(25 per cent in 2006) and mainly reflecting the
reduction of the tax rate from 28 per cent to 25
per cent as well as subsequent adjustment of tax
for previous years.

ALLOCATION OF PROFIT
Profit for the year was DKK 713 million. In accordance with the adopted dividend policy, it is
proposed that DKK 538 million be paid as dividend, that DKK (2) million be allocated to the
minority shareholders and that DKK 177 million
be transferred to equity.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
No events have occurred since the end of the
year which have materially affected the consolidated financial statements for 2007.
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BALANCE SHEET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Intangible assets rose from DKK 1,169 million at
year-end 2006 to DKK 1,171 million at 31 December 2007. In 2007, goodwill arising on the
purchase of Transportgruppen was recognised at
DKK 19 million.
Property, plant and equipment decreased from
DKK 3,583 million at year-end 2006 to DKK
3,430 million at 31 December 2007. In 2007, a
number of the Group’s properties totalling DKK
190 million were transferred to assets held for
sale, resulting in a reduction of total property,
plant and equipment. Of properties transferred
to assets held for sale, properties were sold at
DKK 33 million net during the year, and properties totalling DKK 157 million are therefore classified as assets held for sale under current assets
in the balance sheet.
Major new investments include further automation of letter production, sorting machines for
large letters and continuation of the Lean Enterprise programme designed to automate and
standardise administrative and management
processes.
Financial assets are primarily investments in and
subordinate loans to associates and joint ven-

tures. Calculated at equity value, financial assets
amounted to DKK 721 million at 31 December
2007 compared with DKK 669 million at year-end
2006.

RECEIVABLES
In 2007, receivables rose by DKK 140 million
from DKK 1,932 million at year-end 2006 to
DKK 2,072 million at 31 December 2007, mainly reflecting that the payment of DKK 118 million from the sale of Kommuneforsikring and
the proceeds from the sale of properties were
not yet received on the balance sheet date. Disregarding these facts, receivables were reduced
concurrently with the declining activity.

stitutions was reduced by DKK 123 million primarily as a result of comprehensive sales of properties. Non-current liabilities relating to availability
pay and termination benefits etc. were reduced
by DKK 11 million. Non-current liabilities relating to international settlements were increased
by DKK 6 million.

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current liabilities amounted to DKK 3,245 million at 31 December 2007. This is an increase
of DKK 299 million from 2006, caused mainly
by a DKK 99 million increase in trade payables
and a DKK 225 million increase in debt to credit
institutions.

EQUITY

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Equity at 31 December 2007 was DKK 2,772
million, rising by DKK 41 million since last year.
The solvency ratio, calculated as equity as a percentage of the balance sheet total, was 36 per
cent at 31 December 2007, which is unchanged
compared with 31 December 2006. Of the profit
for the year, it is recommended to distribute DKK
538 million as dividend. In 2007, DKK 669 million was distributed as dividend.

Cash flows from ordinary operating activities
were DKK 978 million in 2007.
Cash flows from investing activities were DKK
(368) million, due mainly to the purchase of noncurrent assets.

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Cash flows from financing activities were DKK
(581) million, mainly reflecting dividend paid.
Conversely, liquidity was improved by DKK 228
million on the raising of loans.

Non-current liabilities amounted to DKK 1,789
million at 31 December 2007, down DKK 221
million on 31 December 2006. In 2007, debt to
mortgage credit institutions and other credit in-

Cash flows from investing activities and financing
activities were smaller than cash flows from operating activities. Cash and cash equivalents there-

DEFINITIONS OF RATIOS RELATING TO ECONOMIC VALUE ADDED

NOPAT
= Net profit at operational level
Return on invested 		 NOPAT x 100
=
capital (ROIC) after tax
Average invested capital		
Economic Value Added – DKK
= NOPAT – cost of capital
(Economic Profit)
Economic value added as a percentage
= ROIC after tax – WACC
(Economic Profit – per cent)
Cost of capital
=	Average invested capital x average cost of
capital
Cost of capital (WACC)
=	Weighted average cost of capital on loan
capital and equity as a percentage

P O S T D A N M A R K A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 07
MANAGEMENT’S REVIEW

fore rose by DKK 29 million to DKK 230 million at
31 December 2007.

ECONOMIC VALUE
ADDED IN POST
DANMARK

INVESTED CAPITAL
Invested capital comprises assets exclusive of initial goodwill in connection with the conversion
to Post Danmark SOV and deferred tax assets.
Non-interest bearing debt is set off against invested capital. Invested capital is calculated at
an average at the beginning and the end of the
year.

sults. In the year 2007, the economic value added was DKK 88 million compared with DKK 552
million in 2006.

COST OF CAPITAL

The economic value added in Post Danmark,
called the Economic Profit, is calculated as a supplement to the income statement. This calculation is based on the assumption that money is
not earned until the total cost of loan capital
and equity is covered. The conventional income
statement does not include return on equity. A
number of adjustments are made in the calculation of Economic Profit. For example, a reversal
is made of goodwill amortisation and corrections
are made for items of a non-recurring nature.

Cost of capital is calculated as average invested
capital x average cost of capital (WACC). Since
2006, the WACC has been calculated specifically
on the basis of Post Danmark’s capital structure,
market value, geared beta and required rate of
return. The WACC was calculated at 7.0 per cent
compared with 6.5 per cent in 2006.

NET PROFIT AT OPERATIONAL
LEVEL (NOPAT)

The return on invested capital (ROIC) was 8.8
per cent in 2007 compared with 18.8 per cent in
2006. The decrease mainly reflects that major reversals for pension adjustment obligations, gains
from sales of properties and income relating to
the sale of Kommuneforsikring are not included
in the economic value added for 2007.

NOPAT is calculated as profit before tax adjusted for non-operating items, goodwill amortisation and calculated tax payable. Non-operating
items represent significant profit or loss on sale
of properties etc. and provisions. In 2007, NOPAT
was DKK 419 million compared with DKK 843
million in 2006. The decrease was attributable to
impacts from non-operating items.
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The economic value added in 2007 was DKK
88 million compared with DKK 552 million in
2006.

Overall, it may be concluded that Post Danmark
has a good basis for creating value and real re-

POST DANMARK ECONOMIC VALUE ADDED

2007

2006

2005

2004

2003

901
0
65
(425)
541
(122)
419
4,733
8.8
7.0
88
1.8

1,187
0
53
(195)
1,045
(202)
843
4,483
18.8
6.5
552
12.3

1,033
0
55
(100)
988
(165)
823
4,397
18.7
8.0
471
10.7

1,146
0
60
(99)
1,107
(297)
810
4,247
19.1
8.0
470
11.1

466
261
64
102
893
(321)
572
3,193
17.9
8.0
317
9.9

Amounts in dkkm

Profit/(loss) before tax
Reversal of goodwill amortisation
Reversal of finance expenses
Reversal of adjustments
Adjusted operating profit before tax
Calculated tax payable thereon
Net profit at operational level (NOPAT)
Invested capital
Return on invested capital (ROIC) as a percentage
Average cost of capital
Economic value added (Economic Profit)
Economic value added as a percentage (Economic Profit)

The figures for 2003 and 2004 have not been restated to comply with IFRS and are therefore not directly comparable.
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INCOME STATEMENT
group
Note	 DKKM			

2007

					
2 Revenue
			
11,809
3,13 Other operating income
			
273
		 Total income			
12,082
				
4 External operating expenses
			
(3,728)
5 Staff costs
			
(6,908)
		 Profit before depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses (EBITDA)			
1,446
				
9, 10 Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets			
(598)
		 Operating profit (EBIT)			
848
				
12 Share of profit or loss in associates and joint ventures			
88
6 Financial income
			
39
7 Financial expenses
			
(74)
		 Profit before tax			
901
				
8 Tax on profit for the year
			
(188)
				
		 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR			
713
				
		 Attributable to:
		 Shareholders in Post Danmark A/S
715
		 Minority interests
(2)
		 Earnings per share (EPS)

28.52

2006

11,648
70
11,718
(3,342)
(6,723)
1,653
(588)
1,065
168
25
(71)
1,187
(295)
892

892
35.68
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BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER
group
2007

2006

316
753
6
96
1,171

297
783
0
89
1,169

1,901
57
613
813
46
3,430

2,094
53
617
770
49
3,583

721
7
728

669
3
0
672

5,329

5,424

157

99

18

31

1,366
46
45
336
279
2,072

1,469
46
2
157
258
1,932

230

201

		 TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

2,477

2,263

		 TOTAL ASSETS

7,806

7,687

Note	 DKKM			
		 ASSETS
		 NON-CURRENT ASSETS
9 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

		
		
		
		
		
10
		
		
		
		
		

Goodwill
Development projects in service
Other intangible assets
Development projects in progress
TOTAL INTANGIBLE ASSETS
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land and buildings
Leasehold improvements
Plant and machinery
Fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment
Property, plant and equipment under construction and prepayments
TOTAL PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

		 FINANCIAL ASSETS

12 Investments in associates and joint ventures
		 Receivables from associates and joint ventures
		 Other securities and receivables
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS
		 TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS

		 CURRENT ASSETS
10, 13 ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
		 INVENTORIES
		
14
		
8
15
16

RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables
Receivables from associates and joint ventures
Tax receivable
Other receivables
Prepayments
TOTAL RECEIVABLES

		 CASH and cash equivalents

P O S T D A N M A R K A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 07
A N N U A L R E P OR T

61

group
2007

2006

500
1,714
538
2,752
20
2,772

500
3
1,559
669
2,731
2,731

152
347
686
78
381
145
1,789

70
515
767
120
388
150
2,010

50
31
441
109
855
16
1,639
104
3,245

70
34
216
118
756
12
1,636
104
2,946

		 TOTAL LIABILITIES

5,034

4,956

		 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

7,806

7,687

Note	 DKKM			
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

		
17
		
		
		
		
		

EQUITY

Share capital
Translation reserve
Retained earnings
Proposed dividend
The shareholders in Post Danmark A/S’s share of equity
Minority interests

		 TOTAL EQUITY
		 NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

8
18
29
29
29
19

Deferred tax
Pension adjustment obligations and other provisions
Debt to mortgage credit institutions
Debt to other credit institutions
Bond debt
Other long-term debt

		 TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
		 CURRENT LIABILITIES

13, 29
18
29
		
		
		
20
21

Debt relating to assets held for sale
Pension adjustment obligations and other provisions
Debt to other credit institutions
Prepayments received from customers
Trade payables
Payables to associates and joint ventures
Other payables
Deferred income
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

1
11
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
30

Accounting policies
Purchases of enterprises
Financial liabilities
Contingent liabilities
Related party transactions
Subsequent events
Audit fee
Foreign currency and interest rate risks and use of derivative financial instruments
Concession to provide postal services
Segment information
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 2007
group
DKKM			
					

TRANS-

				

SHARE

LATION

RETAINED

				

CAPITAL

RESERVE

EARNINGS

Equity at 1 January 2007
500
Reclassification of translation reserve		

PROPOSED		
DIVIDEND

TOTAL

MINORITY

TOTAL

INTERESTS

EQUITY

3
(3)

1,559
669
3		

2,731		
0		

2,731
0

Profit for the year			
Translation adjustments of investments			
Directly recognised gains and losses			
Comprehensive income			

715		
(3)		
(23)		
689		

715
(2)
(3)		
(23)		
689
(2)

713
(3)
(23)
687

Purchase of treasury shares				
Sale of treasury shares				
Tax relating to treasury shares				
Total relating to treasury shares				

(2)		
0		
0		
(2)		

(2)		
0		
0		
(2)		

(2)
0
0
(2)

Value of share-based remuneration				
Tax of which				
Net relating to shares and options to employees				

1		
0		
1		

1		
0		
1		

1
0
1

Additions relating to acquisition of subsidiary:
The minority interest’s share of the company’s
equity at the time of acquisition							
Dividend paid					
Dividend of treasury shares				
2
Proposed dividend				
(538)
EQUITY AT 31 DECEMBER 2007		
500
1,714

(667)
(2)
538
538

22

22

(667)		
0		
0		
2,752
20

(667)
0
0
2,772

The dividend paid is equal to DKK 26.75 per share of DKK 20.
Directly recognised gains and losses mainly relate to the Group’s share of market value adjustments in relation to securities held for sale in a
joint venture.
For details about which reserves are available for distribution, see the parent’s statement of changes in equity.
Retained earnings include share premium of DKK 1,276 million.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 2006
group
DKKM			
				

TRANS-

			

SHARE

LATION

RETAINED

PROPOSED

TOTAL

			

CAPITAL

RESERVE

EARNINGS

DIVIDEND

EQUITY

500

2

1,419

550

2,471

Profit for the year			
892		
Translation adjustment		
1			
Directly recognised gains and losses			
(99)		
Comprehensive income		
1
793		

892
1
(99)
794

Equity at 1 January 2006

Purchase of treasury shares			
Sale of treasury shares			
Tax relating to treasury shares			
Total relating to treasury shares			

0		
14		
0		
14		

0
14
0
14

Special price on sale of shares to employees			
Value of share-based remuneration			
Tax of which			
Net relating to shares and options to employees			

0		
1		
0		
1		

0
1
0
1

Dividend paid				
(549)
(549)
Dividend of treasury shares			
1
(1)
0
Proposed dividend			
(669)
669
0
EQUITY AT 31 DECEMBER 2006
500
3
1,559
669
2,731
								
The dividend paid is equal to DKK 22 per share of DKK 20.						
Directly recognised gains and losses relate to the Group’s share of market value adjustments in relation to securities held for sale in a joint venture.
			
In 2006, the selling of treasury shares and the issue of share options took place to a group of managerial staff. The shares were sold at market
value, without a favourable component. The value of the options, calculated at a total of DKK 4 million according to a recognised method, is
recognised in respectively the income statement and equity on a straight-line basis over the life of the options, which is three years. DKK 1 million was recognised in 2006. 						
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
group
2007

2006

901

1,187

598
(88)
(9)
(157)
32
1,277

588
(168)
(40)
35
1,602

29
(136)
1,170

(112)
(56)
1,434

19
(66)

21
(53)

(145)

(176)

978

1,226

Purchase of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment
Sale of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of subsidiaries and activities
Investments in joint ventures
Capital contributions to associates
Loans to associates
Repayment of capital contributions and loans in relation to associates
Deposits etc.

(611)
247
(11)

11
(3)

(688)
72
(525)
(10)
(3)
-

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

(368)

(1,154)

Borrowings
Principal repayments on debt to mortgage credit institutions and credit institutions as well as bond debt
Dividend paid
Dividend of treasury shares
Purchase and sale of treasury shares

228
(140)
(669)
2
(2)

537
(129)
(550)
1
14

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

(581)

(127)

Cash flow for the year
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

29
201

(55)
256

CASH and cash equivalents, END OF YEAR

230

201

Cash and cash equivalents at year-end are composed as follows:
Cash and bank balances

230

201

TOTAL

230

201

DKKM					

Profit before tax
Adjustments for operating items not affecting cash:
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses
Share of profit or loss after tax in associates and joint ventures
Gain on disposal of assets
Gain on disposal of assets held for sale
Financial income and expenses
OPERATING CASH FLOW BEFORE CHANGE IN WORKING CAPITAL

Change in working capital:
Change in receivables and inventories
Change in trade payables, other payables and other provisions
OPERATING CASH FLOW

Interest received
Interest paid
Corporate tax paid (net)
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(1)
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NOTES
group
1

ACCOUNTING POLICIES 						
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND UNCERTAINTIES ABOUT ESTIMATES						

When calculating the carrying amount of certain assets and liabilities in accordance with generally accepted accounting policies, it is necessary
that Management estimates how future events will affect the value of the assets and liabilities concerned at the balance sheet date. 		
Management bases its estimates on historical experience and other assumptions that Management believes are reasonable under the circumstances but which in the nature of the case are uncertain. The assumptions may be incomplete or inaccurate, and unexpected events or
circumstances could arise. Furthermore, the company is subject to risks and uncertainties which may lead to actual results differing from these
estimates. The following estimates and assessments are deemed significant for the description of Post Danmark’s financial position.		
				
OTHER OPERATING INCOME 					

Other operating income is affected positively by recognition of DKK 118 million resulting from the sale of Kommuneforsikring A/S to the
Norwegian insurance company Gjensidige. Kommuneforsikring was owned by Foreningen til Begrænsning af Skadeudgifter i kommuner og
regioner f.m.b.a. (Association for Limitation of Claims Expenses in Municipalities and Regions), of which Post Danmark was a member. The
association will be dissolved in continuation of the sale of Kommuneforsikring. Owing to the provisional distribution, limited adjustments must
be expected in relation to the amount paid in 2008. 					
USEFUL LIVES AND RESIDUAL VALUES					

Useful lives of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment are determined on the basis of periodic analyses of actual useful lives and the
planned use of these assets. Such analyses are made or revised when new events occur which will possibly have an effect on the determination
of the asset’s useful lives, for example when events occur which indicate that the asset’s carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount and
an impairment test ought to be carried out. Any change in the estimated useful life of these assets is included in the financial statements from
the time of establishment of the change. 					
GOODWILL					

Goodwill in the consolidated balance sheet is presented partly as a separate item under Intangible assets (a total of DKK 316 million) and partly as
a component in the measurement of the value of investments in associates and joint ventures under Financial assets (a total of DKK 40 million). 		
				
The impairment test for goodwill is based on a measurement of the value in use of future earnings in the enterprise to which goodwill attaches. Future earnings are estimated on the basis of the available business plans including the associated earnings budgets and forecasts,
using a discount rate calculated on the basis of a reasonable rate of return requirement in consideration of the risk. Both of these factors may
subsequently deviate materially from the assumed values, which could have led to a changed outcome of the impairment test. 		
OTHER PROVISIONS					

Special uncertainty attaches to the following provisions:					
Pension adjustment obligation in respect of civil servants and staff employed on special collective agreement terms (DKK
176 million)

An agreement concerning payment of a current pension contribution to the State of 12 per cent of the pensionable pay has been entered into
to cover the State’s pension liability in respect of civil servants and staff employed on special collective agreement terms. The rate of contribution is based on an assumption of retirement at the age of 62 (60 years for persons born before 1 July 1944) and an assumed final pay (pay
scale) on retirement. Deviations from these assumptions will lead to subsequent adjustment of the pension contribution to be paid to the
State. Retirement before the age of 62/60 leads to subsequent payment to the State, while retirement after the age of 62/60 leads to payment from the State. Post Danmark has analysed the uncertainties attached to the future age of retirement and can conclude that employees
generally must be expected to stay longer in the labour market than previously assumed. A number of employees are expected to retire when
they attain the age of 62.5 years and 63 years compared with the previously expected retirement age of 62 years (60 years for employees born
before 1 July 1944). Hence, the provision has been reduced by DKK 100 million. The amount is recognised as income under staff costs. There
is a certain degree of uncertainty linked to this estimate. 					
The obligation is adjusted periodically on the basis of relevant resignations and promotion increases (pay scale increases) during the period. The
full amount calculated at a balance sheet date, capitalised to present value, is provided for in the balance sheet. Pay scale increases awarded
can affect significantly the amount of the provision and hence the income statement and equity.
						
Provision relating to Jobbørs (DKK 68 million)					

Post Danmark uses an internal job centre, Jobbørs, to reassign redundant civil servants and staff employed on special collective agreement
terms. Provision to cover Post Danmark’s financial liability has been made in respect of employees who are not expected to be reemployed.
The provision is calculated on a continuous basis, capitalised to present value, on the basis of updated estimates of reemployment opportunities, payroll costs in the notice period and the availability pay period for the number of employees not expected to be reemployed. Changes in
these estimates can affect significantly the amount of the provision and hence the income statement and equity. 			
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Provision for anniversary bonuses (DKK 109 million)					

Post Danmark is required by collective agreement to pay anniversary bonuses in the form of extra pay and holidays to employees after 25 and
40 years of service. Provision is made in the balance sheet to cover this liability. The provision is calculated on a continuous basis, capitalised to
present value, based on updated estimates of the probability that various categories and age groups of employees will be celebrating one or
more of these anniversaries and on these employees’ pay at the time of the anniversary. Changes in these estimates can affect significantly the
amount of the provision and hence the income statement and equity. 					
POSTAGE OBLIGATION (DKK 100 million)					

The value of Danish stamps sold but not used at a given time represents income, for which Post Danmark has not yet performed the service
that the customers have paid for. An estimated amount is therefore recognised in respect of this income received in advance under Deferred
income in equity and liabilities. The estimate is made on the basis of data known for a prior period’s stamp sales and assumptions about the
rate of turnover of stamps for various categories of stamp customers. These assumptions are in the nature of the case subject to uncertainty. 		
				
INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES					

In connection with the recognition of De Post – La Poste, adjustments have been made to the opening balance sheet at 1 January 2006. The
adjustments relate to differences between the accounting basis for calculation of the opening balance sheet and the fair value adjusted values
at which assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are recognised in the consolidated financial statements. The fair values are based on concrete calculations and estimates by Management.							
BASIS OF FINANCIAL REPORTING					

Post Danmark A/S is a public limited company having its registered office in Denmark. The Annual Report for the period 1 January – 31 December 2007 includes the consolidated financial statements of Post Danmark A/S and its subsidiaries (the Group) as well as separate financial
statements of the parent in accordance with the requirements of the Danish Financial Statements Act.
The Annual Report of the Post Danmark Group for 2007 is prepared in accordance with the international financial reporting standards (IFRS) as
adopted by the EU and additional Danish disclosure requirements for annual reports of listed companies.
Additional Danish disclosure requirements are those laid down by the statutory order on the adoption of IFRS issued pursuant to the Danish
Financial Statements Act and by the OMX Nordic Exchange Copenhagen.
The accounting policies applied are unchanged compared with previous years.
The Annual Report for 2007 is presented in DKK million.
NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND ACCOUNTING POLICY CHANGES					

Post Danmark has adopted the following new and revised IFRS standards and interpretations with effect from the 2007 financial year:
IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements (revised 2005)
IAS 32, Financial instruments: Presentation (revised 2005)
IFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures
IFRIC 8, Scope of IFRS 2
IFRIC 9, Reassessment of embedded derivatives
IFRIC 10, Interim financial reporting and impairment
IFRIC 11, Group and treasury share transactions
The adoption of these new standards, revised standards and interpretations has not affected the recognition and measurement of Post Danmark’s accounting figures. The new standards and interpretations have involved additions to and changes in disclosures in the notes to the
annual report. Comparative figures in the notes have been restated.
NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ADOPTED at 31 december 2007 BUT NOT YET ENTERED INTO FORCE AND APPROVED
BY THE EU

At the time of publication of this annual report, the following new or revised standards and interpretations have not yet entered into force and
are therefore not incorporated into the annual report: 					
IFRS 8 on Operating segments, which enters into force on 1 January 2009, replaces the existing standard on segment reporting, IAS 14. The
standard will not affect recognition and measurement in the annual report.
Revised IAS 1 (as revised in 2007), Presentation of financial statements. The revised standard enters into force with effect from financial years
beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The standard will not affect recognition and measurement in the annual report.
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Revised IAS 23 (as revised in 2007), Borrowing costs. The revised standard enters into force with effect from financial years beginning on or
after 1 January 2009. IAS 23 (as revised in 2007) requires the recognition of borrowing costs in the cost of a qualifying asset (intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment as well as inventories). In connection with the manufacturing of major qualifying assets of a long manufacturing period, IAS 23 (as revised in 2007) is expected to affect the presentation of financial statements of Post Danmark A/S. 			
IFRIC 13, Customer loyalty programmes. The interpretation enters into force with effect from financial years beginning on or after 1 August
2008. The Post Danmark Group has no customer loyalty programmes, and IFRIC 13 is therefore not expected to affect the presentation of
financial statements.
IFRIC 14, IAS 19, The limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum funding requirements and their interaction. The interpretation enters into
force with effect from financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2008. The Post Danmark Group has no defined benefit plans and similar
limited by the limit on a defined benefit asset and subject to minimum funding requirements. IFRIC 14 is therefore not expected to affect the
presentation of financial statements.
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS WITH EFFECT FROM THE 2007 FINANCIAL YEAR BUT WHICH ARE NOT RELEVANT

IFRS 4, Insurance contracts.
IFRIC 7, Applying the restatement approach under IAS 29 Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies.
IFRIC 12, Service concession arrangements. The interpretation enters into force with effect from financial years beginning on or after 1 January
2008. The interpretation has not yet been approved by the EU and is not expected to affect the presentation of financial statements.
RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT					

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost method.
Post Danmark’s use of historical cost as a basis of measurement of property, plant, equipment and financial assets instead of measurement at
fair values has significant influence on the financial calculation of results and equity. For a detailed description of Post Danmark’s accounting
policy, see the sections below in relation to property, plant and equipment and investments in joint ventures and associates.
Income is recognised in the income statement as it is earned. Income includes value adjustments of financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value or amortised cost. Expenses incurred to generate the earnings for the period are recognised, for example, amortisation and depreciation, impairment losses and provisions as well as reversals of amounts previously recognised in the income statement as a result of changed
accounting estimates.
Assets are recognised in the balance sheet when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the company and the value of the
asset can be measured reliably.
Liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow from the company and the value of
the liability can be measured reliably.
On initial recognition, assets and liabilities are measured at cost. Subsequently, assets and liabilities are measured as described for each item
mentioned in the following.
Certain financial assets and liabilities are measured at amortised cost, including a constant effective rate of interest during their term. Amortised cost is calculated as original cost less any principal repayments and plus/less the accumulated amortisation of the difference between cost
and nominal amount.
In calculating results, account is taken of profits and losses relating to events prior to the balance sheet date where it is probable that they will
be realised in a subsequent period.
CONSOLIDATION					

The consolidated financial statements include the parent Post Danmark A/S and subsidiaries in which Post Danmark has control. Control is
obtained by directly or indirectly owning or holding more than 50 per cent of the voting rights or in some other way controlling the enterprise
concerned. Joint ventures, in which Post Danmark exercises joint control, are recognised according to the equity method.
Associates and joint ventures, in which Post Danmark exercises significant influence but not control, are recognised according to the equity
method. Significant influence is typically obtained by directly or indirectly owning or holding at least 20 per cent of the voting rights but less
than 50 per cent.
On assessment of whether Post Danmark A/S has control or significant influence, potential voting rights exercisable at the balance sheet date
are taken into account.
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The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the basis of the financial statements of the individual consolidated enterprises in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. Intra-group income and expenses, profits from transactions between the consolidated enterprises
as well as intra-group dividends and balances are eliminated, and the parent’s investments in subsidiaries are set off against the proportionate
shares of the enterprises’ equity. 					
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS					

Newly acquired or newly formed enterprises are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition. Enterprises sold
or discontinued are recognised in the consolidated income statement up to the time of sale or discontinuance. Gains or losses relative to the
carrying amount at the time of disposal are recognised in the income statement.
Comparative figures are not restated for enterprises acquired through a purchase or disposed of through a sale.
Purchases of new enterprises, which give the parent control over the enterprise acquired, are accounted for by applying the purchase method
of accounting. Identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired enterprises are measured at fair value at the time of acquisition. Identifiable intangible assets are recognised if they can be separated from or arise from a contractual right and the fair value can be
measured reliably. Deferred tax on revaluations is recognised.
The time of acquisition is the time at which Post Danmark A/S obtains actual control of the acquired enterprise. 			
		
The cost of acquisition is calculated as the fair value of the agreed purchase price plus expenses directly attributable to the acquisition.
In respect of subsidiaries acquired by the Group since 1 January 2004, positive differences between the cost of the acquisition of the investment and the proportionate share of the fair value of the acquired identifiable assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities or assets are recognised
as goodwill under intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised but is tested or assessed annually for impairment. The first impairment test is
carried out before the end of the year of acquisition. At the time of acquisition, goodwill is allocated to the cash generating units, which subsequently provide the basis for testing for impairment.
Negative differences are recognised in the income statement at the time of acquisition.
In respect of business combinations prior to 1 January 2004, the accounting classification is retained in accordance with the accounting policies
applied at the time. Goodwill is included on the basis of the cost recorded under the previous accounting policies (Danish Financial Statements
Act and Danish accounting standards) less amortisation and impairment losses up to 31 December 2003. Goodwill is not amortised after 1
January 2004.
In case of uncertainty at the time of acquisition about measurement of acquired identifiable assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities or assets,
initial recognition is made on the basis of temporarily calculated fair values. If the fair value at the time of acquisition of identifiable assets,
liabilities, contingent liabilities or assets subsequently proves to be another than initially assumed, goodwill is adjusted up to 12 months after
the acquisition. The effect of the adjustment is recognised in equity at the beginning of the year, and comparative figures are restated. Subsequently, goodwill is adjusted only as a result of changed estimates of contingent purchase considerations, unless material errors exist. Tax
advantages are recognised in the income statement on a simultaneous reduction of the carrying amount of goodwill to the amount that would
have been recognised if the deferred tax asset had been recognised as an identifiable asset at the time of acquisition.
Gains or losses arising from disposal or discontinuance of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are calculated as the difference between
the selling price or disposal consideration and the carrying amount of net assets inclusive of goodwill at the time of sale as well as expenses
relating to the sale or disposal. To the extent goodwill arising from acquisitions prior to 1 January 2004 is written off to equity, the carrying
amount of goodwill is DKK 0 at the time of sale. 					
LEASING					

Lease expenses relating to operating leases are recognised in the income statement as they are incurred over the lease term. The Group has
not entered into significant leases which are in the nature of finance leases. 					
FOREIGN CURRENCIES					

For the enterprises of the Group, the functional currency is the currency used in the primary economic environment in which the individual
enterprises operate. Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are foreign currency transactions. The parent’s functional currency is Danish kroner (DKK). DKK is used as the presentation currency in the preparation of the annual report.
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are on initial recognition translated into DKK at the exchange rate at the transaction date. Differences between the exchange rate at the transaction date and the date of payment are recognised in the income statement as an item under
financial income and expense, net. Receivables and payables and other monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are translated into
DKK at the exchange rate at the balance sheet date. The difference between the exchange rate at the balance sheet date and the exchange
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rate at the time the receivable or payable arose or the exchange rate in the most recent annual report is recognised in the income statement as
an item under financial income and expense, net. 					
The income statements of foreign subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are translated into DKK at the average exchange rate, provided
that this does not deviate materially from the exchange rate at the transaction date, and balance sheet items are translated at the exchange
rate at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising from the translation of the equity of foreign enterprises at the beginning of the
year at the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date and from the translation of income statements from the exchange rate prevailing at the transaction date to the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date are recognised directly in equity. Goodwill relating to
foreign enterprises is accounted for as an asset belonging to these enterprises and is translated into DKK at the exchange rate at the balance
sheet date.
Translation adjustment of a balance which is deemed to be part of the total net investment using another functional currency than DKK is recognised in the consolidated financial statements directly in equity. Correspondingly, exchange gains/losses on the part of loans and derivative
financial instruments included in the net investment in these enterprises and which effectively hedge against similar exchange gains/losses on
the net investment in the enterprise are recognised in the consolidated financial statements directly in equity.
Other realised and unrealised exchange differences are recognised in the income statement under financial income and expense, net. 		
				
VAT						

The Group’s and the parent’s revenue is divided into revenue subject to VAT and revenue not subject to VAT. This means that the Group and
the parent may deduct only the partial amount of input VAT on expenses and investments relating to common purposes.
The non-deductible portion of input VAT is added to the expenses and investments concerned as part of the cost. 			
PUBLIC SUBSIDIES					

Public subsidies include a State subsidy regarding the delivery of daily newspapers subject to the universal service obligation. Up to and
including 2006, this subsidy was included systematically in revenue, offsetting the costs for which it provided compensation. The subsidy was
abolished at the beginning of 2007.					
BORROWING COSTS					

Interest and other borrowing costs are not included in the cost of non-current assets and inventories. 				
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES					

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities comprise forward exchange contracts entered into to hedge the risk associated with receivables and liabilities in foreign currency as well as forward exchange contracts entered into to hedge future income and expenses in foreign
currency. In addition, currency swaps are used to hedge currency risks associated with foreign currency loans.
Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised in the balance sheet at fair value and subsequently measured at fair value at the balance
sheet date. Positive and negative fair values of derivative financial instruments are recognised under other receivables and other payables,
respectively.
For derivative financial instruments traded in a marketplace, public market price is used as fair value. For derivative financial instruments not traded in a marketplace, various recognised valuation methods are used to determine fair value. The method used depends on the type of instrument.
For financial instruments which meet the criteria for treatment as hedging instruments, changes in fair value are recognised as follows:		
				
· in the case of existing assets and liabilities – in the income statement together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability
· in the case of future cash flows – directly in equity under retained earnings until the hedged item is realised		
· a s regards derivative financial instruments which do not meet the criteria for treatment as hedging instruments, changes in fair value are
recognised in the income statement as they arise. 					
SIGNS						

Figures in brackets are negative results, expenses and deductions. 					
INCOME STATEMENT						
							
REVENUE

Time of handover is used as a revenue recognition criterion. Sales discounts, including cash discounts, are deducted from revenue. Revenue is
recognised exclusive of VAT.
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OTHER OPERATING INCOME					

Other operating income comprises items of a secondary nature in relation to the principal activities, e.g. rental income and gains and losses on
sale of property, plant and equipment. Sale of property, plant and equipment is recognised at the time of transfer.			
EXTERNAL OPERATING EXPENSES					

External operating expenses comprise expenses on core activities, including selling and distribution costs, administration, corporate fleet operating expenses, development costs which do not meet the criteria for capitalisation, property costs as well as insurance, etc. 		
				
STAFF COSTS					

Staff costs comprise wages and salaries as well as payroll costs, including adjustment of the provision in respect of the pay scale obligation
relating to civil servants and staff employed on special collective agreement terms.
In addition, this item includes the value of the favourable component of the special price paid by employees taking up the share purchase
offer. The value of granted share options is recognised at the fair value of the services rendered by the employees, expensed over the vesting
period. 						
PROFITS OR LOSSES OF ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES IN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group’s proportionate share of the net profit or loss in associates and joint ventures is included in the income statement. The net profit or
loss is restated to comply with the Group’s accounting policies and is adjusted for amortisation of increases and decreases in values identified
on the acquisition of the investment as well as for any goodwill impairment. 					
PROFITS OR LOSSES OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES IN THE PARENT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Dividends from investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are recognised as income in the parent under profits or losses of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures in the financial year in which the dividend is declared. However, to the extent the distributed dividend
exceeds accumulated earnings after the date of acquisition, the dividend is recognised as a write-down on the cost of the investment.
Write-down from cost to a lower fair value of the investments as well as reversal of previous write-downs of this nature are in the same way
recognised in the income statement of the parent.					
FINANCIALS

Financial income and expenses include interest income and expenses, realised and unrealised capital gains and losses on receivables and
payables in foreign currency, amortisation of financial assets and liabilities, surcharges and repayment supplements under the provisional tax
scheme, etc.
In addition, this item includes realised an unrealised gains and losses on derivative financial instruments, except fair value adjustment of hedging agreements relating to future income and expenses, which are taken directly to equity. 				
TAX ON PROFIT FOR THE YEAR					

Post Danmark and its subsidiaries are jointly taxed in accordance with the Danish joint taxation rules. The tax on the joint taxation income is
allocated among the enterprises in proportion to their taxable income (the full allocation method). The jointly taxed companies are comprised
by the provisional tax scheme.
Tax on profit for the year, which consists of calculated current tax for the year and the change in deferred tax, is recognised in the income
statement to the extent it relates to the profit or loss for the year, and directly in equity to the extent it relates to items recognised directly in
equity.
Both current tax and deferred tax are calculated at the corporate tax rate applicable or expected to be applicable at the balance sheet date.
Changes in deferred tax resulting from changed tax rates are recognised in the income statement. 				
		
BALANCE SHEET						
							
INTANGIBLE ASSETS						
							
GOODWILL

Goodwill is initially recognised in the balance sheet at cost as described under ‘Business combinations’. Subsequent measurements are at cost
less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill arising in the pre 1 January 2004 period – mainly goodwill from the establishment of Post Danmark SOV in 1995 – is recognised at
the carrying amount as amortised and written down at 1 January 2004 less subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
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Goodwill is not amortised. Instead goodwill values allocated to the Group’s cash generating units at the time of acquisition are tested annually for impairment. Management believes that the relevant cash generating units to which goodwill can be allocated are the parent and the
individual subsidiaries to which goodwill attaches. 					
Goodwill is written down to the recoverable amount in the income statement if the carrying amount at the balance sheet date is higher than
the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is generally calculated as the present value of the expected future net cash flows from the
business (the cash generating unit), to which goodwill attaches. 					
DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS					

Capitalised development projects are mainly investments in IT projects developed by Post Danmark.
Capitalised development projects are measured at the lower of cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses and recoverable
amount. Cost comprises salaries and other expenses, including non-deductible VAT, which are directly attributable to the Group’s clearly
defined development activities if the cost can be calculated reliably and it is probable that the value in use of future earnings can cover the
development costs. Financial expenses are not included in the calculation of the cost of capitalised development projects.
Development costs that do not meet the criteria for recognition in the balance sheet are recognised as expenses in the income statement as
incurred.
From the time of completion of the development work, capitalised development costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the expected
useful life, which is reassessed annually. 					
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT					

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. However, on transition to IFRS, all
the Group’s land and buildings were revalued to fair value at the transition date 1 January 2004.
Plant and machinery, fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment as well as leasehold improvements are measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.
Cost includes the cost of purchase and expenses directly attributable to the acquisition until the asset is available, including non-deductible
VAT. Financial expenses are not included in the calculation of cost. Major projects which in some cases incorporate IT software developed by
Post Danmark and other internal development activities as an integral part of an installation are recognised and depreciated in the same way
as property, plant and equipment acquired from external suppliers.
The estimated costs of dismantling and removing the asset and restoring it are added to cost to the extent they are recognised as a provision.
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are depreciated as separate items of property, plant
and equipment. 					
Subsequent costs, e.g. costs of improvement or replacement of parts of an item of property, plant and equipment, are included in the carrying
amount of the asset concerned if it is probable that their incurrence will result in future economic benefits for the Group. All other subsequent
costs, including the cost of general repair and maintenance, are recognised in the income statement as incurred.
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the expected useful lives of the assets, which are reassessed annually.
Land is not depreciated.
The basis of depreciation is calculated having regard to the asset’s residual value and is reduced by any impairment losses. The residual value
is determined at the time of acquisition and is reassessed annually. If the residual value exceeds the asset’s carrying amount, depreciation is
discontinued.
If the period of depreciation or the residual value is changed, the effect on depreciation will be recognised prospectively as a change of accounting estimates.
Minor assets acquired in connection with major projects are capitalised and written off over 3-5 years. Other minor acquisitions are charged to
the income statement as they are deemed to be used at the time of acquisition. 					
FINANCIAL ASSETS						
							
INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES IN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS						

Investments in associates and joint ventures are recognised in the consolidated balance sheet according to the equity method. The value of
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investments at the balance sheet date is measured at the proportionate share of the equity value of associates and joint ventures calculated in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policies plus the carrying amount of ascertained excess values, including goodwill.
Newly acquired investments in associates and joint ventures are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition. Investments sold are recognised in the consolidated financial statements until the time of disposal. Gains or losses relative to the carrying
amount at the time of disposal are recognised in the income statement. Associates and joint ventures of a negative equity value are recognised
at DKK 0. If the parent has a legal or constructive obligation to cover the negative balance of an associate or a joint venture, a relating provision is recognised.
Comparative figures are not restated for investments in associates and joint ventures acquired and sold.
Purchases of investments in enterprises in which the Group obtains significant influence but not control and which therefore are classified as
associates or joint ventures are initially recognised by applying the purchase method of accounting in the manner used for the acquisition of subsidiaries, see above under ‘Business combinations’. Any goodwill (excess of cost over the proportionate share of the fair value of the enterprise’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities) is included in the value of the investment under Investments in associates and joint ventures.
Negative differences are recognised in the income statement at the time of acquisition. 				
INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES IN THE PARENT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are measured at cost. If cost exceeds fair value, it is written down to this lower value.
Cost is reduced by distributed dividend which exceeds the accumulated earnings after the date of acquisition.
Joint ventures include financial assets at fair value recognised through the income statement and financial assets available for sale. These financial assets are recognised in the balance sheet at fair value.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from changes in the fair value of financial assets classified as available for sale are recognised directly in
equity. When financial assets classified as available for sale are sold or written down, the accumulated fair value adjustments are recognised in
the income statement as gains and losses from financial assets available for sale. 					
ASSETS HELD FOR SALE					

Assets held for sale include property, plant, equipment and disposal groups held for sale. A disposal group is a group of assets to be disposed
of as a whole through sale or similar in a single transaction. Assets are classified as held for sale when their carrying amount primarily will be
recovered through a sale within 12 months on the basis of a formal plan instead of through use.
Assets or disposal groups held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount at the time of classification as held for sale and fair value
less selling expenses. Assets are not depreciated from the time of classification as held for sale.
Any impairment loss arising on initial classification as held for sale and gains or losses on subsequent measurement at the lower of carrying
amount and fair value less selling expenses are recognised in the income statement. Gains and losses are disclosed in the notes. 		
INVENTORIES					

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost according to the weighted average method and net realisable value.
The cost of goods for resale includes the purchase price plus delivery costs.
The net realisable value of inventories is calculated as the selling amount in the ordinary course of business less expected selling expenses and
is determined having regard to marketability, obsolescence and the development of the expected selling amount. 			
RECEIVABLES					

All receivables are measured at amortised cost or a lower net realisable value, which usually corresponds to nominal value less write-down for
impairment to counter losses.
Write-downs are made to counter losses on receivables, based on an individual assessment. 				
PREPAYMENTS					

Prepayments recognised under current assets which comprise expenses incurred concerning subsequent financial years are measured at cost. 		
IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS					

Goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are tested annually for impairment. Similarly, development projects in progress are
tested annually for impairment.
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The carrying amount of non-current assets, except goodwill, intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and development projects in progress,
is reviewed on an annual basis to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If such an indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s net selling amount and its value in use.
An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement whenever the carrying amount of an asset or a cash generating unit, respectively,
exceeds the asset’s or the cash generating unit’s recoverable amount.
Impairment losses in respect of goodwill are not reversed. Impairment losses in respect of other non-current assets are reversed to the extent
there has been a change in the assumptions and estimates that led to recognition of the impairment loss. 			
EQUITY						
							
DIVIDEND 				

Proposed dividend is recognised as a separate item in equity. When the dividend has been declared, the amount is transferred to current liabilities until its payment. 					
TREASURY SHARES					

Cost and selling prices and dividends related to treasury shares are taken directly to retained earnings under equity.			
			
EMPLOYEE SHARES					

When the Group’s employees are given the opportunity to buy shares at a price lower than the market price, the favourable component is recognised as an expense under staff costs. The counter item is recognised directly in equity. The favourable component is calculated at the time
of purchase as the difference between the fair value and the purchase price of the shares.				
SHARE OPTIONS					

Granted options giving a group of managers the right to buy shares at a fixed price at a time in the future are measured according to a recognised calculation method.
The value of share options is amortised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. The counter item is recognised
directly in equity. 					
PROVISIONS					

Provisions are recognised if the Group has a legal or constructive obligation that arises from events in the financial year or in previous years, if it
is probable that an outflow of financial resources will be required to settle the obligation and if the size of the amount of the obligation can be
measured reliably.
Provisions mainly include liabilities towards employees where the amounts or due dates of the liabilities are uncertain.
On measurement, provisions are discounted to the present value of the costs that are believed to be necessary to settle the liability if this has a
significant effect on the measurement of the liability. A pre-tax discount rate is used which reflects the market interest on financial instruments
with approximately the same maturity. Present value changes in the financial year under review are recognised under financial expenses. 		
				
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES					

Debt to mortgage credit institutions and credit institutions as well as bond debt are recognised initially at the proceeds received less transaction
expenses incurred. Subsequently, these liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective rate of interest at the time of borrowing. In
this way, capital losses and borrowing costs are spread over the term of the liabilities.
Other liabilities, which include, among other things, trade payables and other payables, are measured at amortised cost, which in all essentials
is equal to nominal value. 					
DEFERRED INCOME					

Deferred income recognised under liabilities comprises payments received concerning income in the subsequent year and is measured at cost. 		
CORPORATE TAX AND DEFERRED TAX					

Tax payable is recognised under liabilities and tax receivable under receivables.
Deferred tax is recognised under non-current liabilities or, if it is an asset, under non-current assets.
Deferred tax is measured according to the balance sheet liability method and comprises all temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities and their tax base. Deferred tax on goodwill is only recognised to the extent goodwill is amortisable for tax purposes.
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Deferred tax assets, including the tax value of losses available for carryforward, are recognised at the values at which they are expected to be
used, either by elimination in tax on future earnings or by set-off against deferred tax liabilities.
Deferred tax is measured on the basis of the tax rules and the tax rate that under the legislation in force at the balance sheet date will be applicable when the deferred tax liability is expected to crystallise as current tax. Changes in deferred tax as a result of changes in the tax rate are
recognised in the income statement.
Deferred tax has not been calculated on temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures as the
investments are not expected to be sold in the foreseeable future and profit/loss not will be subject to tax as a result. 			
			
CASH FLOW STATEMENT					

The cash flow statement is presented according to the indirect method of presentation.
Cash flows from operating activities are calculated on the basis of the pre-tax results, adjusted for non-cash operating items, taxes paid and
changes in current assets and short-term debt.
Cash flows from investing activities comprise payments in connection with purchase and sale of enterprises, property, plant, equipment and
intangible assets as well as investments in and loans that are not part of the net investment in enterprises.
Cash flows from financing activities comprise payment of dividend and the raising of loans from and principal repayments on loans to mortgage credit institutions and credit institutions as well as bond debt.
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, bank deposits and short-term securities which are easily convertible into cash and which
only involve insignificant risks of changes in value. 					
SEGMENT INFORMATION					

As from 2004, the Group has adopted a new business model for the internal management of the enterprise’s finances.
The new business model is informative in describing the Group’s generation of profits and outflow of funds. Hence, Management has elected,
in accordance with IAS 14, to present segment information based on the financial statements of the four customer-oriented business units.
The segment information has been prepared in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. Segment income and expenses as well as
segment assets and liabilities comprise items directly attributable to the individual segment and items that can be allocated to the individual
segment on a reliable basis. Unallocated items comprise assets and liabilities as well as income and expenses relating to the Group’s common
administrative functions and common investments, income taxes, interest-bearing assets and liabilities, etc.
						
The segment’s non-current assets include non-current assets used in the segment’s operations, which are directly attributable or reasonably
allocable to the segment, including intangible assets and property, plant and equipment as well as investments in certain associates.
The segment’s current assets include current assets used in the segment’s operations, which are directly attributable or reasonably allocable to
the segment, including inventories, trade receivables, other receivables and prepayments.
Segment liabilities include liabilities derived from the segment’s operations, including trade payables as well as other payables and deferred
income.						
2
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REVENUE, DKKM			

2007

2006

Letters			
Parcels			
Newspapers, magazines, periodicals and unaddressed mail			
State subsidy (Newspapers, magazines, periodicals)			
Other revenue			
Total revenue			

7,688
2,128
1,183
810
11,809

7,709
1,660
1,148
396
735
11,648

OTHER OPERATING INCOME, DKKM			

2007

2006

Rental income			
Net gain on disposal of assets etc.			
Other income			
Total other operating income			

23
126
124
273

23
40
7
70
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EXTERNAL OPERATING EXPENSES, DKKM			

2007

2006

Transport expenses			
Charges relating to outgoing cross-border mail			
IT expenses			
Repair and maintenance of equipment			
Rent and other expenses relating to premises			
Compensations			
Insurance			
Cost of sales			
Other external expenses			
Total external operating expenses			

(1,014)
(422)
(297)
(26)
(276)
(112)
(113)
(137)
(1,331)
(3,728)

(701)
(389)
(323)
(19)
(275)
(96)
(123)
(69)
(1,347)
(3,342)

STAFF COSTS, DKKM			

2007

2006

Wages and salaries			
Defined contribution pension schemes			
Other social security costs			
Costs relating to employee shares and options			
Remuneration of the parent’s Board of Directors			
Total staff costs			

(6,415)
(428)
(62)
(1)
(2)
(6,908)

(6,142)
(536)
(42)
(1)
(2)
(6,723)

Pension contributions for civil servants and staff employed on special collective agreement terms were 12 per cent of the pensionable pay. This
amount is paid to the State, which is responsible for paying the pension. For details about the adjustment obligation in respect of civil servants’
pension, see notes 1 and 18. Pension contributions for other employees have been determined according to collective and individual agreements. All pension schemes are defined contribution schemes. 					
The total remuneration of the Executive Board was DKK 11.0 million (2006: DKK 11.2 million). The remuneration of the Executive Board, which
includes pay, pension and benefits, is allocated as follows:					
		
		
		
		
		
		
		

PAY ETC., DKKM			

2007

2006

Helge Israelsen, Chief Executive Officer 			
K.B. Pedersen, Deputy Chief Executive Officer 			
Bjarne Wind, Member of the Executive Board
			
Palle Juliussen, Member of the Executive Board
			
Total Executive Board			

(3.4)
(2.7)
(2.7)
(2.2)
(11.0)

(3.6)
(2.8)
(2.7)
(2.1)
(11.2)

The company’s remuneration policy reflects the responsibility, performance and value creation of the Executive Board at a competitive and reasonable level. A bonus programme linked to the achievement of defined financial, strategic and operational targets has been introduced for the
members of the Executive Board. Bonus is recognised in the year in which it is earned.					
In the event of termination by the company, members of the Executive Board are entitled to termination benefits equal to 12 months’ salary. If
members of the Executive Board of Post Danmark resign in connection with an acquisition of the Group, no special termination benefits beyond
usual remuneration are paid in the notice period.
Members of the Executive Board and a number of managerial staff in Post Danmark are comprised by bonus programmes depending on individually defined performance targets.
		
Wage and salary costs relating to own production of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment have been capitalised at DKK 93 million (2006: DKK 140 million). 					
In 2007, the remuneration of the Board of Directors was composed of tDKK 500 to Fritz H. Schur, Chairman, and tDKK 300 to Peter Törnquist,
Deputy Chairman, while the remuneration of each of the other Board members was tDKK 150. 				
In 2005, a programme was implemented for the sale of approx. 2.4 per cent of the share capital in Post Danmark A/S to the employees at a
special price. 					
In 2006, an incentive programme was implemented for the Executive Board and a number of managerial staff. In 2006, these persons have
purchased 64,250 shares (of which the Executive Board 26,150 shares) from Post Danmark’s holding of treasury shares at their market value at
the time of purchase for a total value of DKK 14 million (of which the Executive Board DKK 6 million). In 2006, the same group of staff was also
granted 60,750 share options which give the holder of the options the right to acquire existing shares in Post Danmark.
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No share options were granted in 2007. 2,350 options were cancelled in connection with resignation of managerial staff.			
		
The options are exercisable provided that the holder of the options has not given notice of resignation on the exercise date. No other conditions
are linked to exercise of the share options.					
The options are exercisable in the period from 31 March 2009 to 31 March 2011.					
SPECIFICATION OF OUTSTANDING SHARE OPTIONS		
				
			

EXECUTIVE

			

BOARD

		
		
		
		

OTHER		
MANAGERIAL		
STAFF

Outstanding options at 1 January 2007
26,150
34,600
Additions during the year			
Cancelled during the year		
(2,350)
Outstanding options at 31 December 2007
26,150
32,250

TOTAL

60,750
0
(2,350)
58,400

AVERAGE
EXERCISE
PRICE (DKK)

230.91

230.91

In 2006, the calculated fair value of the granted share options was DKK 60.35 per share option at the time of granting. 			
In 2007, the recognised fair value of share options is included in the income statement at DKK 1.2 million, of which DKK 0.5 million is related
to the Executive Board. 					
The calculated fair value on granting of the share options is based on a recognised calculation model: the Binomial Model. 			
For outstanding share options at 31 December 2007, the average remaining life is 15 months. The exercise price is DKK 230.91 per option. 		
In 2007, the average number of full-time employees was 21,163 (2006: 21,511), including 7,072 civil servants or staff employed on special
collective agreement terms (2006: 7,711).
6

FINANCIAL INCOME, DKKM			

2007

2006

Interest on bank deposits			
Interest on receivables			

8
20

1
21

Interest income			
28
22
					
Fair value adjustment of hedged financial instruments (loans)			
11
5
Fair value adjustment of derivative financial instruments (loans)			
(11)
(4)
Exchange gains payments			
1
2
					
Present value adjustment of provisions			
10
					
Total financial income			
39
25
7

FINANCIAL EXPENSES, DKKM		

2007		

2006

		 Interest on mortgage debt		
(28)		
(28)
Interest on bank debt		
(40)		
(25)
Interest on other payables		
(3)		
(1)
Present value adjustment of provisions				
(11)
Fair value adjustment of hedged financial instruments (receivable)
(9)		
(10)
Fair value adjustment of hedged financial instruments (payable)
5		
5
Fair value adjustment of derivative financial instruments
4
(0)
1
(4)
					
Interest expenses		
(71)		
(69)
Exchange losses payments		
(3)		
(2)
					
Total financial expenses		
(74)		
(71)
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TAX, DKKM 				

				

TAX ACC.

				

TO INCOME

CORPORATE
TAX

DEFERRED

				

STATEMENT

PAYABLE

TAX

At 1 January 2006 			
(11)
(40)
Adjustments relating to previous years		
5
(2)
(3)
Taxes paid in 2006			
15
Calculated tax on income or loss from ordinary activities		
(300)
187
113
Tax paid on account for 2006 			
(191)
At 31 December 2006		
(295)
(2)
70
				
At 1 January 2007			
(2)
70
Addition of Transportgruppen				
(4)
Adjustments relating to previous years		
16
(15)
(1)
Taxes paid in 2007			
18		
Calculated tax on income or loss from ordinary activities		
(217)
117
100
Change of tax rate		
13		
(13)
Tax paid on account for 2007			
(163)		
At 31 December 2007		
(188)
(45)
152
Tax recognised in share of profit or loss		
(14)
Total		
(202)
		
		 DEFERRED TAX OF THE GROUP IS COMPOSED OF:			

2007

2006

Deferred tax asset			
(176)
(351)
Deferred tax liability			
328
421
Total deferred tax			
152
70
				
		 TAX ON PROFIT FOR THE YEAR IS ANALYSED AS FOLLOWS:			
2007
2006					
		 Calculated tax on profit for the year			
(225)
(332)
Tax effect of:				
Reduction of corporate tax rate from 28 per cent to 25 per cent			
13
0
Non-taxable income and non-deductible expenses			
8
32
Adjustment of tax for previous years			
16
5
Tax on profit for the year			
(188)
(295)
					
Effective tax rate			
21
25
					
Deferred tax concerns:				
Intangible assets			
239
273
Property, plant and equipment			
69
112
Financial assets			
(29)
(15)
Assets held for sale			
30
(49)
Other current assets 			
(1)
(4)
Non-current liabilities 			
(55)
(117)
Current liabilities			
(97)
(129)
Loss carryforward			
(4)
(1)
Deferred tax
( ) = asset 			
152
70
Deferred tax has not been recognised on temporary differences related to investments in associates and joint ventures, as Post Danmark is able
to control whether the liabilities will be crystallised, and as it is probable that the liabilities will not be crystallised in the foreseeable future. In
addition, dividends will not entail tax payments. At 31 December 2007, these unrecognised deferred taxes were DKK (10) million (31 December 2006: DKK (11) million). 					
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS, DKKM

.

						

DEVELOP-		

DEVELOP-

						

MENT

OTHER

MENT

						

PROJECTS

INTANGIBLE

PROJECTS

IN SERVICE

ASSETS

IN PROGRESS

					

GOODWILL

Cost at 1 January 2006
2,635
Additions
1
Transferred during the year 		
Disposals		
Cost at 31 December 2006
2,636

774
25
243
166		
92
257
(11)
(246)
(34)
(14)		
1,163
0
89

Amort. and impairment losses at 1 January 2006
(2,339)
Amortisation and impairment losses		
Disposals		
Amort. and imp. losses at 31 December 2006
(2,339)

(268)
(146)
34
(380)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2006

783

297

(8)
0
(6)		
14		
0
0
0

TOTAL

3,677
259
0
(48)
3,888
(2,615)
(152)
48
(2,719)

89

1,169

Cost at 1 January 2007
2,636
1,163
0
89
Additions relating to acquisitions
19		
6		
Other additions		
103
3
67
Transferred during the year 		
44		
(44)
Transferred to property, plant and equipment				
(16)
Disposals		
(11)			
Cost at 31 December 2007
2,655
1,299
9
96

3,888
25
173
0
(16)
(11)
4,059

Amort. and impairment losses at 1 January 2007
(2,339)
(380)
0
0
Additions relating to acquisitions					
Amortisation		
(177)
(3)		
Disposals		
11			
Amort. and imp. losses at 31 December 2007
(2,339)
(546)
(3)
0

(2,719)
0
(180)
11
(2,888)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2007
316
753
6
96
1,171
		
Amortised over a period of
5-10 years
4 years
-		
		
GOODWILL at 31 December 2007 relates to:						
		
Post Danmark A/S, balance at 1 January 2004 arising from the formation of Post Danmark SOV in 1995			 DKK 260 million
Business combinations made by Budstikken Transport A/S in 2003 and 2006				 DKK 23 million
The acquisition of Data Scanning A/S in 2004					 DKK 14 million
The acquisition of 51 per cent of the share capital in Transportgruppen A/S in 2007 				 DKK 19 million
DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS IN SERVICE at 31 December 2007 mainly comprise the SAP solution. In addition, development projects in service com-

prise software to support production and distribution processes. 						
DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS IN PROGRESS at 31 December 2007 mainly comprise an improvement and a further development of the existing SAP

solution.
IMPAIRMENT TEST
								
GOODWILL AND DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS IN SERVICE: The cash generating unit is the company of the Group to which the intangible asset
attaches. In connection with impairment tests, the unit’s carrying amount is compared with its recoverable amount, which is determined as the
higher of discounted cash flows and fair value. For calculating the cash generating unit’s recoverable amount, the cash flows are used which
are provided for in the most recent budgets and business plans approved by Management for the coming financial years up to and including
2010. For cash flows after the end of the budget period, projection is made of the most recent budget period’s cash flow, using a growth rate

P O S T D A N M A R K A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 07
A N N U A L R E P OR T

79

group
in the terminal period of between 0 and 3 per cent. The growth rate used does not exceed the average, expected long-term growth rates of the
companies’ markets. A discount rate of 9-19 per cent before tax is used, depending on the assessed risk.
DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS IN PROGRESS: Each project as such constitutes the cash generating unit, and the cost/benefit analysis prepared most

recently is used in the review for impairment.
10

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, DKKM

									

FIXTURES

PROPERTY,

									

AND

PLANT AND

							
						

LAND AND

						

BUILDINGS

LEASEHOLD		
IMPROVEMENTS

FITTINGS,

EQUIPMENT

PLANT AND

TOOLS AND

UNDER con-

MACHINERY

EQUIPMENT

STRUCTION

Cost at 1 January 2006 		
3,124
132
1,601
2,456
51
Additions		
14
19
76
277
43
Transferred during the year		
6
1
27
11
(45)
Disposals		
(36)
(4)
0
(606)		
Transferred to assets held for sale		
(148)					
Cost at 31 December 2006		
2,960
148
1,704
2,138
49
									
Deprec. and impairment losses at 1 January 2006 		
(859)
(86)
(949)
(1,748)
0
Depreciation		
(68)
(13)
(138)
(217)		
Disposals		
12
4
0
597		
Transferred to assets held for sale		
49					
Deprec. and impairment losses at 31 December 2006
(866)
(95)
(1,087)
(1,368)
0
									
Carrying amount at 31 December 2006		
2,094
53
617
770
49
									
Cost at 1 January 2007		
2,960
148
1,704
2,138
49
Additions relating to acquisitions			
3		
9		
Other additions		
46
18
87
266
37
Transferred during the year		
13
1
9
17
(40)
Transferred from intangible assets				
16			
Disposals			
(12)
(25)
(389)		
Transferred to assets held for sale		
(297)					
Cost at 31 December 2007		
2,722
158
1,791
2,041
46
									
Deprec. and impairment losses at 1 January 2007		
(866)
(95)
(1,087)
(1,368)
0
Additions relating to acquisitions			
(1)		
(7)		
Depreciation		
(62)
(14)
(115)
(227)		
Disposals			
9
24
374		
Transferred to assets held for sale		
107					
Deprec. and impairment losses at 31 December 2007
(821)
(101)
(1,178)
(1,228)
0
									
Carrying amount at 31 December 2007		
1,901
57
613
813
46
Depreciated over a period of		

10-40 years

5-10 years

8 years

3-7 years

TOTAL

7,364
429
0
(646)
(148)
6,999
(3,642)
(436)
613
49
(3,416)
3,583
6,999
12
454
0
16
(426)
(297)
6,758
(3,416)
(8)
(418)
407
107
(3,328)
3,430

-

The carrying amount of properties encumbered with mortgage debt was DKK 1,051 million at 31 December 2007. 			
					
IMPAIRMENT TEST								

For a description, see note 9 which is also prevalent for respectively property, plant and equipment in service and property, plant and equipment under construction. 								
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11 PURCHASES OF ENTERPRISES
					
			On 4 January 2007, Post Danmark A/S acquired 51 per cent of the shares in Transportgruppen A/S. The primary activities relate to the Courier,
		 Express, Parcels business unit.

		 The purchase price was DKK 42 million, including direct purchasing expenses of DKK 1 million.
		 DKKM			

FAIR VALUE

								on the	

CARRYING
AMOUNT ON

								

DATE OF

THE DATE OF

								

ACQUISITION

ACQUISITION

Intangible assets				
6
0
Property, plant and equipment				
3
3
Receivables				
49
49
Inventories				
0
2
Investments				
0
1
Tax asset				
4
5
Cash				
1
1
Credit institutions				
(1)
(1)
Bank debt				
(10)
(10)
Trade payables				
(37)
(37)
Other payables				
(10)
(10)
Net assets 				
5
3
Capital contribution in connection with the aquisition				
31
Additional capital contribution not yet paid				
9
Net assets incl. capital contribution				
45
The minority interest’s share of which				
(22)
Net assets acquired				
23
Goodwill				
19
Acquisition cost of 51 per cent of the increased share capital				
42
Cash and cash equivalents in Transportgruppen (net bank debt)				
9
Cash and cash equivalents contributed to Transportgruppen in connection with the acquisition		
(31)
Share of acquisition cost not yet paid				
(9)
Net cash flow from investment in subsidiary				
11		
					
Goodwill relates to expected synergy effects in market and cost terms of the planned coordination of the parties’ parcel and light goods
production.
In the period after the acquisition of a controlling interest (and for the whole 2007), Transportgruppen A/S has affected revenue by DKK 290
million and net profit/(loss) by DKK (3) million.
12

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES, DKKM				

2007

Cost at 1 January 				
712
Additions 				
44
Disposals				
(8)
Cost at 31 December 				
748
							
Value adjustment at 1 January 				
(43)
Net profit/(loss) for the year				
88
Dividends and interest received				
(43)
Disposals				
0
Directly recognised gains and losses				
(26)
Translation adjustment of investments				
(3)
Value adjustment at 31 December 				
(27)
							
Carrying amount at 31 December 				
721
							
Associates				
88
Joint ventures				
633
						
721

2006

139
573
0
712
(76)
168
(37)
0
(99)
1
(43)
669
80
589
669
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ADDITIONS IN 2007 RELATE TO:

1. C
 ontribution of share capital of DKK 0.5 million to the newly formed company Facility Network A/S. This company was formed by Post
Danmark and four other suppliers of facility services with a view to coordinating the offer for complete solutions to key accounts within a
broad range of facility services. The company’s business activity is to be in charge of the facility management component of such key account
contracts.
2.Increase of the investment in MIE Group S.A. by interest received from subordinate loan capital, DKK 43 million after tax.
Disposals in 2007 relate to repayment from Pan Nordic Logistics of a portion of the subordinate loan capital. 			
		
OVERVIEW OF THE GROUP’S AND THE PARENT’S ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES:					 				

		
ASSOCIATES, DKKM
							

Pan Nordic		

Facility

							

Logistics AB	e-Boks A/S *)

Network A/S

		 Registered office
			
Sweden	
Post Danmark’s ownership interest			
50 per cent
					
Revenue for the year			
1,236
Net profit/(loss) for the year			
28
Total assets			
359
Total liabilities			
(278)
Carrying amount of the investment 			
40
						
JOINT VENTURES, DKKM				

Ballerup	

Hvidovre

33 1/3 per cent

20 per cent

33
7
44
(7)
47

1
(1)
2
(1)
0.2

2007

2006

MIE GROUP S.A. **) Luxembourg					
Revenue				
4,246
4,160
Operating expenses, incl. depreciation and amortisation				
4,066
3,908
Non-current assets				
1,855
1,767
Current assets				
2,881
2,894
Non-current liabilities				
2,805
2,607
Current liabilities				
1,710
1,815
						
Contingent liabilities in joint ventures are not quantified in MIE GROUP’s annual reports for 2006 and 2007.			
						
Investments in joint ventures include DKK 601 million, which relates to a subordinate loan and which is deemed to be part of the total net
investment in joint venture. For a description of loan terms, see note 5 to the parent financial statements. 			
						
*) The carrying amount of the capital in e-Boks A/S includes the excess of the cost (goodwill) of the acquisition of the investment over its
equity value at the time of acquisition. The investment is measured excluding the value of a tax loss realised by the company.		
				
**) MIE Group S.A. is the parent of a holding group which holds 50 per cent less one share in the Belgian postal company, De Post – La Poste.		
		
The stated accounting figures reflect Post Danmark’s 50 per cent share of the corresponding items for the holding group, including the holding
group’s consolidated accounting figures on a 50 per cent pro rata basis for De Post – La Poste.
		
IMPAIRMENT TEST

For a description, see note 9.						
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13 ASSETS HELD FOR SALE, DKKM
					
			Assets held for sale (properties) are composed as follows:
		 					
ACC.
CARRYING
					

COST

DEPRECIATION

AMOUNT

Balance at 1 January 2007			
148
49
99
Transferred for sale during the period			
297
107
190
Sold during the period			
(188)
(56)
(132)
							
Balance at 31 December 2007			
257
100
157
							
Recognised profit from properties sold:						
Total selling prices, net					
Carrying amount					
Accounting profit					
							
Selling expenses					

289
(132)
157

Accounting profit, net					
							
Debt relating to assets held for sale, entered as an item under current liabilities					

118

(39)

50

Assets are classified as held for sale when their carrying amount primarily will be recovered through a sale within 12 months on the basis of a
formal plan instead of through use.
14

TRADE RECEIVABLES, DKKM				

2007

		 Trade receivables				

1,366
Of this item, DKK 106 million falls due for payment more than 1 year after the end of the financial year (2006: DKK 131 million).

2006

1,469

Receivables are written down directly in case of a decline in their value based on an individual assessment of individual debtors’ ability to pay,
e.g. on suspension of payments, insolvent liquidation or similar. Write-downs are made to calculated net realisable value. The carrying amount
of receivables written down to net realisable value based on an individual assessment was DKK 15 million (DKK 14 million at 31 December
2006).
					
THE RESERVATION IS ANALYSED AS FOLLOWS:				

Reservation, beginning of year				
Ascertained losses during the year				
Reversal of reservations				
Reservations during the year for payment of losses				

15

2007

2006

(15)
9
4
(17)

(12)
8
3
(14)

Reservations, end of year				
(19)
							
Receivables not written down in respect of which the date for payment has been exceeded:			
Date for payment exceeded by 1-30 days				
123
Date for payment exceeded by 31-120 days				
7
Date for payment exceeded by more than one year				
7

(15)

141
10
5

Total relating to date for payment exceeded				

156

137

OTHER RECEIVABLES, DKKM
			
2007
Receivable from disposal of non-current assets				
66
Receivable proceeds from liquidation				
118
Receivable relating to financial instruments				
5
Deposits				
37
Other				
110
							
Total other receivables				
336

2006

19
0
5
26
107
157
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PREPAYMENTS, DKKM 				
2007
Prepaid wages and salaries				
188
Prepaid expenses				
91
							
Total prepayments				
279

2006

199
59
258

SHARE CAPITAL						

The share capital consisted of 25,000,000 shares of DKK 20 nominal value each, both on 31 December 2007 and on 31 December 2006. No
shares carry special rights.						
The share capital, DKK 500 million, has remained unchanged since the formation of Post Danmark A/S on 1 January 2002. 			
						
Treasury shares						

In 2005, the company acquired 750,000 treasury shares, equivalent to a nominal amount of DKK 15.0 million, or 3.0 per cent of the total
nominal share capital. 						
601,152 shares, equivalent to a nominal amount of DKK 12.0 million, were sold to the employees in 2005. In 2006, an additional number of
64,250 shares was sold to the Executive Board and a group of managerial staff as part of an incentive programme, see note 5.
In 2006, 182 of these shares were repurchased by the company owing to decease or other special circumstances. In 2007, an additional
number of 6,375 treasury shares was repurchased by the company for the same reasons. 				
		
At 31 December 2007, the company thus held 91,155 treasury shares, or 0.4 per cent of the issued shares. Of these shares, 58,400 are available for hedging share options issued to the Executive Board and a group of managerial staff as part of an incentive programme, see note 5.
18

PENSION adjustment obligations and other provisions, DKKM
		
2007
Provision for pension adjustment obligation at 1 January				
320
Used during the year				
(28)
Provided during the year				
29
Reversal of provision during the year owing to changed estimate				
(124)
Discounting effect on calculation at present value				
(21)
							
Provision for pension adjustment obligation at 31 December				
176
The provision is expected to fall due for payment as follows:
< 1 year (is stated under Current liabilities)				
14
1 – 5 years				
36
6 – 10 years				
42
> 10 years				
84
						
176
					
Provision for anniversary bonus at 1 January				
115
Used during the year				
(13)
Provided during the year				
6
Discounting effect on calculation at present value				
1
							
Provision for anniversary bonus at 31 December				
109
The provision is expected to fall due for payment as follows:
< 1 year (is stated under Current liabilities)				
11
1 – 5 years				
43
6 – 10 years				
29
> 10 years				
26
						
109

2006

324
(23)
18
0
1
320
11
61
73
175
320
106
(16)
22
3
115
12
40
35
28
115
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2007
								
Provision relating to Jobbørs at 1 January				
92
Used during the year				
(30)
Provided during the year				
16
Reversal of provision during the year				
(10)
Discounting effect on calculation at present value				
0
							
Provision relating to Jobbørs at 31 December				
68
The provision is expected to fall due for payment as follows:
< 1 year (is stated under Current liabilities)				
6
1 – 5 years				
62
						
68

2006

				 				

2006

2007

Other provisions at 1 January 				
22
Used during the year				
0
Provided during the year				
8
Reversal of provision during the year				
(5)
							
Other provisions at 31 December				
25
The provision is expected to fall due for payment as follows:
< 1 year (is stated under Current liabilities)				
0
1 – 5 years				
25
							
TOTAL pension adjustment obligations and OTHER PROVISIONS AT 31 DECEMBER 			
378

154
(37)
0
(23)
(2)
92
11
81
92

26
(4)
1
(1)
22
0
22
549

Of which included under:
Current liabilities (due date < 1 year)				
31
34
Non-current liabilities				
347
515
							
PROVISION FOR PENSION ADJUSTMENT OBLIGATION is a provision to fund future obligations relating to subsequent adjustments of pension contributions for civil servants on loan and staff employed on special collective agreement terms (former civil servants), as a result of pay scale rises
in excess of those assumed. On resignation or retirement, the obligation falls due in connection with the subsequent adjustment to the payment
to the State for the reduction of civil servants pension liability. In 2007, the obligation was reduced by DKK 124 million as a result of changes in
the pension pattern, retirement with infirmity pension and deferred pension. 					
The pay scale obligation has been actuarially calculated at its present value at the balance sheet date.				
		
The Post Danmark Group has only defined contribution pension schemes.					
PROVISION FOR ANNIVERSARY BONUS is measured at an estimated present value at the balance sheet date of the earned part of future anniver-

sary bonuses expected to be paid after 25 and 40 years of service. 						
PROVISION RELATING TO JOBBØRS comprises availability pay etc. in relation to civil servants on loan and staff employed on special terms (former
civil servants) that are expected to become redundant as a result of planned but not implemented changes in the enterprise. 		
				
In addition, provision is made for ascertained redundancy costs in relation to staff not yet laid off. 				
		
In connection with lay-offs or agreements with employees concerning resignation, this provision is transferred to other payables as retirement
benefit plans, availability pay etc. The provision is measured at an estimated present value at the balance sheet date of the future availability pay
expected to be paid until the employees concerned resign. 						
OTHER PROVISIONS comprise termination benefits for employees in connection with measures to adapt the branch network and restoration

costs on lease vacations. 						
19

OTHER LONG-TERM DEBT, DKKM
			
2007
Non-current portion of availability pay, termination benefits and other staff-related debt items		
47
Terminal dues on international settlements				
98
							
Total other long-term debt				
145

2006

58
92
150
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OTHER PAYABLES 				
Other payables include holiday pay provisions, wages and salaries payable, VAT and personal taxes payable, interest payable etc. In 2007, the
holiday pay provision increased by DKK 70 million as a result of changes in accounting estimates.				
		
		 DKKM 				
2007
2006
Wages and salaries payable, personal taxes, social contributions, holiday pay and similar		
463
505
Holiday pay obligation				
1,000
953
Derivative financial instruments				
14
2
VAT and other taxes payable				
31
40
Other expenses payable				
131
136
							
Total other payables				
1,639
1,636
20

21

22

DEFERRED INCOME, DKKM 				
2007
Estimated amount relating to stamps sold but not yet used 				
100
Other deferred income				
4
							
Total deferred income				
104

2006

100
4
104

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

1. Repurchase obligation relating to employee shares
On maturity of the vesting period at 1 January 2011, Post Danmark is under an obligation to repurchase the employee shares sold by the company in 2005, see notes 5 and 17. The repurchase will be made at the ruling price at the time of the repurchase. 			
			
2. Contractual obligations (purchasing, rental and lease obligations)
The Group has made agreements for the renting of premises with an annual rent totalling DKK 169 million (2006: DKK 140 million) and with
terms between 1 and 10 years. The Group has entered into operating leases as well as contracts concerning future supplies of operating equipment and building projects in an amount of DKK 269 million (2006: DKK 381 million). 					
3. Obligations towards subsidiaries and associates						
In 2008, Post Danmark A/S is under an obligation to advance a subordinate loan of DKK 0.5 million to the associate Facility Network A/S. 		
				
MINIMUM RENTAL AND LEASE OBLIGATIONS ARE COMPOSED AS FOLLOWS:					
					
		 DKKM 				

2007

2006

Until 1 year after the balance sheet date				
Between 1 and 5 years after the balance sheet date				
Over 5 years from the balance sheet date				

174
366
260

137
208
216

23

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 					

1. Pending and potential litigation
A lawsuit filed against Post Danmark over charging of discriminatory prices has been settled by the Eastern High Court in Post Danmark’s disfavour. Post Danmark has brought the High Court’s ruling before the Supreme Court. In connection with the mentioned case now brought before the Supreme Court, a competitor has raised a claim of approx. DKK 90 million against Post Danmark. The claim is disputed in its entirety
by Post Danmark. Additional competitor complaints filed with the Competition Authority are being handled by the Authority. The complaints
are disputed by Post Danmark. In addition, the Group is engaged in a number of litigation/arbitration proceedings. In the opinion of Management, the outcome of these litigation/arbitration proceedings and the investigations of the Competition Authority will not materially affect the
Group’s financial position. 						
2. VAT
The Group’s companies are jointly and severally liable for the joint registration of VAT to the extent they are comprised by this registration. 		
				
3. Guarantees and contributions
To support the Post/Tele Foundation, Post Danmark has guaranteed a loan of originally up to DKK 16 million (2006: DKK 16 million). The
foundation is a non-commercial foundation, formed and operated jointly by Post Danmark and TDC. Post Danmark has loaned its collection of
exhibits to the Post & Tele Museum. Furthermore, Post Danmark has incurred an obligation to make a contribution to the running of the Post
& Tele Museum until 2016. In 2007, the contribution amounted to DKK 9 million (2006: DKK 8 million). 				
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS				

Related parties to the Post Danmark Group comprise the Danish State, state-owned enterprises, state-controlled institutions etc., members of
the Board of Directors and the Executive Board of Post Danmark and the associates and joint ventures mentioned in note 12. 			
		
POST DANMARK’S RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS COMPRISE:										

									
DKKM 			2007			
					
			inCOME	exPENSES

2006 			

RECEIV-				
ABLES

PAYABLES	inCOME	exPENSES

RECEIVABLES

I. The Danish State								
		 Dividend to the Danish State		
(502)				
(413)		
		 Subsidy concerning distribution
		 of daily newspapers subject to
		 the universal service obligation					
396		
61
		 Other
352
(445)
37
42
278
(496)
35
II. State-owned enterprises
25
(5)
2		
27
(9)
3
III. State-controlled
		 institutions
113
(2)
7
1
106
(4)
6
IV. Members of the Board of
		 Directors		
(2)				
(2)		
V. Members of the Executive Board		
(11)				
(11)		
VI. Associates and joint ventures
207
(15)
22
16
177
(13)
46
									
For management remuneration, see note 5.

PAYABLES

73

1

12

25 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 						
			No events have occurred since the end of the year which have materially affected the consolidated financial statements for 2007. 		
						
26 AUDIT FEE, DKKM 				
2007
2006
Remuneration of auditors elected by the general meeting:					
Total remuneration of PricewaterhouseCoopers				
(3)
(3)
Total remuneration of Grant Thornton				
(0)
							
Including services other than audit of financial statements:					
PricewaterhouseCoopers				
(1)
(2)
Grant Thornton				
0
							
In addition to the mentioned payments, Post Danmark has paid internal audit expenses.
27

FOREIGN CURRENCY AND INTEREST RATE RISKS AND USE OF DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 		
Credit risk

		The carrying amount of financial assets constitutes the maximum credit exposure. The maximum credit risk exposure at the balance sheet date
was:						
		 DKKM 				
2007
2006
					
Loans and trade receivables				
1,366
1,469
Receivables from associates and joint ventures				
46
46
Cash and cash equivalents				
8
8
Interest rate and currency swaps used to hedge:					
		 Assets				
0
3
Forward exchange contracts used to hedge currency exposure:						
		 Assets				
5
2
Other receivables				
331
152
						
1,756
1,680
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		 TRADE RECEIVABLES SPREAD OVER TIME, DKKM 		

2007

2007

2006

2006

							

Gross	provided	

Gross	provided

Time for payment not exceeded		
Exceeded by 1-30 days		
Exceeded by 31-120 days		
Exceeded by more than 120 days		
Total		

1,198
123
18
27
1,366

1,298
142
15
14
1,469

0
(1)
(2)
(16)
(19)

0
(1)
(5)
(9)
(15)

LIQUIDITY RISK 					

The liquidity risk is stated as binding agreements including interest paid				
DKKM 		market	

CARRYING

				value	

AMOUNT

CASH 			
FLOW

< 6 MTHS

6-12 MTHS

1-5 YEARS

> 5 years

86
376
422
207

0
615
0
0

Financial liabilities without derivatives							
Unsecured bank loans		
510
520
533
423
24
Mortgage loans		
724
736
1,017
13
13
Unsecured bond issue		
366
381
442
10
10
Trade payables and prepayments from customers		
964
964
964
638
119
The market value of remaining financial assets and liabilities is identical to the carrying amount.

The market value of loans, for which there is not a liquid market, is estimated on the basis of the development in corresponding Danish government bonds during the term of the loans.
DKKM 			

CARRYING

					

AMOUNT

CASH 			
FLOW

< 6 MTHS

6-12 MTHS

1-5 YEARS

Financial liabilities with derivatives							
Interest rate swap:							
		 Net payment			
(3)
(1)
(2)
2
Currency swap:							
		 Received			
0
58
24
4
		 Paid			
(7)
(63)
(26)
(4)
Forward exchange contracts:							
		 Received			
5
95
68
20
		 Paid			
0
(88)
(63)
(19)

> 5 years

(1)

0

30
(33)

0
0

7
(6)

0
0

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK 					
					

Euro	

GBP

JPY

USD

SEK

Trade receivables			
Financial instruments			
Financial assets			
Debt			
Net position from balance sheet			

328
0
662
(705)
285

16
37
0
(46)
7

15
0
0
(8)
7

46
0
0
(24)
22

0
158
0
(160)
(2)

0
0
0
(5)
(5)

Of which hedged by forward exchange contracts			

0

(7)

(7)

(22)

0

5

Net foreign currency risk balance sheet			

285

0

0

0

(2)

0

Estimated sale			
Estimated purchase			

77
(44)

10
(5)

10
(4)

29
(12)

0
(13)

0
(47)

Net payment			

33

5

6

17

(13)

(47)

Hedged by forward exchange transactions			

0

0

0

(3)

0

46

Net foreign currency risk 			

318

5

6

14

(15)

(1)

Financial risks are described in detail under Risk Management in the Management’s Review.
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SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS						

A 10 per cent strengthening of the Danish currency (DKK) in relation to the currencies below at 31 December 2006 would have led to an
increase in equity and profit or loss by the shown amounts. This analysis is based on the assumption that all other variables are unchanged.		
DKKM				

EQUITY	profit or loss	

At 31 december 2007				
Euro				
59
GPB					
JPY					
USD					
SEK					
NOK					

(34)
0
1
1
(2)
0

A 10 per cent weakening of the Danish currency (DKK) in relation to the currencies above would have the same but opposite effect on equity
and profit or loss, based on the assumption that all other variables are unchanged.					
		
INTEREST RATE RISK 					
At 31 December, the interest rate profile was as follows:
CARRYING AMOUNT, DKKM 				

2007

2006

Fixed rate:
		 Financial liabilities				

(927)

(921)

Floating rate:						
		 Financial assets				
8
8
		 Financial liabilities				
(713)
(643)
SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

A 100 basis point change of the interest rate level would have led to an increase in equity and profit or loss by the following amounts: 		
The analysis is based on the assumption that all other variables are unchanged.						
						
						profit or loss	

EQUITY

						

100 bP

100 bP

						increase	increase

Floating rate loans 				
Interest rate swaps				
Cash flow sensitivity				
28

1
0
1

0
7
7

CONCESSION TO PROVIDE POSTAL SERVICES

Post Danmark’s activities are regulated by the ‘Provision of Postal Services Act’, which entered into force at 1 June 2004, as well as the associated executive orders ‘Executive Order on the Concession Granted to Post Danmark’ and ‘Executive Order on the Provision of Postal Services
and Postal Distribution.’
						
The act and executive orders specify the rights received and the obligations undertaken by Post Danmark:				
· Exclusive right to distribute addressed domestic letters and incoming cross-border letters up to 50 grams				
· Exclusive right to set up letter boxes in public places						
· Exclusive right to isse stamps marked ’Danmark’						
· Obligation to provide nationwide postal services in respect of letters up to 2 kilos and parcels up to 20 kilos				
· Obligation to secure a nationwide branch network (either company-operated post offices or post shops).
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PAYABLES					

Payables relate to debt to mortgage credit institutions and credit institutions as well as bond debt. Payables fall due in this order:		
				
		 DKKM 			
2007
			

DEBT

DEBT TO

			

RELATING TO

MORTGAGE

DEBT TO

			

ASSETS HELD

CREDIT

OTHER CREDIT

			

FOR SALE

INSTITUTIONS

INSTITUTIONS

BOND DEBT

Within 1 year
50
441
0
Between 1 and 5 years
236
78
381
After 5 years
450
0
0
							
Total
50
686
519
381
		 DKKM 			
			

30

491
695
450
1,636

2006

DEBT

DEBT TO

			

RELATING TO

MORTGAGE

DEBT TO

			

ASSETS HELD

CREDIT

OTHER CREDIT

			

FOR SALE

INSTITUTIONS

INSTITUTIONS

Within 1 year
Between 1 and 5 years
After 5 years
			
Total

TOTAL

BOND DEBT

70
216
0
316
120
388
451
0
0
-				
70
767
336
388

TOTAL

286
824
451
1,561

SEGMENT INFORMATION 2007

		 OPERATING SEGMENTS, DKKM
			

COURIER,

INTER-

UNALLOcated

		

BUSINESS

PRIVATE

EXPRESS,

NATIONAL

AND

		

CUSTOMERS

CUSTOMERS

PARCELS

POST

ELIMINATION

Income
6,436
2,087
1,772
1,589
198
Segment operating profit/(loss) (EBIT)
1,175
(26)
(267)
144
(178)
Profit or loss from investments in
associates and joint ventures						
Financial expenses, net						
Profit before tax						
Tax on profit for the year						
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR						

Segment assets
2,769
1,154
1,205
1,132
825
Investments in associates
and joint ventures						
TOTAL ASSETS						

Segment liabilities

12,082
848
88
(35)
901
(188)
713
7,085
721
7,806

569
483
707
2,171
					

5,034
5,034

Capital expenditure
247
100
113
65
139
Investments in associates
and joint ventures						
Depreciation and impairment of
property, plant and equipment
(190)
(78)
(85)
(50)
(15)
Amortisation and impairment of
intangible assets
(65)
(26)
(31)
(16)
(42)

664

TOTAL LIABILITIES

1,104

TOTAL

OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION

44
(418
(180)
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		 SEGMENT INFORMATION 2006
		 OPERATING SEGMENTS, DKKM
			

COURIER,

INTER-

UNALLOcated

		

BUSINESS

PRIVATE

EXPRESS,

NATIONAL

AND

		

CUSTOMERS

CUSTOMERS

PARCELS

POST

ELIMINATION

Income
6,631
2,149
1,310
1,529
99
Segment operating profit/(loss) (EBIT)
1,431
74
(268)
169
(341)
Profit or loss from investments in
associates and joint ventures						
Financial expenses, net						
Profit before tax						
Tax on profit for the year						
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR						

Segment assets
2,892
1,179
1,103
1,229
615
Investments in associates
and joint ventures						
TOTAL ASSETS						

Segment liabilities

11,718
1,065
168
(46)
1,187
(295)
892
7,018
669
7,687

605
492
726
1,926
					

4,956
4,956

Capital expenditure
262
106
114
69
137
Investments in associates
and joint ventures						
Depreciation and impairment of
property, plant and equipment
(198)
(81)
(87)
(53)
(17)
Amortisation and impairment of
intangible assets
(57)
(22)
(23)
(14)
(36)

688

TOTAL LIABILITIES

1,207

TOTAL

OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION

573
(436)
(152)

Comparative figures for 2006 have been restated as a result of changes in the segment model. See the information provided under Business
Areas on page 15 of the Management’s Review.
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INCOME STATEMENT
PARENT
Note	 DKKM			

2007

2006

					
		 Revenue
			
		 Other operating income
			
		 Total income			

11,225
259
11,484

11,470
52
11,522

		 External operating expenses
			
		 Staff costs
			
		 Profit before depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses (EBITDA)			

(3,516)
(6,747)
1,221

(3,432)
(6,633)
1,457

1, 2 Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets		
		 Operating profit (EBIT)			

(478)
743

(494)
963

4
6
7
		

77
103
(74)
849

58
87
(78)
1,030

8 Tax on profit for the year
			
(180)
						
		 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 			
669

(282)

Share of profit or loss in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures			
Financial income 			
Financial expenses			
Profit before tax			

748

Post Danmark A/S is the parent of the Post Danmark Group. The Group is structured so that by far the main part of operations – and
hence of profit or loss, assets and liabilities – lie with the parent. For many of the items there is complete identity between Group and
parent.
		
The number of specific notes to the parent financial statements is therefore restricted to the few items that differ essentially from the
Group. For additional information, see notes to the consolidated financial statements. 				
		
Share of profit or loss and investments in joint ventures and associates are recognised and measured in the parent financial statements
in accordance with the following principles which deviate from the accounting policies applied in the consolidated financial statements: 					
		
· Subordinate loans are recognised as loans under Financial assets, and interest thereon is recognised as income under Financial income						
· Subordinate loans are measured at amortised cost, which is identical to cost					
		
· Actual investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are recognised as investments under Financial assets		
· Investments and the return on investments in the form of dividend are measured according to the cost method.			
		
As a result of these deviations, which are consistent with IFRS, profit or loss and equity of the parent deviate from the corresponding
figures in the consolidated financial statements.					
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BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER		
PARENT
Note	 DKKM			

2007

2006

260
747
94
1,101

260
773
89
1,122

1,901
53
613
300
46
2,913

2,094
53
617
286
46
3,096

335
630
965

274
573
3
850

4,979

5,068

		 ASSETS			
		 NON-CURRENT ASSETS
1 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

		 Goodwill			
		 Development projects in service			
		 Development projects in progress			
TOTAL INTANGIBLE ASSETS 			
2 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

		
		
		
		
		

Land and buildings			
Leasehold improvements			
Plant and machinery			
Fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment			
Property, plant and equipment under construction and prepayments			
		 TOTAL PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 			
		 FINANCIAL ASSETS

3, 4 Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures			
5 Loans to joint ventures			
		 Receivables from associates			
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 			
		
		 TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 			

		 CURRENT ASSETS 				
		 ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 			

157

99

INVENTORIES 			
18
31
							
		 RECEIVABLES 				
		 Trade receivables			
1,265
1,442
		 Receivables from subsidiaries			
221
144
		 Receivables from associates and joint ventures			
46
34
8 Tax receivable			
66
12
		 Other receivables			
335
155
		 Prepayments			
264
248
		 TOTAL RECEIVABLES 			
2,197
2,035

		 CASH and cash equivalents 			

215

201

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 			

2,587

2,366

		 TOTAL ASSETS 			

7,566

7,434
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PARENT
Note	 DKKM			

2007

2006

500
248
0
1,347
538
2,633

500
301
2
1,161
669
2,633

		 EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

		
		
		
		
		
		

EQUITY

Share capital			
Revaluation reserve			
Translation reserve			
Retained earnings			
Proposed dividend 			
TOTAL EQUITY 			

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 					

8
		
		
		
		
		
		

Deferred tax			
Pension adjustment obligations and other provisions			
Debt to mortgage credit institutions			
Debt to other credit institutions 			
Bond debt			
Other long-term debt			
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 			

145
347
686
78
381
146
1,783

47
515
767
120
388
150
1,987

CURRENT LIABILITIES 					
			
		 Debt relating to assets held for sale			
50
70
		 Pension adjustment obligations and other provisions			
31
34
		 Debt to other credit institutions			
441
216
		 Prepayments received from customers			
109
118
		 Trade payables			
696
649
		 Payables to subsidiaries			
91
0
		 Payables to associates and joint ventures			
16
0
		 Other payables			
1,612
1,623
		 Deferred income			
104
104
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 			
3,150
2,814
TOTAL LIABILITIES 			

4,933

4,801

		 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 			

7,566

7,434

9 Financial liabilities
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 2007
PARENT
DKKM
			
		

SHARE

		

CAPITAL

REVALUATION
RESERVE

TRANSLATION

RETAINED

PROPOSED

TOTAL

RESERVE

EARNINGS

DIVIDEND

EQUITY

1,161

669

2,633

53		

0

Profit for the year				
669		
Translation adjustment			
(3)			
Directly recognised gains and losses			
2		

669
(3)
2

Comprehensive income			
(3)
671		
						
Purchase of treasury shares				
(2)		
Total relating to treasury shares				
(2)		
						
Special price on sale of shares to
employees				
Value of share-based
remuneration				
1 		
Net relating to shares and options
to employees				
1		
						
Dividend paid					
(667)
Dividend of treasury shares				
2
(2)
Proposed dividend				
(538)
538
					
Reclassification of negative
translation reserve			
1
(1)

668

(Properties)

500
301
2
					
Reversal of provisions resulting
from sale		
(53)		
Equity at 1 January 2007

EQUITY AT 31 DECEMBER 2007
500
248
0
					
The dividend paid is equal to DKK 26.75 per share of DKK 20.			

1,347

538

(2)
(2)

1
1
(667)

2,633
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 2006
PARENT
DKKM
			
		

SHARE

		

CAPITAL

REVALUATION
RESERVE
(Properties)

TRANSLATION

RETAINED

PROPOSED

TOTAL

RESERVE

EARNINGS

DIVIDEND

EQUITY

500
301
0
1,066
550
						
Profit for the year				
748 		
Translation adjustment			
2 			
Directly recognised gains and losses				
- 		
Equity at 1 January 2006

2,417
748
2
-

Comprehensive income			
2
748		
750
						
Purchase of treasury shares				
0 		
0
Sale of treasury shares				
14 		
14
Tax relating to treasury shares				
0 		
0
Total relating to treasury shares				
14 		
14
						
Special price on sale of shares to
employees				
0 		
0
Value of share-based
remuneration				
1 		
1
Tax of which				
0 		
0
Net relating to shares and options
to employees				
1 		
1
						
Dividend paid					
(549)
(549)
Dividend of treasury shares				
1
(1)
0
Proposed dividend				
(669)
669
					
EQUITY AT 31 DECEMBER 2006
500
301
2
1,161
669
2,633
						
The dividend paid is equal to DKK 22 per share of DKK 20.						
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
PARENT
2007

2006

Profit before tax

849

1,030

Adjustments for operating items not affecting cash:
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses
Share of profit or loss in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
Value adjustment of investments
Gain on disposal of assets
Financial income and expenses

478
0
(27)
(155)
(29)

494
(58)

Change in working capital:
Change in receivables and inventories
Change in trade payables, other payables and other provisions

(28)
(50)

(237)
(160)

Interest received
Interest paid

28
(66)

21
(53)

(136)

(176)

864

820

Purchase of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment
Sale of property, plant and equipment
Capital contributions to subsidiaries and associates
Investments in joint ventures
Loans to subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
Dividends received from subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
Repayment of capital contributions and loans in relation to associates

(461)
224
(43)
0
0
0
11

(518)
52
(10)
(3)
(525)
275

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

(269)

(729)

Borrowings
Principal repayments on debt to mortgage credit institutions and credit institutions as well as bond debt
Dividend paid
Dividend of treasury shares
Purchase and sale of treasury shares

228
(140)
(669)
2
(2)

537
(104)
(550)
1
14

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

(581)

(102)

Cash flow for the year
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

14
201

(11)
212

CASH and cash equivalents, END OF YEAR

215

201

Cash and cash equivalents at year-end are composed as follows:
Cash and bank balances

215

201

TOTAL

215

201

DKKM			

Corporate tax paid (net)
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(41)
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NOTES
PARENT
1

INTANGIBLE ASSETS, DKKM

				

DEVELOP-

DEVELOP-

				

MENT

MENT

				

PROJECTS

PROJECTS

IN SERVICE

IN PROGRESS

			

GOODWILL

TOTAL

		
		
		
		
		

Cost at 1 January 2006
2,596
Additions		
Transferred during the year 		
Disposals		
Cost at 31 December 2006
2,596

774
243
162
92
246
(246)
(34)		
1,148
89

3,613
254
0
(34)
3,833

		
		
		
		

Amortisation and impairment losses at 1 January 2006
(2,336)
Amortisation and impairment losses		
Disposals		
Amortisation and impairment losses at 31 December 2006
(2,336)

(268)
0
(141)		
34		
(375)
0

(2,604)
(141)
34
(2,711)

773

89

1,122

		 Carrying amount at 31 December 2006

260

		
		
		
		
		

Cost at 1 January 2007
2,596
Additions		
Transferred during the year 		
Disposals		
Cost at 31 December 2007
2,596

1,148
89
100
63
42
(58)
(11)		
1,279
94

3,833
163
(16)
(11)
3,969

		
		
		
		

Amortisation and impairment losses at 1 January 2007
(2,336)
Amortisation		
Disposals		
Amortisation and impairment losses at 31 December 2007
(2,336)

(375)
0
(168)		
11		
(532)
0

(2,711)
(168)
11
(2,868)

747

1,101

		 Carrying amount at 31 December 2007

260

94
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PARENT
2

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, DKKM			
						
					
			
		

LAND AND

		

BUILDINGS

LEASEHOLD		
IMPROVEMENTS

PLANT AND
MACHINERY

PROPERTY,

FIXTURES

PLANT AND

AND FITTINGS,

EQUIPMENT

TOOLS AND	under	
EQUIPMENt	

CONSTRUCTION

Cost at 1 January 2006
3,124
131
1,601
1,551
47
Additions
14
19
76
115
40
Transferred during the year
6
1
27
7
(41)
Disposals
(36)
(2)
0
(559)
0
Transferred to assets held for sale
(148)					
Cost at 31 December 2006
2,960
149
1,704
1,114
46
							
Depreciation and impairment losses
at 1 January 2006
(859)
(85)
(949)
(1,251)
0
Depreciation and impairment losses
(68)
(13)
(138)
(134)
0
Disposals
12
2
0
557
0
Transferred to assets held for sale
49					
Deprec. and impairment losses
at 31 December 2006
(866)
(96)
(1,087)
(828)
0
							
Carrying amount at 31 December 2006
2,094
53
617
286
46
							
Cost at 1 January 2007
2,960
149
1,704
1,114
46
Additions
46
16
87
122
36
Transferred during the year
13
1
25
13
(36)
Disposals
0
(12)
(25)
(327)
0
Transferred to assets held for sale
(297)
0
0
0
0
Cost at 31 December 2007
2,722
154
1,791
922
46

TOTAL

6,454
264
0
(597)
(148)
5,973

(3,144)
(353)
571
49
(2,877)
3,096
5,973
307
16
(364)
(297)
5,635

Depreciation and impairment losses
at 1 January 2007
Depreciation
Disposals
Transferred to assets held for sale

(866)
(62)
0
107

(96)
(14)
9
0

(1,087)
(115)
24
0

(828)
(119)
325
0

0
0
0
0

(2,877)
(310)
358
107

Deprec. and impairment losses
at 31 December 2007

(821)

(101)

(1,178)

(622)

0

(2,722)

1,901

53

613

300

46

2,913

Carrying amount at 31 December 2007

		 The carrying amount of properties encumbered with mortgage debt was DKK 1,051 million at 31 December 2007.
3

PURCHASES OF ENTERPRISES						

On 4 January 2007, Post Danmark A/S acquired 51 per cent of the shares in Transportgruppen A/S. The primary activities relate to the Courier,
Express, Parcels business unit.
The acquisition is reviewed in detail in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PARENT
4

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES, DKKM					
INVESTMENTS

INVESTMENTS

IN

IN

INVESTMENTS
IN

SUBSIDIARIES

ASSOCIATES

JOINT VENTURES

TOTAL

Cost at 1 January 2006
414
139
Additions 		
10
3
Disposals				
Cost at 31 December 2006
414
149
3

566

Value adjustment at 1 January 2006
0
(76)
Disposals
0
0		
Portion of dividend not recognised as income
(211)			
Impairment loss
(13)
(10)		
Reversal of impairment losses for previous years		
17		
Translation adjustment		
1		
Value adjustment at 31 December 2006
(224)
(68)
-

(76)
0
(211)
(23)
17
1
(292)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2006

3

274

Cost at 1 January 2007
414
Additions
42
Disposals		
Cost at 31 December 2007
456

149
3
1		
(8)		
142
3

566
43
(8)
601

Value adjustment at 1 January 2007
(224)
Disposals
0
Portion of dividend not recognised as income
0
Impairment loss
(2)
Reversal of impairment losses for previous years
13
Translation adjustment		
Value adjustment at 31 December 2007
(213)

(68)
0		
0		
(1)		
17		
(1)		
(53)
-

(292)
0
0
(3)
30
(1)
(266)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2007

89

3

335

2007

2006

190

243

81

SHARE OF PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE YEAR IS CALCULATED AS FOLLOWS			

553
13

Dividends received from subsidiaries			
Of which impairment loss on investments			
Dividends received from associates and joint ventures			
Impairment loss on investments			
Reversal of impairment losses on investments for previous years			

50
0
(5)
32

275
(211)
(23)
17

Total share of profit or loss for the year			

77

58

				

OVERVIEW OF THE PARENT’S SUBSIDIARIES, DKKM		

POST				
DANMARK

BUDSTIKKEN

DATA

LEASING A/S

TRANSPORT A/S

SCANNING A/S

TRANSPORTGRUPPEN A/S

Registered office
Hvidovre	copenhagen	copenhagen	
Brøndby
Post Danmark’s ownership interest
100 per cent
100 per cent
100 per cent
51 per cent
Revenue for the year
196
170
164
347
Net profit/(loss) for the year *)
60
8
13
(4)
Total assets *)
576
63
60
120
Total liabilities *)
346
34
25
60
		
Equity value of Post Danmark’s investment
230
29
35
40
		
Recognised cost of Post Danmark’s investment
154
14
35
40
			
*) Profit or loss, assets and liabilities of subsidiaries have been adjusted in accordance with the accounting policies of the parent.

Total

334
243

100

POST DANMARK A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 0 7
A N N U A L REPOR T

PARENT
5

LOANS TO JOINT VENTURES						

The investment in the Belgian postal company, De Post – La Poste, took place through a holding group registered in Luxembourg. Post Danmark’s capital contribution to this holding group was made in the form of a contribution of share capital of EUR 0.5 million and a contribution
of subordinate loan capital of EUR 70 million, both of which were made to the holding group’s parent MIE Group S.A.			
The subordinate loan capital must be guaranteed as long as the holding group has interests in De Post – La Poste, however, until 31 December
2014 at the latest. The loan’s principal and accumulated interest are subordinate to all other payables of MIE Group S.A.			
The loan carries fixed interest at 10 per cent p.a., which is accumulated and added to the principal at compound interest.			
THE LOAN’S BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2007, EUR MILLION 				

6

7

8

Principal, provided beginning of January 2006					
Interest added 2006 and 2007					
Balance at 31 December 2007					

70.0
14.5
84.5

Translated into DKKm					

630

FINANCIAL INCOME, DKKM				

2007

2006

Interest on cash and securities				
Interest on trade receivables				
Interest from subsidiaries				
Interest from associates				
Interest from joint ventures				
Foreign exchange gain				
Present value adjustment of provisions				

5
20
9
0
58
1
10

4
17
5
0
51
10
0

Total financial income				

103

87

FINANCIAL EXPENSES, DKKM				

2007

2006

Interest on mortgage debt				
Interest on bank debt				
Interest on other payables				
Present value adjustment of provisions				
Fair value adjustment of derivative financial instruments				
Interest, subsidiaries				
Exchange loss				

(28)
(40)
(3)
0
0
0
(3)

(28)
(25)
(1)
(11)
(4)
0
(9)

Total financial expenses				

(74)

(78)

TAX, DKKM
		

TAX ACC. TO

		

INCOME

TAX

		

STATEMENT

PAYABLE

At 1 January 2006 			
Adjustments relating to previous years		
5
Taxes paid in 2006 			
Calculated tax on income or loss from ordinary activities		
(287)
Tax paid on account for 2006 			
At 31 December 2006 		

(282)

CORPORATE

(9)
(2)
14
175
(190)
(12)

DEFERRED
TAX

(62)
(3)
112

47

At 1 January 2007			
(12)
47
Adjustments relating to previous years		
15
(14)
(1)
Taxes paid in 2007			
18		
Calculated tax on income or loss from ordinary activities		
(205)
96
109
Tax paid on account for 2007			
(166)
Change of tax rate		
10		
(10)
Paid with jointly taxed companies			
12		
		
At 31 December 2007		
(180)
(66)
145
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PARENT
DEFERRED TAX IS COMPOSED OF:			
2007
2006 			
Deferred tax asset			
(177)
(335)
Deferred tax liability			
322
382
Total deferred tax			
145
47
					
TAX ON PROFIT FOR THE YEAR IS ANALYSED AS FOLLOWS:			

2007

2006

Calculated tax on profit for the year			
(212)
(288)
Tax effect of:				
Reduction of corporate tax rate from 28 per cent to 25 per cent			
17
0
Non-taxable income and non-deductible expenses			
1
Adjustment of tax for previous years			
15
5
Tax on profit for the year			
180
(282)
			
Effective tax rate			
21
27
			
Deferred tax concerns:				
Intangible assets			
236
270
Property, plant and equipment 			
34
76
Financial assets			
(2)
Assets held for sale			
30
(49)
Other current assets 			
(1)
(4)
Non-current liabilities			
(55)
(117)
Current liabilities			
(97)
(129)
					
Deferred tax
( ) = asset 			
145
47
					
Post Danmark A/S is an administration company in the joint taxation with its subsidiaries. The individual companies in the joint taxation are only
liable for income tax, taxes on account and back taxes including surcharges and interest to the extent they relate to the income tax allocated between the companies. When Post Danmark A/S as an administration company receives payment from the Group’s jointly taxed companies, Post
Danmark A/S acquires the liability for this payment. 					
		
9 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 						
		 Minimum rental and lease obligations are composed as follows:						
DKKM				

2007

2006

Until 1 year after the balance sheet date				
Between 1 and 5 years after the balance sheet date				
Over 5 years from the balance sheet date				

218
400
200

250
345
216

For details about other financial liabilities, see note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND
EXECUTIVE BOARD
GOOD CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

GROUP EXECUTIVE
BOARD

Good corporate governance is a vital condition
for Post Danmark’s future development. Corporate governance addresses the way in which Post
Danmark is managed and controlled.

The Group Executive Board is responsible for
the company’s daily operations. It consists of the
chief executive officer and three other members
of the Group Executive Board. The Board of Directors appoints the Group Executive Board.

The Board of Directors discusses and takes a position on the OMX Nordic Exchange Copenhagen’s revised recommendations on corporate
governance on a continuous basis. Post Danmark essentially meets the recommendations of
the Stock Exchange. A few recommendations
are not relevant because Post Danmark is a stateowned public limited company. A few other recommendations are not met because they are not
considered appropriate to the company. The recommendations not met are stated below together with an explanation of why. Reference is also
made to Post Danmark’s website where the detailed position taken by the Board of Directors on
all recommendations can be seen.

MANAGEMENT AT
POST DANMARK
Openness in all stakeholder relations plays a central role for Post Danmark. Good corporate governance is a prerequisite for all Post Danmark’s
activities because efficient governance is for the
benefit of stakeholders and the company itself.
The company’s fundamental management model is the Excellence model from the European
Foundation for Quality Management. The model calls for a systematic description of the target
areas: leadership, policy and strategy, people,
partnerships and resources as well as processes.
The results achieved are measured and evaluated
on an ongoing basis.
Post Danmark has a two-tier management structure, which consists of a board of directors and
an executive board. The two are independent of
each other, and no person is a member of them
both.

BOARD OF
DIRECTORS
The Board of Directors focuses on the activities
that best fulfil activities that are in accordance
with shareholders’ interests. The Board of Directors is composed of eight members elected by the
general meeting. In addition, Post Danmark’s employees elect, in accordance with the provisions of
Danish legislation, a number of directors equal to
half the number of directors elected by the general meeting at the time an election of employees
is called. The directors elected by the employees
have the same rights, duties and responsibilities as
the directors elected by the general meeting.
According to the Copenhagen Stock Exchange’s
recommendations on good corporate governance, it is recommended that directors elected by
the general meeting come up for election every
year at the annual general meeting. In the report ‘The Danish State as Shareholder’ published
by the Danish Ministry of Finance, the Ministry
of Transport and the Ministry of Economic and
Business Affairs, on the other hand, it is stated
that, from an overall point of view, an election
period of 2-3 years is considered more appropriate. Members of Post Danmark’s Board of Directors, who are elected by the general meeting,
come up for election every second year. Directors
are eligible for re-election. The election of employee directors takes place every four years, and
the most recent election took place in 2007.
According to the Copenhagen Stock Exchange’s
recommendations on good corporate governance, it is recommended to set a fixed age limit
for directors. The Board of Directors of Post Danmark finds a fixed age limit to be irrelevant, and
the recommendation is therefore not met. It must
at any time be up to the shareholders to evaluate
who is to have a seat on the Board of Directors.

Nor is the Stock Exchange’s recommendation on
the number of directorships held by the individual director met. Post Danmark’s Board of Directors
holds the view that it must be up to the shareholders and the director to evaluate how many
directorships the individual director can manage.
The number of board meetings held every year is
normally seven, and the rules of procedure governing the duties of the Board of Directors stipulate that once a year the Board of Directors shall
evaluate the Executive Board’s work and performance, including the cooperation between
the Executive Board and the Board of Directors.

COMMITTEE OF
DIRECTORS
The Board of Directors has appointed a strategy
committee of directors. In compliance with Danish legislation, the committee has no decisionmaking authority but refers to the Board of Directors as a whole. In 2007, the strategy committee
of directors held five meetings at which the principal subject was the strategic development of the
company.

INTERNAL CONTROLS
Post Danmark must ensure that there are no material weaknesses in the internal controls which
may lead to material misstatement in the financial statements. We are striving to ensure a satisfactory operating control environment which is
effective and adequate and in which all material
risks, controls and processes are described.

INTERNAL AUDIT
Internal Audit provides independent and objective assessments of as well as proposals for improvements of processes and the quality of the
internal control, including an assessment of the
control environment level and whether the corporate management is appropriate. Internal Audit has become certified for compliance with the
International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing. The certification was
made by the standard-setting organisation, The
Institute of Internal Auditors.
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EXECUTIVE BOARD

FRITZ H. SCHUR, MANAGING DIRECTOR
AND CONSUL-GENERAL, CHAIRMAN
Born 1951
Joined the Board of Directors of Post
Danmark SOV in 1995
Managing Director or Chairman of the Board
of Directors of the companies of Fritz Schur
Gruppen
Member of the Board of Directors of:
DONG Energy A/S (Chairman)
F. Uhrenholt Holding A/S (Chairman)
Brd. Klee A/S (Deputy Chairman)
SAS AB
DE POST NV/LA POSTE SA, Belgium

HANNE LUND, STAFF MANAGER
Born 1952
Joined the Board of Directors of Post
Danmark A/S in 2002

HELGE ISRAELSEN,
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Born 1948
Responsible for:
Executive Board Secretariat
Communications
International Post
Member of the Board of Directors of:
Pan Nordic Logistics AB (Chairman)
MIE GROUP S.A., Luxembourg, (Chairman)
POST INVEST EUROPE S.A.R.L., Luxembourg,
(Chairman)
DE POST NV/LA POSTE SA, Belgium

PETER TÖRNQUIST, PARTNER,
DEPUTY CHAIRMAN
Born 1953
Joined the Board of Directors of Post
Danmark A/S in 2005
Partner in CVC Capital Partners
Member of the Board of Directors of:
Starbreeze Studios AB, Sweden (Chairman)
Post Invest SA, Luxembourg
CVC Capital Partners Svenska AB
CVC Capital Partners Danmark A/S
MHolding AB

ANNE BIRGITTE LUNDHOLT,
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Born 1952
Joined the Board of Directors of Post
Danmark A/S in 2005
Member of the Board of Directors of:
Banedanmark (Chairman)
Bornholms Erhvervsfond (Chairman)
SCF Technologies A/S
Svaneke Bryghus A/S

K.B. PEDERSEN,
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Born 1948
Responsible for:
Business Customers
Letter Production and Transport
Distribution
Product Management/Marketing
Member of the Board of Directors of:
Pan Nordic Logistics AB
e-Boks A/S

JENS BENDTSEN,
BARGAINING SECRETARY
Born 1946
Joined the Board of Directors of Post
Danmark A/S in 2002

PETER MADSEN, SENIOR SHOP STEWARD
Born 1953
Joined the Board of Directors of Post
Danmark A/S in 2007

PALLE JULIUSSEN,
MEMBER OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD
Born 1948
Responsible for:
Human Resources
Courier, Express, Parcels
Internal Production and Service

MOGENS BUNDGAARD-NIELSEN,
MANAGING DIRECTOR
Born 1939
Joined the Board of Directors of Post
Danmark SOV in 1995
Member of the Board of Directors of:
LFI A/S

ISA ROGILD, CHAIRPERSON
Born 1949
Joined the Board of Directors of Post
Danmark SOV in 1995

BJARNE WIND,
MEMBER OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD
Born 1948
Responsible for:
Group Finance
Private Customers
Information Technology
Business Integration
Member of the Board of Directors of:
MIE GROUP S.A., Luxembourg
POST INVEST EUROPE S.A.R.L., Luxembourg
e-Boks A/S

LARS CHEMNITZ, DEPUTY CHAIRMAN
Born 1957
Joined the Board of Directors of Post
Danmark A/S in 2007

OLE TROLLE, MANAGING DIRECTOR
Born 1941
Joined the Board of Directors of Post
Danmark A/S in 2002
Group Managing Director of Grønbech
Holding A/S and Chairman of the Board of
Directors of one wholly owned subsidiary
Member of the Board of Directors of:
Rich. Müller A/S (Chairman)
Grønbech & Sønner A/S (Chairman)
Aktieselskabet Ny Kalkbrænderi (Chairman)
and Chairman of the Board of Directors of
one wholly owned subsidiary
PanKas A/S (Chairman)

BJARNE HANSEN, SHIPOWNER
Born 1940
Joined the Board of Directors of Post
Danmark A/S in 2005
Partner in WingPartners I/S
Member of the Board of Directors of:
Billund Lufthavn A/S (Chairman)
Skako Industries A/S (Deputy Chairman)
Comwell a-s
F. Uhrenholt Holding A/S
Aalborg Industries Holding A/S (as well as
Aalborg Industries A/S)
Wrist Group A/S (and Newco AEP A/S)
Keppel Offshore and Marine Pty. Ltd.
Singapore

SØREN VESTERGAARD-POULSEN,
PARTNER
Born 1969
Joined the Board of Directors of Post
Danmark A/S in 2005
Partner in CVC Capital Partners
Member of the Board of Directors of:
MHolding A/S (Chairman)
CVC Capital Partners Svenska AB
Post Invest SA, Luxembourg
EPG SA, Luxembourg
DE POST NV/LA POSTE SA, Belgium
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MANAGEMENT’S STATEMENT
The Board of Directors and the Executive Board
have today considered and approved the Annual
Report of Post Danmark for 2007.
The Annual Report is presented in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards
as adopted by the EU and additional Danish disclosure requirements for annual reports of listed
companies. In our opinion, the accounting poli-

cies elected are appropriate and the Annual Report gives a true and fair view of the Group’s
and the Parent Company’s assets, liabilities and
financial position at 31 December 2007 and of
the results of their operations and cash flows for
the financial year 2007.
The Annual Report is submitted to the general
meeting for approval.

Copenhagen 14 March 2008

EXECUTIVE BOARD
Helge Israelsen		
Chief Executive Officer				

		
K.B. Pedersen
Palle Juliussen

Bjarne Wind

Deputy Chief Executive Officer		

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Fritz H. Schur

Peter Törnquist

CHAIRMAN

DEPUTY CHAIRMAN
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Mogens Bundgaard-Nielsen
Bjarne Hansen
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Peter Madsen
Isa Rogild
Søren Vestergaard-Poulsen

Lars Chemnitz
Anne Birgitte Lundholt
Ole Trolle
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AUDITORS’ REPORTS
INTERNAL AUDITOR’S
REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF POST
DANMARK A/S
As Internal Auditors, we have audited the Annual Report of Post Danmark A/S for the financial
year 1 January – 31 December 2007 which comprises Management’s Review, income statement,
balance sheet, statement of changes in equity,
cash flow statement, notes and Management’s
Statement for the Group as well as for the Parent Company. The Annual Report is prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and additional Danish disclosure requirements for annual
reports of listed companies.

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR THE ANNUAL REPORT
Management is responsible for the preparation
and fair presentation of the Annual Report in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and additional Danish disclosure requirements for annual reports of listed companies. This responsibility
includes: designing, implementing and main-

Copenhagen, 14 March 2008
Post Danmark
Internal audit
Søren Kongsbo
CHIEF AUDIT EXECUTIVE

taining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of an Annual Report
that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

pose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by Management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the Annual Report.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Annual Report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Danish Auditing Standards. Those Standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the Annual Report is free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the Annual Report. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the Annual Report, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the company’s preparation and
fair presentation of the Annual Report in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the pur-

Our audit has not resulted in any qualification.

OPINION
In our opinion, the Annual Report gives a true
and fair view of the financial position at 31 December 2007 of the Group and the Parent Company and of the results of the Group and Parent
Company operations and cash flows for the financial year 1 January – 31 December 2007 in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and additional Danish disclosure requirements for annual
reports of listed companies.
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF POST
DANMARK A/S
We have audited the Annual Report of Post
Danmark A/S for the financial year 1 January
– 31 December 2007, which comprises Management’s Review, income statement, balance
sheet, statement of changes in equity, cash flow
statement, notes and Management’s Statement
for the Group as well as for the Parent Company. The Annual Report is prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards
as adopted by the EU and additional Danish disclosure requirements for annual reports of listed
companies.

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR THE ANNUAL REPORT
Management is responsible for the preparation
and fair presentation of the Annual Report in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and additional Danish disclosure requirements for annual reports of listed companies. This responsibility
includes: designing, implementing and main-

Copenhagen 14 March 2008
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Statsautoriseret Revisionsaktieselskab
Carsten Gerner
STATE-AUTHORISED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT

Lars Engelund
STATE-AUTHORISED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT

taining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of an Annual Report
that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

pose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by Management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the Annual Report.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Annual Report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Danish Auditing Standards. Those Standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the Annual Report is free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the Annual Report. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the Annual Report, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the company’s preparation and
fair presentation of the Annual Report in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the pur-

Our audit has not resulted in any qualification.

OPINION
In our opinion, the Annual Report gives a true
and fair view of the financial position at 31 December 2007 of the Group and the Parent Company and of the results of the Group and Parent
Company operations and cash flows for the financial year 1 January – 31 December 2007 in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and additional Danish disclosure requirements for annual
reports of listed companies.
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